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COMPANY PROFILE
AF)EIT

Ruisen Life Service Co, Limited (1922.HK) is a leading property
management service provider in Nanjing and the Jiangsu Province
in the PRC. The Group ranked 14th among China's Top 100 Property
Management Companies in 2024.

The Group was established in 1997. Throughout the past 27 years of
development, the Group has always adhered to its business motto of
“operation is the key, reputation comes first” for its business operation.
Leveraging on the high quality services and sound management
system the Group possesses and the “Living+" and “Industry+" service
model it adopts, the Group has integrated resources to provide owners
and customers with professional, diversified and caring property
management services. Not only could this fulfil the owners' pursuit of a
better life, but there would also be an increase in the value of the owners'
immovable assets, as well as building strong support for non-residential
customers such that they could focus on their respective core business.

The Group mainly provides diversified property management
services and value-added services. The Group's business covers
a wide spectrum of properties, including residential properties
and non-residential properties covering government facilities,
financial institutions, property sales offices, medical institutions,
commercial complex, parks, transportation facilities, industrial parks,
mixed-use properties, education institutions and office buildings.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's business covers 25 cities in the
PRC, of which 20 cities are in the Yangtze River Delta Megalopolis.
The Group managed 1,057 properties, including 618 residential
properties and 433 non-residential properties, and served over 610,000
households covering over 1.93 million people as at 31 December 2024.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

ZHU Li (Chairman)
PAN Xiaohu

Non-executive Directors
YAO Ning

ZHANG Mingming

WEN Hao

MA Wenhong

Independent non-executive Directors

LI Yougen
MAOQ Ning
TANG Wai Ha

AUDIT COMMITTEE

TANG Wai Ha (Chairperson)
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Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

IN THE PRC
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Nanjing, Jiangsu Province

The PRC
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room E, 9/F, Kingview Plaza,
39 Sha Tsui Road, Tsuen Wan,
New Territories, Hong Kong

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Boardroom Share Registrars (HK) Limited
Room 2103B, 21/F.

148 Electric Road

North Point

Hong Kong

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISER

P.C. Woo & Co.

12/F, Prince's Building
10 Chater Road
Central

Hong Kong

COMPANY SECRETARY
TSANG Qi Yin

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

ZHU Li
TSANG QiYin

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Industrialand Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, Chengxi Branch, Nanjing

COMPANY'S INVESTOR RELATIONS DEPARTMENT

Email: ir@ruisenlife.hk

COMPANY'S WEBSITE

www.ruisenlife.hk

LISTING INFORMATION
Equity Securities

The Shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1922)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overview

The Group is an established property management service provider in
the PRC with over 27 years of industry experience that engages in the
provision of diversified property management services and value-added
services. As at 31 December 2024, the Group's property management
services covered 25 PRC cities, of which 20 cities are in the Yangtze River
Delta Megalopolis. The Group managed 1,051 properties, including
618 residential properties and 433 non-residential properties, serving
over 610,000 households which covers over 1.93 million people as at 31
December 2024,

The Group's business covers a wide spectrum of properties, including
residential properties and 11 types of non-residential properties. The
Group operates its business along two main business lines, namely the
provision of (i) property management services; and (ii) value-added
services.

Leveraging on the Group's business scale, operational efficiency,
excellent service quality, development potential and social responsibility,
the Group obtained various awards in 2024 including ranking the 14th
among the China Top 100 Property Management Companies* in 2024 and
the 2nd among the Top 50 Property Management Companies of Jiangsu
Province* in 2024 and was awarded the Leading Property Management
Companies in terms of Marketisation of Business* in 2024. It is also worth
mentioning that Nanjing Huiren HengAn Property Management Co., Ltd.*,
a subsidiary of the Company which principally engages in the provision of
property management services to hospitals, is also on the list of the China
Top 100 Property Management Companies®*.

The Group adheres to its business motto of “Operation is the Key,
Reputation Comes First” and service concept of "Living+" and “Industry+",
and has adopted the special business model of “Service alignment,
Business modularisation, Modules specialisation and Management
digitalisation" to serve and create value for its customers with quality
property management services.

Events during and subsequent to the Year

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated 11
June 2024, 5 July 2024, 25 November 2024, 27 February 2025 and 18
August 2025 in relation to, among others, a report of allegations (the
“Allegation A") against Mr. Li Chunling ("Mr. Li") and an email making
certain allegations (the "Allegation B") against Mr. Huang Qingping ("Mr.
Huang").

The main allegations under Allegation A are (i) Mr. Li had, during 2019 to
2023, procured the Company to issue off-the-books bonus payments to
himself without the approval of the Board; and (i) Mr. Li is interested in
an entity with a nominee holding the interest of such entity on his behalf
and, without disclosing his interest in such entity, formed a joint venture
company with the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BREREI R

The main allegations under Allegation B which are subject to independent
forensic review by the independent forensic accountant (the “IFA")
appointed by the Board are (i) the related party transactions in relation to
“Advances to related companies” as disclosed under the sections headed
“Related Party Transactions"” in certain previous annual reports were in
fact transactions conducted by the Group with related entities controlled
by Mr. Huang; (ii) Mr. Huang misappropriated all the listing proceeds
of the Company and has yet to return such proceeds to the Company
and Mr. Huang had from time to time instigated Ms. Huang Xuemei (a
then executive Director and chief financial officer of the Company) to
misappropriate the operational capital of the Company since the listing of
the Company; and (iii) the personal expenditures of Mr. Huang had been
reimbursed by the Company.

The Board has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers Management
Consulting (Shanghai) Limited* as the IFA to assist the Investigation
Committee (comprising the then independent non-executive directors) in
the investigation of the Allegation A and the Allegation B as stated above.

The key findings of the report (the "First Stage Report’) from the IFA
were published in the Company's announcement dated 25 November
2024 and the Board had resolved to remove Mr. Li's role as president
with effect from 25 November 2024. As announced on 27 February
2025, the Board had engaged the Independent Forensic Accountant to
conduct the second stage investigation forensic review to address the
outstanding issues identified in the First Stage Report (the "Second
Stage Investigation Forensic Review") and the Company also appointed
Zhonghui Anda Risk Services Limited (PEEZZRGEEAFRAT) as
its independent professional adviser ("IC Adviser”) to conduct a thorough
review to identify any deficiencies of the Company's internal controls,
and to make recommendations to improve the Company's internal
controls and to ensure compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

The key findings of the Second Stage Investigation Forensic Review
were published in the Company's announcement dated 18 August
2025. The IFA recommended the Investigation Committee to consider
retaining an internal control expert to assist in reviewing the Company's
internal control upon the completion of the independent forensic review,
provide recommendations for remedial actions and evaluate whether the
remediated controls had been operating effectively as intended.

Among others, the IFA identified instances of recovery of advances
made to certain related parties towards the end of a financial period and
advances of the same amounts shortly after the beginning of the next
financial period (the "Bridging Loans"). For details of other findings,
please refer to the announcements dated 25 November 2024 and 18
August 2025. Based on the overall findings by the Independent Forensic
Accountant, the management of the Company identified misstatements
in the previously issued consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and made adjustments and restatements
accordingly. For details of such adjustments and restatements, please
refer to note 2.2 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Resumption Guidance

On 11 November 2024, the Company received a letter from the Stock
Exchange (the "Letter”) setting out guidance for the resumption
of trading in shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange (the
“Resumption Guidance"). Pursuant to the Resumption Guidance, the
Company shall (a) publish all outstanding financial results required
under the Listing Rules and address any audit modifications; (b) conduct
an appropriate independent forensic investigation into the allegations,
announce the findings, assess the impact on the Company's business
operations and financial position, and take appropriate remedial actions;
(c) demonstrate that there is no reasonable requlatory concern about
the integrity, competence and/or character of the Group's management
and/or any persons with substantial influence over the Company's
management and operations, which may pose a risk to investors and
damage market confidence; (d) conduct an independent internal control
review and demonstrate that the Company has in place adequate
internal controls and procedures to meet its obligations under the Listing
Rules; (e) demonstrate the Company's compliance with Rule 13.24; (f)
re-comply with Rule 13.92; and (g) inform the market of all material
information for the Shareholders and other investors to appraise the
Company's position.

Under Rule 6.01A(1) of the Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange may cancel
the listing of any securities that have been suspended from trading for
a continuous period of 18 months. In the case of the Company fails to
remedy the issues causing its trading suspension, fulfill the Resumption
Guidance and fully comply with the Listing Rules to the Stock Exchange's
satisfaction and resume trading in its shares by 27 February 2026,
the Listing Division of the Stock Exchange will recommend the Listing
Committee to proceed with the cancellation of the Company's listing.
Under Rules 6.01 and 6.10 of the Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange
also has the right to impose a shorter specific remedial period, where
appropriate.

The Company has been and is taking steps to fulfil the Resumption
Guidance. Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
18 November 2024, 27 November 2024, 27 February 2025, 27 May
2025, 18 August 2025 and 27 August 2025. The Company will make
further announcement(s) in relation to the above matters as and when
appropriate and in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules
to keep the Shareholders and its potential investors informed of the latest
progress in complying with the Resumption Guidance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BREREI R

Property Management Services

The Group provides a wide range of property management services that
comprises security services, cleaning services, car park management,
repair and maintenance of specialised elevators, escalators and
mechanical car park equipment, gardening and landscaping services,
daily repair and maintenance of equipment and machinery and ancillary
customer services.

Geographic Coverage

The Group has grown from a local property management service provider
in Nanjing to one of the leading property management service providers
in both Nanjing and the Jiangsu Province. The Group has actively
expanded its business to cities outside Nanjing in recent years and has
made considerable progress.

The table below sets out the breakdown of the Group's managed
properties by geographic region as at the dates indicated:

MR EERTS

FEBRRESEYMEEERS  0EFRZR
B BEARG - FESEE - KEER B
R R M BRI 52 R IS R fR & ~ B MU T
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REURBEEEE R

IR EEEE
FEBEEHB RS EEERBHER
MENBREROIFEEE BN EEE
RBEEHZ — AEBIEERGRHER
BREERMIIMIBHIEERSREER

TREIIIPAIR B IEE S DR RE
EREEMFEHE R :

As at 31 December

1128318
2024 2023
20245 20234
Number of Number of
managed managed Increase/
properties properties (decrease)
EEMEHE TEMEHE g #L)
%
Nanjing 2 770 787 (2.2%)
Districts outside Nanjing R RS E 281 270 4.1%
Total st 1,051 1,057 (0.6%)
Types of Property Management Services MEEIRRFBEE

The Group provides property management services in respect of both
residential and non-residential properties. As at 31 December 2024,
the non-residential properties managed by the Group comprised 11
types of properties, namely government facilities, financial institutions,
property sales offices, medical institutions, commercial complex, parks,
transportation facilities, industrial parks, mixed-use properties, schools
and office buildings.

While the provision of property management services in respect of
residential properties is the foundation of the Group's revenue generation
and scale expansion, the Group is actively seeking to improve its brand
awareness in the non-residential sector by diversifying its services
offerings to include other types of non-residential properties, optimising
its project portfolio and adjusting its business structure. The Group's
provision of property management services in respect of non-residential
properties has grown stably and reached 433 projects as at 31 December
2024, representing an increase of approximately 3.8% year-on-year.

Ruisen Life Service Co, Limited Annual Report 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB mAS R

The table below sets out the breakdown of the number of the Group's ~ TFEFREIFFin BHIRY) ELET B HHARE
managed properties by property types as at the dates indicated: BEEYEHEREM .

As at 31 December
®12831H

2024 2023

2024%F 20234

Number of Number of
managed managed Increase/
properties properties (decrease)
TEMEHE TEEMEHE Em o wL)
%

Residential properties (ER3Ly/ES 618 640 (3.4%)
Non-residential properties EEEME 433 417 3.6%
Total 45t 1,051 1,057 (0.6%)
Revenue Model W EE T

For the year ended 31 December 2024, all of the Group's property B ZE2024F12831HIEEE  XEBFREY
management fees were charged on a lump sum basis. X BIEBROBRHIUEL

Project Sources EHEKIR

The Group is known for its market-oriented model and has strong ZAHEBEUHBEEEXNER > EHRERAH
external expansion capabilities. As at 31 December 2024, over 95.6% of  ZBIRBEETI 12024 F12831H » RERB
the Group's projects were obtained from the market, either from property  #95.6%MBEENTIZ L EF - KB % E
owners associations or independent third party property developers, GBI E= Y ERERMESLEEE

while only a few projects from the Yincheng Group. RERMEE -
The table below sets out the breakdown of the number of the Group's  FEFREIF A BHRIEE KRS DA E
managed properties by project sources as at the dates indicated: NEEYZEHE R !
As at 31 December
®12A318
2023
20234 Increase/
Number (Decrease)

A B (L)
%

Projects from independent REBUF=HNEE

third parties 1,005 1,012 (0.7%)
Projects from Yincheng Group REERMEENIER 46 45 2.2%
Total 4t 1,051 1,057 (0.6%)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Value-added Services

The Group provides value-added services to property owners and
residents of its managed properties with an aim to enhance the level
of convenience at its managed communities and customer experience,
satisfaction and royalty.

The Group's value-added services mainly include (i) common area
value-added services; (ii) community convenience services; and (iii)
city services. The Group's common area value-added services include
rental of advertising space and the provision of management services
of the community's common area and spaces. The Group's community
convenience services refer to the comprehensive and diversified
convenience services provided by the Group in response to the owners’
needs, including but not limited to rental of gym and membership
services, the use of express delivery cabinets, home renovation,
housekeeping, home and elderly care and operation of staff canteens
for non-residential properties owners. In recent years, the Group
has introduced city services through intensive project deployment to
provide services to clients other than residents in communities under
management, including charging of electric motorcycle and the rider
battery swap service.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue decreased slightly by approximately 0.9% from
approximately RMB1,973.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately RMB1,955.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2024 as a result of a decrease in the number of residential projects
managed by the Group and which led to a decrease in the income from the
provision of value-added services.

The table below sets out the breakdown of the Group's revenue by
business segments for the periods indicated:
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For the year ended 31 December

BE12B31HLEE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000 %
ARETT ARETT

Property management services YIEBERY 1,585,669 81.1 1,536,723 77.9

Value-added services IB{ERRTS 361,316 18.5 428,362 21.7
Gross rental income from REREYVEMNGHESRA

investment property 8,709 0.4 8,115 0.4

Total 4Eat 1,955,694 100.0 1,973,200 100.0
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Revenue from the provision of property management services increased
by approximately 3.2% from approximately RMB1,536.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB1,585.7 million for
the year ended 31 December 2024. Such increase was primarily due to
the Group's addition of sizeable projects and reduction of projects with
unsatisfactory revenue or profitability.

Revenue from the provision of value-added services decreased by
approximately 15.7% from approximately RMB428.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB361.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024. Such decrease was primarily due to (i)
decrease of the number of projects under management; (ii) the scope of
city-level value added services provided by the Group has been trimmed
down resulting in a decrease of revenue from the rider battery swap
service.

Cost of Sales

The Group's cost of sales consists of labour costs, subcontracting costs,
equipment operation and facility maintenance costs, material costs,
depreciation of right-of-use assets, office expenses and others.

The Group's cost of sales increased by approximately 1.3% from
approximately RMB1,661.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately RMB1,683.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2024, primarily due to the fact that since 1 January 2024 the minimum
wage level and the social security base in the Jiangsu Province has
increased by approximately 9.2% and 8.5%, respectively, resulting in a
substantial increase in the wages and social insurance payable by the
group, and hence a substantial increase in the staff cost.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

As a result of the foregoing, the Group's gross profit decreased by
approximately 12.6% from approximately RMB311.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB272.0 million for
the year ended 31 December 2024. The gross profit margin decreased
from approximately 15.8% for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately 13.9% for the year ended 31 December 2024. The Group's
gross profit margin has decreased due to the combined effect of a slight
decrease in revenue and an increase in cost of sales.

Other Income and Gains

The Group's other income and gains mainly represents interests income,
investment income, government grants, gain on disposal of a subsidiary,
fair value gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
others.

The Group's other income and gains decreased by approximately 22.3%
from approximately RMB19.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 to approximately RMB14.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2024, primarily due to a gain of RMB2.6 million on disposal of a subsidiary
in 2023 while there was no such gain in 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BREREI R

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The Group's selling and distribution expenses consist primarily of staff
costs, advertising and promotional expenses, office expenses, business
development expenses, travelling expenses and others.

The Group's selling and distribution expenses decreased by
approximately 6.3% from approximately RMB5.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB4.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024, primarily due to a strict control of unnecessary
expenses.

Administrative Expenses

The Group's administrative expenses primarily include staff costs,
professional fees, office expenses, business development expenses,
rental expenses, travelling expenses, depreciation and amortisation,
bank charges, taxes and others.

The Group's administrative expenses increased by 7.7% to approximately
RMB106.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB98.7
million), which was primarily due to the professional fees incurred for
addressing the allegations that the Board had received in June 2024 (as
detailed in the announcement of the Company dated 11 June 2024).

Net Impairment Losses on Financial Assets

The Group's net impairment losses on financial assets increased by
approximately 31.4% from approximately RMB79.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB104.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024, primarily due to an increase of the impairment
of trade receivables and due from related companies of the Group.

Finance Costs

The Group's finance costs mainly include interest on bank borrowings and
other loans and interest on lease liabilities in relation to lease liabilities
recorded for properties leased by the Group for operation of its offices
and fitness centres.

The Group's finance costs decreased by approximately 41.1% from
approximately RMB7.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately RMB4.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2024, primarily due to the repayment of bank and other borrowings
of approximately RMB15.8 million and the Group ceased to borrow
Bridging Loans for advances and receivables from the HQP-Controlled
Companies.

Income Tax Expense

The Group's income tax refers to PRC enterprises income tax at a tax
rate of 25% on taxable profits of its subsidiaries incorporated in the
PRC. Some subsidiaries of the Group are qualified as small-low-profit
enterprises and thus are subject to a preferential tax rate of 5% for the
two years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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The Group's income tax expense decreased by approximately 77.0% to
approximately RMB8.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: RMB38.1 million), primarily due to that the Group's operating
results turned from the profit before tax amounted to approximately
RMB135.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to loss before
tax of approximately RMB11.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2024,

(Loss)/Profit for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group recorded a loss for the year of
RMB20.6 million as compared to a profit for the year 2023 of RMB97.0
million. Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2024 amounted to approximately RMB26.7 million as
compared to RMB90.3 million profit attributable to owners of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2023. The net loss margin was
approximately 1.1% for the year ended 31 December 2024 as compared
to net profit margin of approximately 4.9% in the corresponding period
in 2023. The loss is primarily attributable to an decrease in gross profit
of approximately RMB39.3 million, an increase in impairment losses on
financial assets of approximately RMB25.0 million and an impairment loss
on parking lots deposits of approximately RMB53.7 million.

Liquidity, Reserves and Capital Structure

The Group adopts a prudent funding and treasury policy and maintained
a healthy financial position during the year ended 31 December 2024.
The Group's current assets amounted to approximately RMB979.6 million
as at 31 December 2024, representing a decrease of approximately
11.1% as compared to that of approximately RMB1,102.1 million as at
31 December 2023. The Group's cash and cash equivalents amounted to
approximately RMB394.4 million as at 31 December 2024, representing a
decrease of approximately 9.0% as compared to that of RMB433.4 million
as at 31 December 2023, primarily due to net cash flows used in investing
activities and financing activities.

The Group's total equity amounted to approximately RMB213.5 million as
at 31 December 2024, representing a decrease of approximately 19.7% as
compared to that of approximately RMB266.0 million as at 31 December
2023. Such decrease was mainly due to (i) the net loss for the year ended
31 December 2024 and (ii) the payment of the special dividends declared
in February 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately RMB25.3 million (31 December 2023: net current assets of
approximately RMB37.7 million).

The Directors, after taking into account of the considerations as set out
in note 2 to the financial statements, were of the view that the Group
would have sufficient working capital to finance its operations in the next
twelve months from 31 December 2024 and were satisfied that it was
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BREREI R

Property, Plant and Equipment

The Group's property, plant and equipment amounted to approximately
RMB71.5 million as at 31 December 2024, representing a decrease of
approximately 23.3% as compared to that of approximately RMB93.3
million as at 31 December 2023. This was primarily due to the decrease of
office equipment, electronic and other devices purchased and leasehold
improvements during the year.

Trade Receivables

The Group's trade receivables primarily consist of receivables for its
property management services and value-added services from its
customers. The Group's trade receivables amounted to approximately
RMB420.9 million as at 31 December 2024, representing an increase
of approximately 6.6% as compared to that of approximately RMB394.7
million as at 31 December 2023. This was primarily due to the increase of
the Group's non-residential properties projects, and the usual practice of
non-residential properties customers paying property management fee
once per quarter.

Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables

The Group's prepayments, deposits and other receivables amounted to
approximately RMB116.7 million as at 31 December 2024, representing
a decrease of approximately 5.5% as compared to that of approximately
RMB123.5 million as at 31 December 2023. This was mainly due to the
increase in impairment allowance from approximately RMB1.4 million as
at 31 December 2023 to RMB16.0 million as at 31 December 2024.

Due from Related Companies

The Group recorded due from related companies of approximately
RMB22.7 million as at 31 December 2024, representing a decrease of
approximately 79.6% as compared to that of approximately RMB111.3
million as at 31 December 2023. The decrease was primarily due to
the increase in impairment allowance of approximately RMB111.7
million while the gross amount of due from related parties increased by
approximately RMB23.1 million from 31 December 2023 to 31 December
2024,

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

The Group's financial assets at fair value through profit or loss was
RMBNil as at 31 December 2024, representing a decrease of 100% as
compared to RMB26.0 million as at 31 December 2023. This was mainly
due to the redemption of the wealth management products from different
independent third party financial institutions during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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Trade Payables

The Group's trade payables primarily consist of payables to suppliers and
subcontractors. The Group's trade payables amounted to approximately
RMB126.7 million as at 31 December 2024, representing an increase of
approximately 16.7% as compared to that of approximately RMB108.5
million as at 31 December 2023. This was mainly due to a longer payment
period to suppliers and subcontractors.

Other Payables, Deposits Received and Accruals

The Group's other payables, deposits received and accruals amounted to
approximately RMB306.8 million as at 31 December 2024, representing a
decrease of approximately 24.8% as compared to that of approximately
RMB407.7 million as at 31 December 2023. This was primarily due
to the decrease in the Bridging Loans due to third parties which was
approximately RMB98.8 million as at 31 December 2023 and RMB
Nil as at 31 December 2024 because the Company has ceased such
arrangement in the year ended 31 December 2024.

Contract Liabilities

The Group receives payments from its customers based on billing
schedules as provided in the property management agreements.
A portion of the payments are usually received in advance of the
performance under the contracts which are mainly from the provision of
property management services.

The Group's contract liabilities amounted to approximately RMB412.1
million as at 31 December 2024, representing an increase of
approximately 5.1% as compared to that of approximately RMB392.2
million as at 31 December 2023. This was mainly due to the Group's
practice of collecting part of the property management fees for
residential projects for the upcoming year in advance during the previous
year, and as a result of higher collecting rate has led to an increase in the
amount of property management fees received in advance.

Borrowings

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings of RMB49.0 million, as compared to RMB64.8 million as at 31
December 2023. The Group's borrowings are all denominated in RMB.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BREREI R

The table below sets out the Group's total borrowings and effective
interest rates as at the dates indicated:

TREJINFAITAREERNQERKRER
F=

As at 31 December

128318
Effective Effective
2024 interest rate 2023 interestrate
20245 BIRA= 20234 BRA=
RMB'000 (%) RMB'000 (%)
ARKT T AER¥TT
Current: EPEA :
Bank loans - secured RITER—BER 29,000 4 49,000 3.85-4.35
Bank loans - unsecured IRITER—EIER 20,000 33 10,000 3.6
Other borrowings - secured HMhER—BER = - 5,569 6.08-7.67
Non-current FEENAR
Other borrowings - secured HitfER—B &R = = 245 6.08
Total “st 49,000 64,814

The table below sets out the repayment schedule of the Group's
borrowings as at the dates indicated:

TREVWRFI TP EEEBRNEREFE
=

As at 31 December
128318
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETFT

Repayable within one year M ERER 49,000 64,569
Repayable in the second year FEF2EREERE = 245
49,000 64,814

Financial Risks

The Group is exposed to risks arising from its financial instruments such
as interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group's exposure to risk for changes in market interest rates relates
primarily to the Group's interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

The Group does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge interest
rate risk, and obtains all bank borrowings with a fixed rate.
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Credit Risk

The Group classifies financial instruments on the basis of shared credit
risk characteristics, such as instrument types and credit risk ratings
for the purpose of determining significant increases in credit risk and
calculation of impairment.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash,
pledged deposits, trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, and amounts due from
related companies included in the statement of financial position
represent the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its
financial assets as at 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, all cash and cash equivalents were deposited in
high-credit-quality financial institutions without significant credit risk.

Liquidity Risk

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings. Cash flows are closely monitored on an ongoing basis.

Foreign Exchange Risk

As all of the Group's businesses are conducted in the PRC, revenue and
profits for the year ended 31 December 2024 were denominated in RMB.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have significant foreign
currency exposure from its operations. The Group currently has not used
derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign exchange risk. The
Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Gearing Ratio

The Group's gearing ratio is calculated based on net debt divided by
total capital plus net debt. The Group includes, within net debt, interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings, Bridging Loans included in other
payables, deposits received and accruals, amounts due to related
companies and lease liabilities less cash and cash equivalents. The
Group's capital represents equity attributable to owners of the Company.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group's gearing ratio was not applicable
(2023: not applicable).

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bank and other borrowings
amounting to RMB29.0 million were secured by: (i) certain of the Group's
buildings with a book value of approximately RMB18.6 million; (ii)
the Group's investment properties with a book value of approximately
RMB10.1 million.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had no other pledged assets as at
31 December 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BREREI R

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities or guarantees as at 31
December 2024.

Significant Investments Held

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not hold any
significant investment during the year ended 31 December 2024.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 10,687 employees
(2023: 11,270 employees). The Group offers employees competitive
remuneration packages that include fees, salaries, allowances and
benefits in kind, bonuses and pension scheme contribution, equity-
settled and share option scheme and social welfare. The Group
contributes to social insurance for its employees, including medical
insurance, work-related injury insurance, retirement insurance, maternity
insurance, unemployment insurance and housing funds.

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital Assets

The Group will continue to focus on its existing property management
services and value-added services. Save as disclosed in the Prospectus,
no concrete plan for future investment is in place as at the date of this
report.

Material Acquisition and Disposal

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
report, the Group did not perform any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries and associates.

Ruisen Life Service Co, Limited Annual Report 2024

HARER

REBM2024F12B31HUEEEANIAERE
IR

RAEZEARE

PrAFEIFRFTIZEEIN B E2024F12H31H
TFERERTEFEIMANEAKRE

8 & ReErm B ER

MR2024F12831H  REBESHEE10,687
Z1EES (20234 : 11,2704 1EB) - AEEM
BERMHEE w2 EEREYEN T4
P RAREBEMER EREE B RESTE
DRt eRAEEHIINHFINFR &8
BEAHREEBNEERRE - TEFRE -BE
ﬁh\igﬁh\%ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
g mRE-

AREARENEIRELFTEE

FEEREESINENNYEEERS
RIBERT - FBRERMIREE I A
BEBH BIERKRKRESENEMALES

2o

ERARBREE

HE2024FE12A3 1 HEEERBEEARREH
B AEEUMBEETEARNB AT RBER
AINEARBEIHE -



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFEMEHREERBZREEFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhu Li, aged 52, first joined the Group in July 1995 and served as a
non-executive Director during June 2019 to November 2023. He was re-
appointed as a non-executive Director on 24 December 2024. He was re-
designated from a non-executive Director to an executive Director with
effect from 3 November 2025. He was also appointed as the chairman of
the Board, chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee with effect from 3 November 2025.

Mr. Zhu obtained a bachelor’s degree in construction engineering
from Southeast University in the PRC in July 1999. Mr. Zhu received his
Executive Master of Business Administration (EMBA) degree from China
Europe International Business School in the PRC in September 2010. Mr.
Zhu has over 25 years of experience in the real estate industry in the PRC.
Mr. Zhu served as an executive director of Yincheng International Holding
Co., Ltd., a company controlled by Mr. Huang Qingping, a substantial
shareholder of the Company, and previously listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1902) ("Yincheng International’), from August 2018 to
August 2024 and a non-executive director since August 2024.

Mr. Pan Xiaohu, aged 54, was appointed as a non-executive Director on
24 August 2023 and was re-designated as an executive Director on 24
December 2024. He has been the investment banking division director
of Jiangsu Ruihua Investment Holding Group Co., Limited* ("Ruihua
Investment"), a substantial shareholder of the Company, since 2009, and
is mainly responsible for asset management and investment decision
making. Mr. Pan worked at a number of asset management companies,
including Qide Investment Management Co., Ltd.*, Dinghui Investment
Fund Management Company* and Jiangsu Venture Capital Co., Ltd.*.
Mr. Pan was a director of Nanjing Zhizhen Electronic Technology Corp.*
(listed on The National Equities Exchange and Quotations, stock code:
873008) from 2016 to 2023, and he was a director of Jiangsu Hoperun
Software Company Limited* (listed on the GEM Board of the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, stock code: 300339) from 2017 to 2020 and a supervisor
of Jiangsu Carephar Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* (listed on The National
Equities Exchange and Quotations, stock code: 870447) from 2016 to
2019.

Mr. Pan graduated from Southeast University with a master’s degree.
He has more than 25 years of experience in asset management and
investment.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yao Ning, aged 59, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 24
August 2023. He is primarily responsible for the provision of guidance
for the overall development of the Group. Mr. Yao is currently the chief
executive officer of Ruihua Investment, and is mainly responsible for the
daily operation of the group. Prior to joining Ruihua Investment in 2018,
Mr. Yao worked for Tiandi Real Estate Company™*, Nanjing Bailu Lake
Real Estate Development Co. Ltd.*, Nanjing Qilin Villa Development Co.
Ltd.* and Fullshare Group from 2004 to 2018. From 1987 to 2004, Mr. Yao
worked at Factory 518 of the Ministry of Posts and Telecommunications
of the People' Republic of China (currently known as Nanjing Putian
Telecommunications Co., Ltd.*) (listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
stock code: 200468).

Mr. Yao graduated from Nanjing University of Aeronautics and
Astronautics, majoring in materials engineering. He has extensive
experience in administration management.

Ms. Zhang Mingming, aged 45, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 24 December 2024. She has over 15 years of experience in
equity research. Ms. Zhang has been working in the research department
at Ruihua Investment since 2007 and is currently the general manager
of that department where she is primarily responsible for providing
recommendations for feasible investments through macroeconomic
and industry research. Ms. Zhang graduated from Nanjing University of
Science and Technology in 2007 with a master’s degree in finance.

Mr. Wen Hao, aged 34, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 3
November 2025. He has over 10 years of experience in property-related
business. Mr. Wen has served as an operating director at Yincheng Real
Estate Group Holding Co., Ltd.* ("Yincheng Real Estate’), a company
controlled by Mr. Huang Qingping, a substantial shareholder of the
Company, since December 2024. He previously worked at Yincheng
International during the period from 2017 to 2024 with his last position
as operating director. From 2013 to 2017, he worked as an operating
manager at Evergrande Real Estate Group Limited, a company previously
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3333). Mr. Wen graduated
from Shandong University with a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering in
2013.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Ma Wenhong, aged 55, was appointed as a non-executive Director
on 3 November 2025. She has over 30 years of experience in audit,
accounting and finance. Ms. Ma joined Yincheng Real Estate in 2006 and
she is currently the financial controller of Yincheng Real Estate. She has
previously served as the head of accounting, audit manager, officer of the
board of directors’ office of Yincheng Real Estate. From 2016 to 2022, she
served as the vice general manager of Jiayu Information Technology Co.,
Ltd*, a wholly owned subsidiary of Yincheng Real Estate. Ms. Ma has also
worked at AVIC Jincheng Group Co., Ltd*, Jiangsu Zhongshan Certified
Public Accountants Firm*, and Guangfa Securities Co., Ltd. Nanjing
Business Department during the period from 1993 to 2006.

Ms. Ma graduated from Zhengzhou University of Aeronautics in 1993 with
a bachelor’s degree in accounting for foreign trade. Ms. Ma currently is a
Chinese certified public accountant (CPA), the qualification of which she
obtained was from The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in 1996.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Tang Wai Ha, aged 63, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member
of the Nomination Committee on 19 September 2025. She is a fellow
chartered accountant of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales, a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and a business and finance
professional of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales.

Ms. Tang has over 36 years of experience in accounting, finance and
management. Ms. Tang commenced her career at Seymour Taylor
Chartered Accountants, where she served as an auditor from June
1989 to January 1993. Ms. Tang then worked at Arthur Anderson
LLP from January 1993 to July 2002, where she served as a tax and
business advisory senior manager. Subsequently, Ms. Tang worked at
PriceWaterhouseCoopers from July 2002 to February 2003, where she
served as a tax and business advisory senior manager. From February
2003 to February 2009, Ms. Tang served as group executive director,
subsidiary managing director and chief financial officer at Hembly
International Holdings Limited (currently known as Capital Environment
Holdings Limited), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
3989). From October 2010 to July 2012, Ms. Tang served as an executive
director at AlcaMat Financial and Accounting Services Limited. From July
2012 to October 2015, Ms. Tang joined Design Pool Limited (trading as
Native Union), where she served as a chief financial officer, company
secretary and chief operation officer. From October 2015 to September
2017, Ms. Tang served as an executive director and chief financial officer
at Aquales International Limited (currently known as Aquales Investment
Limited). From September 2017 to June 2019, Ms. Tang served as the
group chief financial officer at Vershold Group. From December 2022
to August 2025, Ms. Tang served as the chief financial officer of J-Long
Group Limited, a company listed on the NASDAQ Stock Market (stock
code: JL). Since June 2019, Ms. Tang has served as the managing director
and chief financial officer of Aquales Investment Limited, and from May
2022 she also served as the chief executive officer and chief financial
officer of Aquales Family Office Limited.
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Ms. Tang obtained her bachelor's degree in education from University of
Bristol in the United Kingdom in June 1988. She later obtained her post-
graduate diploma in accounting and finance from The London School of
Economics and Political Science in the United Kingdom in July 1989. She
then obtained her master's degree in business administration from Said
Business School, University of Oxford in the United Kingdom in March
2021,

Mr. Mao Ning, aged 70, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 15 October 2019. He is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee.. He is primarily responsible for the provision of
independent advice to the Board.

Mr. Mao obtained his bachelor degree in engineering (automatic control
systems) from the National University of Defense Technology in January
1982 and obtained a master degree in engineering (automatic control
systems) from the National University of Defense Technology in July
1984. Subsequently, he also obtained a PhD degree in engineering from
Nanjing University in December 1988. He has over 36 years of experience
in teaching management scientific.

Since December 2021, Mr. Mao has been an independent non-executive
director of Sumec Corporation Limited, a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 600710) which principally engages in trade
and services and engineering contracting. During 2020 to 2023, Mr. Mao
has been an independent non-executive director of Meter Instruments
Co., Limited, a company that is listed on the Growth Enterprise Market
of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 301006) which principally
engages in the production of ultrasonic water watches and electric
watches. Previously from 2015 to 2021, he served and resigned as an
independent non-executive director of Jinling Hotel Corp Ltd., CTS
International Logistics Corp Ltd. and Nanjing Qixia Development Co., Ltd.,
all of which were listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code
601007, 603128 and 600533, respectively.

Mr. LI Yougen, aged 58, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 15 October 2019. He is a member of each of Audit Committee,
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee. He is primarily
responsible for the provision of independent advice to the Board.

Mr. Li obtained a bachelor of laws degree from Nanjing University in July
1987 and obtained a master degree in laws from Nanjing University in
April 1990. Subsequently, he obtained a PhD degree in Economic Law
from the Renmin University of China in July 2002. He has over 30 years of
experience in teaching PRC law in China.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Since February 2024, Mr. Li has been an independent director of
Sinofibers Technology Co., Ltd., a company that is listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 300777) which principally engages in
the development and manufacturing of carbon fiber, fabric, composite
material and related products. From May 2016 to April 2022, Mr. Li
was an independent non-executive director of Nanjing Quanxin Cable
Technology Co. Ltd., a company that is listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 300447) which principally engages in the
development and production of military lighting and electric transmission
products. From 2016 to 2021, he was an independent non-executive
director of Luculent Smart Technologies Co., Ltd., a company that
principally engages in intelligence construction.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Liu Yonggang, aged 46, was appointed as the president of the
Company with effect from 21 February 2025. He has over 20 years of
experience in corporate strategy and operational management in the
property management and real estate industries. Mr. Liu joined Jilin
Province Xinpeng Group* from July 2000 to July 2001, where he served
as the secretary of the president, and was responsible for supporting
executive decision-making. Mr. Liu joined Changchun Wanke Real Estate
Development Company Limited* from July 2001 to September 2007,
where he served as the project general manager, and was responsible for
managing highprofile projects. Mr. Liu joined China Overseas Property
Management Company Limited* from September 2007 to March 2011,
where he served as the executive vice general manager and professional
management director for the Northern Region, and was responsible
for implementing management systems and establishing partnerships
with various universities to develop talent pipelines for the property
management sector. Mr. Liu joined Yatai Real Estate Group™* from March
2017 to February 2017, where he served as the general manager of its
subsidiary, and was responsible for overseeing the development and
marketing of real estate property management projects. Mr. Liu joined
Roiserv Lifestyle Services Co., Ltd. from February 2017 to June 2022,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2146), where
he served as the executive director and general manager, and was
responsible for leading the successful completion of IPO of the company
and developing industry benchmark innovative community commercial
models. Mr. Liu joined Beijing China Railway Intelligent Life Technology
Service Co. Ltd. from October 2022 to September 2024, where he
served as the general manager, and was responsible for overseeing the
operations of the company and building brand reputation.
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Mr. Liu obtained his diploma in Accounting with Computing®* from
Changchun University of Technology in June 2000, and his bachelor’s
degree Accounting from Beijing Technology and Business University in
July 2003. Mr. Liu has received numerous industry accolades, including
recognition as Top 30 CEOs in China's Property Industry in 2020* issued
by E-House Financial* in 2020, and Top 10 CEOs in China's Property
Industry in 2021* issued by E-House Financial* in 2021.

Mr. Jiang Changchun, aged 47, was appointed as the chief financial
officer of the Company on 24 December 2024. He has over 25 years of
experience in finance management, audit and accounting. He graduated
from Renmin University of China in 2011 with a bachelor's degree in
accounting. Mr. Jiang obtained his qualification as Chinese certified
public accountant (CPA) from The Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, Chinese certified tax agent (CTA) from China Certified Tax
Agents Association, certified internal auditor (CIA) from The Institute
of Internal Auditors and Senior Accountant from Jiangsu Provincial
Department of Finance. Since 2014, he has served as the deputy
general manager in the finance department of Ruihua Investment. He
was previously a partner at BaoRui United Accounting Firm*. Mr. Jiang
has also held positions as an audit or chief financial officer in several
companies the securities of which are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, including Bosideng International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 3998), Huiyin Smart Community Limited (stock code: 1280),
and Applied Development Holdings Limited (stock code: 519).

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Tsang Qi Yin was appointed as the company secretary of the Company
on 26 November 2022.

Ms. Tsang is an associate member of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and the Chartered Governance Institute in the
United Kingdom. Ms. Tsang obtained a bachelor's degree in international
business from the University of South Australia in 2006.

*  Foridentification purpose
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group is committed to maintaining high corporate governance
standards, which are essential in providing a framework for the
Group to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the CG
Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its own code on
corporate governance and will continue to practice the principles of good
corporate governance as set out in the CG Code.

The core of the Group's motto “Operation is the Key, Reputation Comes
First” is to gain customers' trust and maintain long-term partnership
with them. The corporate vision of the Group is “Service provider for the
community and industry”. The corporate core values of the Company are
virtue, integrity, creativity and kind-heartedness to serve our customers.
All Directors act with integrity and promote the culture of integrity. Such
culture instils and continually reinforces across the corporate values.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board closely monitor the
implementation of corporate governance practice, risk management and
internal control systems to ensure the corporate objective, values and
strategy and the Company's culture are aligned.

Save for the deviations from code provisions C.2.1 and C.1.7 of the CG
Code as explained below, during the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company has complied with all applicable code provisions as set out
in the CG Code, and will continue to review and enhance its corporate
governance practices, and identify and formalise measures and policies
to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

CHAIRMAN AND PRESIDENT

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as set forth in Part
2 of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, the roles of the chairman and
chief executive of a listed issuer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. As announced by the Company on 11
June 2024, Mr. Xie Chenguang ("Mr. Xie") served as both the chairman
and the acting president with effect from 8 June 2024. Although such
practice deviated from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the Board
considered that this was an interim measure pending the investigation
and time was needed for the Board to seek for an appropriate candidate
as president. Further, in view of Mr. Xie's personal profile, extensive
relevant industry knowledge and his work experience in and familiarity
with the Group, the Board had confidence in vesting the roles of both the
chairman and acting president in Mr. Xie and believed that this allowed
for more effective planning and execution of business strategies of the
Group. In addition, under the supervision of the Board which, apart
from Mr. Xie, then comprised three non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors, the Board was appropriately
structured with balance of power to provide sufficient checks to protect
the interests of the Company and its Shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Subsequently, Mr. Liu Yonggang was appointed as the president of the
Company with effect from 21 February 2025 and Mr. Xie ceased to act as
the acting president of the Company with effect from 21 February 2025,
thereby the role of chairman and chief executive function of the Company
has been segregated. As such, code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code has
been re-complied.

Subsequently, Mr. Xie resigned as an executive Director and chairman of
the Board on 3 November 2025 and the Board also appointed Mr. Zhu Li
as the chairman of the Board on the same date.

As at the date of this report, the Board's chairman is Mr. Zhu Liand Mr. Liu
Yonggang is the president. The day-to-day management, administration
and operation of the Company are currently delegated to the executive
Directors and the senior management.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting the
success of the Company by providing effective leadership and direction
to its business, and ensuring transparency and accountability of its
operations. The Board is responsible for all decision-making in respect of
all major matters of the Company, including the approval and monitoring
of all the Group's policies, overall strategies and budgets, internal control
and risk management systems, material transactions (in particular those
which may involve conflict of interests), financial information, change of
Directors, ad hoc projects and other significant financial and operational
matters. The Board has the full support of the Group's management to
discharge its responsibilities.

The Company's day-to-day management, administration and operation
are currently delegated to the executive Directors and the Group's senior
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions. All Directors have full and timely access to all
relevant information of the Company, with a view to ensuring that Board
procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed. Each
Director may seek independent advice in appropriate circumstances at
the Company's expense, upon making request to the Board.

In addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the
Board Committees. Further details of the Board Committees are set out
below in this corporate governance report.
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COMPOSITION

The Nomination Committee ensures that the composition of the Board
has a balance of skills, experiences, qualifications and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company's business
and development. The current composition of the Board consists of four
(4) non-executive Directors, two (2) executive Directors and three (3)
independent non-executive Directors. The independent non-executive
Directors are responsible for exercising independent judgement on
various Board decisions. The Directors during the year ended 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this report were set out below:

Executive Directors

ZHU Li (Chairman) (appointed as non-executive Director on
24 December 2024 and redesignated as executive Director and
appointed as Chairman on 3 November 2025)

Pan Xiachu (redesignated from non-executive Director to
executive Director on 24 December 2024)

XIE Chenguang (Chairman) (appointed as acting President on
8June 2024 and ceased to act this position on 21 February 2025)
(redesignated as executive Director on 8 June 2024 and
resigned on 3 November 2025)

LI Chunling (President) (removed on 3 June 2024)

HUANG Xuemei (Vice President) (retired on 29 June 2024)

Non-executive Directors

YAO Ning

ZHANG Mingming (appointed on 24 December 2024)
WEN Hao (appointed on 3 November 2025)

MA Wenhong (appointed on 3 November 2025)
HUANG Qingping (resigned on 3 November 2025)

Independent non-executive Directors

TANG Wai Ha (appointed on 19 September 2025)
LI Yougen

MAOQO Ning

CHOW Siu Hang (resigned on 22 September 2025)

Mr. Zhu Li and Mr. Pan Xiaohu entered into services contracts with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 3 November 2025
and 24 December 2024 respectively. Mr. Yao Ning entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from 24 August 2023. Ms. Zhang Mingming entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from 24 December 2024. Each of Mr. Wen Hao and Ms. Ma Wenhong
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three
years commencing from 3 November 2025. Each of Mr. Mao Ning and
Mr. Li Yougen entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for
a term of three years commencing from 26 August 2025. Ms. Tang Wai Ha
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three
years commencing 19 September 2025.
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Pursuant to Article 108(a) of the Articles, Mr. Mao Ning and Mr. Li Yougen
will retire from the office of Director and shall, being eligible and offer
themselves, for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles, Mr. Zhu Li, Ms. Zhang Mingming,
Ms. Tang Wai Ha, Mr. Wen Hao and Ms. Ma Wenhong will retire from the
office of Director and shall, being eligible and offer themselves, for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM.

The participation of independent non-executive Directors in the Board
brings a diverse range of expertise, skills and independent judgement
on issues relating to the Group's strategies, performance, conflicts of
interests and management process to ensure that the interests of all of
the Shareholders have been duly considered. Each of the independent
non-executive Directors has confirmed in writing regarding his/her
independence to the Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and the Board and the Nomination Committee considered that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Pursuant to Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the audit committee of a listed
issuer shall comprise non-executive directors only. As announced by the
Company on 11 June 2024, following the re-designation of Mr. Xie as an
executive Director, the composition of the Audit Committee failed to meet
the relevant requirements under the Listing Rules. The Board appointed
Mr. Li Yougen, an independent non-executive Director, as a member
of the Audit Committee in place of Mr. Xie on 29 June 2024. Following
this appointment, the Audit Committee comprises of three independent
non-executive Directors. The Company re-complies with the relevant
requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules on the composition and
membership of the Audit Committee.

Pursuant to Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange will not
consider diversity to be achieved for a single gender board. Following
the retirement of Ms. Huang Xuemei as an executive Director at the
conclusion of the annual general meeting held on 29 June 2024, the
Company had a single gender board and did not meet the requirement
under Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules. The Company has appointed
Ms. Zhang Mingming as a non-executive Director with effect from 24
December 2024. After such appointment, the Company re-complies with
the requirement of diversity of board members under Rule 13.92 of the
Listing Rules.

Each of Mr. Zhu Li, Ms. Zhang Mingming, Ms. Tang Wai Ha, Mr. Wen Hao
and Ms. Ma Wenhong has obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule
3.09D of the Listing Rules on 24 December 2024, 24 December 2024, 19
September 2025, 24 October 2025 and 31 October 2025, respectively,
and confirmed that they have understood their responsibilities as
Directors of the Company.
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There is a balance of skills and experiences in the Board, which is
appropriate for the requirements of the Company’s business. The
Directors’ biographical information is set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.

The Board considers the above measures could facilitate the Directors to
contribute effectively and independent views and input are available to
the Board and Board Committees.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, each of the Board members has
no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships
with each other.

The list of current Directors (by category) is also disclosed in this
annual report and all corporate communications issued by the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time. The Company also
maintains on its website (www.ruisenlife.hk) and on the Stock Exchange's
website (www.hkexnews.hk) an updated list of current Directors (by
category) identifying their roles and functions.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

Pursuant to code provision C.1.7 of the CG Code, an issuer should
arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against its
directors. The Company has not arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal action against its directors and officers during the year
ended 31 December 2024. Despite reasonable efforts, the Company has
yet to identify a suitable insurance policy with reasonable premium while
providing adequate cover to the Directors. The Company will continue to
seek appropriate insurance cover in this regard.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board Committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing different aspects of the Company's affairs.
All Board Committees have been established with defined written
terms of reference, which are posted on the Stock Exchange's website
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company's website (www.ruisenlife.hk).
All Board Committees should report to the Board on their decisions
or recommendations made. All Board Committees are provided with
sufficient resources to perform their duties and, upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstance, at the Company's expense.
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The Board also established the investigation committee on 8 June 2024,
comprising all the then independent non-executive Directors to, among
other things, investigate the Allegations. For details, please also refer to
the sub-paragraph headed "Events during and subsequent to the Year”
under "Management Discussion and Analysis" of this annual report and
the announcement of the Company dated 11 June 2024.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 15 October 2019 with
written terms of reference currently available on the Stock Exchange's
website and the Company's website. The Audit Committee is delegated
with the authority from the Board to provide independent oversight of the
Group's financial reporting system, risk management and internal control
systems, and the adequacy of the external audits.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee currently consists of
three (3) independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Tang Wai
Ha, Mr. Mao Ning and Mr. Li Yougen. Ms. Tang Wai Ha currently serves
as the chairperson of the Audit Committee, who holds the appropriate
professional qualifications as required under the Listing Rules. Pursuant
to the terms of reference of the Audit Committee and the code provision
D.3.3 of the CG Code, the members of the Audit Committee should meet
at least twice a year.

Given the delay in publication of the interim results of the Group for the
six months ended 30 June 2024, only one (1) meeting was held by the
Audit Committee with the presence of the external auditor during the year
ended 31 December 2024. During the said meeting, the following major
tasks were performed:

a. reviewed and discussed the annual consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, annual results
announcement and the annual report; and the related accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and the relevant
audit findings;

b.  reviewed and discussed the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group;

C. reviewed the effectiveness of the Group's internal audit function;
and

d.  discussed and made recommendation on the re-appointment of the
external auditor.
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AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the fees paid/payable to the
auditor in respect of the services provided by the auditor to the Group
were as follows:
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20234

RMB

Nature of service RIEME AR
Audit services Z AR 6,230,000 2,000,000

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 15 October
2019 with written terms of reference currently available on the Stock
Exchange's website and the Company's website. The Nomination
Committee is delegated with the authority from the Board to formulate
and implement the policy for nominating the Board's candidates for
election by the Shareholders and to assess the independent non-
executive Directors’ independence and commitment.

The Company also has the Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination
Policy in place. The Nomination Policy aims at improving the
transparency around the process by setting out the criteria and factors
to be taken into account by the Nomination Committee in selecting
and recommending candidates as Directors (including non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors).

Inidentifying and recommending suitably qualified candidates to become
members of the Board, the Nomination Committee will give adequate
consideration to the Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy.
A number of factors will be taken into account, including but not limited
to age, skills, regional and industry experience, cultural and educational
background, race, gender and other qualities. In forming its perspective
on diversity, the Nomination Committee will also take into account factors
based on the Company's own business model and specific needs from
time to time. During the year, having considered the measures to achieve
and maintain an appropriate and balanced diversity of perspectives on
the Board relevant to the growth of the business and the experience and
familiarity of the Company, the Nomination Committee recommended
the redesignation of Mr. Xie Chenguang as executive Director and
appointment as acting president of the Company and the redesignation
of Mr. Pan Xiaohu as executive Director to the Board for consideration.
Having considered Mr. Zhu Li and Ms. Zhang Mingming's background
and extensive experience and the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination
Committee considered them to be suitable for appointment as non-
executive Directors and recommended to the Board for consideration.
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The procedures for the Nomination Committee to nominate candidates to
the Board for directorships are as follows:

(a) the secretary of the Nomination Committee shall convene a
meeting, and invite nominations of candidates from the Board
members (if any), for consideration by the Nomination Committee.
The Nomination Committee may also nominate candidates for its
consideration;

(b) in the context of appointment of any proposed candidate to the
Board, the Nomination Committee shall undertake adequate due
diligence in respect of such individual and make recommendations
for the Board's consideration and approval,

(c) in the context of re-appointment of any existing member(s) of the
Board, the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations
to the Board for its consideration and recommendation, for the
proposed candidates to stand for re-election at a general meeting;

(d) please also refer to the "Procedures for Shareholder to Propose a
Person for Election as a Director” published on the website of the
Company from time to time; and

(e) the Board shall have the final decision on all matters.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board had one female
Director and as such considered having achievement of gender diversity
in respect of the Board. We will continue to strive to enhance female
representation over time as and when suitable candidates are identified
and achieve an appropriate balance of gender diversity with reference to
the Shareholders' expectation and international and local recommended
best practices. The Nomination Committee shall review the diversity
and composition of the Board at least annually taking into account the
Group's business model and needs and shall monitor the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy and, if appropriate, make recommendations
on proposed changes to the Board. We will also ensure that there is
gender diversity when recruiting staff at mid to senior level and we are
committed to provide career development opportunities for female
staff so that we will have a pipeline of female senior management and
potential successors to the Board in near future.

As at 31 December 2024, the gender ratio in the workforce (including
senior management) of the Company of female and male was 59% and
41% respectively, which the Board considers to reflect that a gender
equality principle has been adhered to by the Group. The Board has
not identified any challenges for maintaining gender diversity in the
workforce so far.

The Group is determined to and will continue to maintain gender diversity
and equality in terms of the Board and the general workforce.
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The Company plans to offer all-rounded trainings to female employees
whom we consider to have the suitable experience, skills and knowledge
of our operations and businesses, including but not limited to, business
operations, management, accounting and finance, legal and compliance
and research and development.

The Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy have been reviewed
and shall continue to be reviewed on a regular basis.

Both the Directors and the Shareholders have the right to nominate a
person(s) to be appointed as a Director. Upon assessing the merits and,
for independent non-executive Directors, their independence to the
Company, the Nomination Committee will make recommendations to the
Board.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee currently consists
of three (3) independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li Yougen,
Mr. Mao Ning and Ms. Tang Wai Ha, and one (1) executive Directaor,
namely, Mr. Zhu Li. Mr. Zhu Li currently serves as the chairman of the
Nomination Committee. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee
include, among other things, making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company's corporate
strategies.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, three (3) meetings were held by
the Nomination Committee. During the said meetings, the Nomination
Committee had mainly performed the following duties:

. reviewed the annual confirmations of independence submitted
by the independent non-executive Directors and assessed their
independence;

. reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board during
the reporting year and whether the composition of the Board
complied with the requirements of the Board Diversity Policy;

. reviewed the background of the retiring Directors and determined
whether the retiring Directors continues to meet the criteria to be
re-elected at the annual general meeting held on 29 June 2024, and
made recommendations to the Board on the re-election of retiring
Directors; and

. considered the redesignation of two non-executive Directors to
executive Directors and appointment of acting president as well
as the appointments of two non-executive Directors and made
recommendations to the Board.

o assessed each Director's time commitment and contribution
to the Board as well as Director's ability to discharge his/her
responsibilities.
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After considering of each of the Directors' time commitment contributed
to the Board, the Nomination Committee was of the view that each of
them had properly discharged their respective duties and responsibilities
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 15 October
2019 with written terms of reference currently available on the Stock
Exchange's website and the Company's website.

The Remuneration Committee is delegated with the authority from
the Board to establish, review, and make recommendations to the
Board on the Group's remuneration policy and practices and reviewing
and approving matters relating to the Share Option Scheme. The
Remuneration Committee ensures that all employees and Directors are
appropriately remunerated in accordance with the Group's strategy as
wellas its long-term and short-term performance.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of two (2) independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Yougen and Mr. Mao Ning, and one
(1) executive Director, namely, Mr. Zhu Li. Mr. Mao Ning currently serves
as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The primary duties
of the Remuneration Committee include, among other things, making
recommendations to the Board on the Group's policy and structure
for all Directors' and senior management's remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy and on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management. The Remuneration
Committee is also responsible for assessing the performance of the
Directors and approving the terms of their service contracts.

The aggregate remuneration (including fees, salaries, allowances
and benefits in kind, performance-related bonuses, pension scheme
contributions and social welfare) payable to the Directors for the year
ended 31 December 2024 was approximately RMB2.4 million (2023:
approximately RMB5.2 million). The remuneration of the Directors is
determined with reference to the salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and performance
of the Group.

Pursuant to the code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the Company's senior management (non-director and
non-chief executive) by band for the year ended 31 December 2024 were
set out below:
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Details of the remuneration of each Director and the five individuals
with the highest emoluments in the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 were set out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, two (2) meetings were held by the
Remuneration Committee. During the said meetings, the Remuneration
Committee had (i) reviewed the Group's remuneration policy; (ii)
reviewed the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and
senior management for the year ended 31 December 2023; and (iii)
reviewed the remuneration package of the newly appointed Directors and
made recommendations to Board.

No matters relating to the Share Option Scheme were reviewed and
approved by the Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31
December 2024.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to code provision C.1.1 of the CG Code, Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills so as to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. The Directors had received
during the year ended 31 December 2024 comprehensive, formal
and tailored training, so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate
understanding of the Group structure, the Board and Board Committee
meetings procedures, and the Group's business, management and
operations etc., and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and applicable regulatory
requirements.

A comprehensive, formal and tailored induction will be provided
for every newly appointed director upon appointment. Besides, the
Company will keep providing information and materials to develop and
update the Directors’ knowledge and skills as and when appropriate.
Such information and materials are relevant to the Group's business,
corporate governance, rules and regulations, accounting, financial or
professional skills and/or directors’ duties and responsibilities. There
are also arrangements in place for providing continuing professional
development to each Director. All Directors are encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company's expense. The Company
Secretary is responsible for keeping records of training taken by each
Director.
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The table below summarises the participation of each of the Directors/the
then Directors in continuous professional development during the year
ended 31 December 2024:

TEREBMEE2024F12831HIEEERSE
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Reading Legal
and Regulatory

Updates and
Attending  other Reference
Training Courses Materials
uﬁ/ié&
BEERWERR
Name of Directors E5MA H LR Hh2Z Mk
Executive Directors HITEE
XIE Chenguang HEN v 4
PAN Xiaohu mBEE v v
LI Chunling (Note) 5% (51) N/AREF N/A 7@ A
HUANG Xuemei (Note) =515 () N/A &R N/A B
Non-executive Directors FEHITESE
HUANG Qingping =5 v/ v
YAO Ning k= v v/
ZHU Li K7 v v
ZHANG Mingming SRBAEA v v
Independent non-executive Directors BLIFMITEE
CHOW Siu Hang IERISE] v v/
Ll Yougen ERIR v 4
MAO Ning FE v v
Note: LiChunling and Huang Xuemei left during the year ended 31 December 2024. Mizk . EE2024F 12831 HIEFEE  EEB EAETIEE
BOARD MEETINGS AND BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS EEEERENRESELETER

Pursuant to the code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, the Board should
meet regularly and the Board meetings should be held at least four
times a year at approximately quarterly intervals for reviewing and
approving financial statements, operating performance, budgets, rules
and regulations, announcements and circulars issued by the Company
and considering and approving the progress of the Company's various
on-going projects, and the overall strategies and policies. Additional
meetings would be arranged if and when required.

Annual meeting schedules of each meeting of the Board and for the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee
are made available to the Directors in advance. Pursuant to the code
provision C.5.3 of the CG Code, at least 14 days' notice should be given for
aregular Board meeting to give all directors an opportunity to attend. For
other Board meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. The Board
members are provided with all agenda and adequate information for
their review before the meetings. The Board and the Board Committee
members are provided with comprehensive meeting papers and relevant
materials within a reasonable period of time, usually not less than 3 days,
in advance of the intended meeting date. All Directors and the Board
Committee members are given opportunities to include matters in the
agenda for regular Board and Board Committee meetings and/or their
meetings, if required. To facilitate the decision-making process, the
Directors and the Board Committee members are free to have access to
the management for enquiries and to obtain further information, when
required.
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The Directors and Board Committee members may participate
in the meetings either in person or through electronic means of
communications. The Directors and Board Committee members are free
to contribute and share their views at meetings and major decisions will
only be taken after deliberation at meetings. The Directors and Board
Committee members who are considered to have conflict of interests or
material interests in the proposed transactions or issues to be discussed
will not be counted in the quorum of such meeting and will abstain from
voting on the relevant resolutions.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, eleven (11) Board meetings were
held, to consider and approve, among other things, the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023; the
declaration of special dividend; redesignation of Directors; appointments
of Directors; establishment of investigation committee; appointment
of independent forensic accountant (the "IFA"); publication of the key
findings of IFA, etc. The individual attendance records of each Director at
such Board meetings and other meetings held during the year ended 31
December 2024 were set out below:
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Attendance record of Directors at the Board meetings and other meetings
held during the year ended 31 December 2024
HENAFNANALFERESRMETES S EARAM TENNRLE

Audit Nomination Remuneration Chairman and

Committee Committee Committee General INED

Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

TER

BT

Name of Directors £ EZ99E EBHZELEE RLZECEE HiEEeeE REAS EESF

LI Chunling (Note) FEK (W) 22 N/ARIER NIARER N/ARIER 0/0 N/ARIER

HUANG Xuemei (Note) E51s (1) 4/ N/ATEF NATER NIATER n N/A TR

HUANG Qingping #AT 9 N/ARIER NIARER N/ARER I N/ARER

XIE Chenguang nﬁTEt nm I 3/3* 202 n 11

YAONing h nm N/ARIER NIARER N/ARER I N/ATER

PAN Xiaohu BEEE nm NAZEBA NATRER N/ARTER 0n N/ARIER

IHU LI *7 0/0 NATEA NATER NARER 0/0 NATER

ZHANG Mingming SRAAHA 0/0 N/ARIER NIARER N/ARIER 0/0 N/ARIER

CHOW Siu Hang Fwa 1 n* NIARER N/ARE R 7 7

LI Yougen 1 1R nm 0/0 313 202 I 11

MAO Ning £ m mn 33 2 n I
Note: LiChunling and Huang Xuemei left during the year ended 31 December 2024, MisE @ BE2024F 1283 HIEFE  FTEREESEE

@ Chairman of the Committee during the year * FEREZEEXFE
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After the meetings, draft minutes are circulated to all Directors and
Board Committee members for comments. Apart from the said meetings,
matters requiring the Board's approval may be arranged by means of
circulation of written resolutions to all Board members.

All business transacted at the Board meetings and by written resolutions
were well-documented. Minutes of the Board meetings, Board
Committee meetings and written resolutions are kept by the Company
Secretary and are available for inspection by the Directors at all times.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. The Board reviewed the Company's
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior management,
the Company's policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance with the Model Code and
written employee guidelines, and the Company's compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in this corporate governance report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed Ms. Tsang Oi Yin as the Company Secretary
from an external service provider on 26 November 2022. During the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Company Secretary had taken not
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training. During the Year, her
primary contact person at the Company was Mr. Xie Chenguang, the then
chairman of the Board.

The Company Secretary is primarily responsible for advising the Board
on corporate governance matters and ensuring that the Board's policy
and procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary to ensure that the Board's procedures and all
applicable laws are followed. Moreover, the Company Secretary is
responsible for facilitating communications among Directors as well as
with management.

All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of major changes that
may have affected the Group's business, including those changes to
relevant rules and regulations, and are able to make further enquiries
when necessary. Sufficient explanation and information have been
provided to the Board by the management to enable the Board to make an
informed assessment of financial and other information put before it for
approval. They also have unrestricted access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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The Directors were responsible for overseeing the preparation of the
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the Group's state
of affairs and of the results and cash flow during the reporting period.
A statement from the auditor about its reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out on pages 75 to 81 of this annual report. In
preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Directors had selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, made judgements and estimates that are prudent, fair and
reasonable and prepared the financial statements on a going concern
basis.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the "Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules and the code for dealing in securities of the Company
by the Directors as adopted by the Company (the “Securities Dealing
Code") as its own codes of conduct governing the Directors. All Directors
confirmed, after having made specific enquiry by the Company, that they
have complied with the required standard as set out in the Model Code
and the Securities Dealing Code for the year ended 31 December 2024
and up to the date of this annual report.

No incident of non-compliance was found by the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2024. Relevant employees who are likely to
be in possession of inside information of the Group are also subject to
compliance with written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the
Model Code.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges that it has the responsibility to ensure that the
Company establishes and maintains sound risk management and internal
control systems within the Group and to review the effectiveness of the
systems.

Such systems are designed to manage and mitigate risks inherent in the
Group's business to an acceptable level, but not eliminating the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

The Board has entrusted the Audit Committee with the responsibility to
oversee the Group's risk management and internal control systems on an
on-going basis and to review the effectiveness of the systems annually.
The review covers all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls. Under the Group's risk management and
internal control structure, the management is responsible for the design,
implementation and maintenance of risk management and internal
control systems to ensure that, among others, (i) appropriate policies
and control procedures have been designed and established to safeguard
the Group's assets against improper use or disposal; (ii) relevant laws,
rules and regulations are adhered to and complied with; and (iii) reliable
financial and accounting records are maintained in accordance with the
relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting requirements.

The Company has an internal audit function which aims at helping
the Company to accomplish its objectives by applying a systematic,
disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems.
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The Group's internal control system includes a well-established
organisational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility and
authority. The day-to-day departmental operations are entrusted to
individual department which is accountable for its own conduct and
performance and is required to operate its own department's business
within the scope of the delegated authority and to implement and strictly
adhere to the strategies and policies set by the Company from time to
time. Each department is also required to keep the Board informed of
material developments of the department'’s business and implementation
of the policies and strategies set by the Board on a regular basis.

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Company has adopted
the Inside Information Policy which governs the disclosure of inside
information and strictly prohibit unauthorised use of inside information
and has communicated that to all relevant staff. The Board is aware of its
obligations to announce any inside information in accordance with the
Listing Rules and conducts the affairs with reference to the “Guidelines
on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the Securities and Futures
Commission in June 2012. In addition, only the Directors and delegated
officers can act as the Group's spokesperson and respond to external
enquiries about the Group's affairs. No incident of non-compliance of
the procedure, and internal controls in the Inside Information Policy was
noted by the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control and risk management
systems. The review covered all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, risk management functions
as well as environmental and social performance and reporting. For
details of the environmental and social performance, please refer to the
2024 Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company.
In particular, the Board considered the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the Company's accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions. The review was made by having discussions with the
Company's management and its external internal control consultant
and the assessment conducted by the Board. In addition, in connection
with the Investigation, the Company has engaged an internal control
expert, Zhonghui Anda Risk Services Limited (the "IC Adviser”) to
conduct a thorough review to identify any deficiencies of the Company's
internal controls and to make recommendations to improve the
Company's internal controls. The Group will implement the IC Adviser's
recommendations and strengthen the Group's overall management
and operational internal controls. For further details, please refer to
the section headed "Events during and subsequent to the Year” under
“Management Discussion and Analysis” as well as the announcements of
the Company dated 27 February 2025 and 18 August 2025.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard the Shareholders' interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual directors. All resolutions put forward
at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules
and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange after each general meeting.
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Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposals

Pursuant to the Articles, the Board may whenever it thinks fit call for
extraordinary general meetings. Any one or more members of the
Company holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the Company’s paid up capital carrying the right of voting
at Company's general meetings (the “Eligible Shareholder(s)") shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM")
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene a physical meeting
at only one location which will be the Principal Meeting Place (as
defined in Articles 65), the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Eligible Shareholders who wish to convene an EGM for the purpose
of making proposals or moving a resolution at the EGM must deposit
a written requisition (the "Requisition”) signed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong at Room E, 9/F., Kingview Plaza, 39 Sha Tsui
Road, Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong, for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

The Requisition must state clearly the name, the contact information of
the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned, the reason(s) for convening an
EGM, the agenda proposed to be included, the details of the business(es)
proposed to be transacted in the EGM, and signed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned. The Eligible Shareholder(s) must prove
his/her/their shareholding in the Company to the satisfaction of the
Company.

The Company will check the Requisition and the identity and the
shareholding of the Eligible Shareholder will be verified by the
Company's Hong Kong share registrar. If the Requisition is found to be
proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to convene
an EGM within 2 months and/or include the proposal or the resolution
proposed by the Eligible Shareholder at the EGM after the deposit of
the Requisition. On the contrary, if the Requisition has been verified
as not in order, the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised
of this outcome and accordingly, the Board will not call for an EGM
and/or include the proposal or the resolution proposed by the Eligible
Shareholder at the EGM.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures
are available on the Company’s website.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

BRRRFIAERIEEER

BRBE@E EEE N EBABENEAR
BARRKRRFH ARG - ER—RHZHNE
EEBXRAHFATLREARBGERAE (H
ERARBDRRAEG LHNRERE) +0 22—
NARBRER (TAERRRY) I ERERE
HEREBNESFEAAIMEHLERE
KoBREFETARARRFHAE (RERF
BAE))  UREAMERPIERNEAS
B ; BZARERNEZZEREMQ2)ERRN
BT -MEZ2R _+—(Q1)BR FEEEKRAE
BRZAE AIEZ2ER AT BITUREK
AR E—EMEL (ZHER S T E G H MR
(EERAMRIBSHN) BRERT®H MES
BERATHESERECHANGMEERFR
BELEMAXEHRAATREZERALIFH
Efte

BEEARREFEHNARGURKREFIAE £
RERZUFHIZNSERRRYSERFE
ERGERRREZZENEEENR ((EX)) &
REXRBNEBNTIEEXEME (REB
MAZEIREIRREEHIRER) - It
ABRBME -

ERYGABRRIACGERREN R B
B -ARRRSHIAENIER EZHHA
WREMCRRGIAETEZRRESRY
HE ML EHEHGERRREZE -G8
RIRRBEFERENARTHKRE  LEEAQ
EIEEFID

ERBRBRER > MARXBRHEERD B
FERRIREEERRRNS D KRE-
HERFDERBERTE MATWER
EREFENEZERB2EEANERRE
BRRER/ WRRRFINREFHINEGE
BRREENEZIRAZE-B2BR M
BRWBES T TR AGERRRRES
MERGH MEFTRILSITARRRR
BARER,/ RIRRFHRERHISGER

REREEZNEZIRZESR

FREZ—RAT2EESENEE AIRNSK
ABWEEERBRER -

43



44

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

The Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing to its principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Room E, 9/F, Kingview Plaza, 39 Sha Tsui Road, Tsuen Wan, New
Territories, Hong Kong or such other means of contact as set out in the
Company's website from time to time.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address, and provide the Company with
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect
thereto. The Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by
law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company considers that effective communication with its
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investors'
understanding of the Group's business, performance and strategies.
The Company endeavours to maintain an ongoing dialogue with its
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. The chairman of the Board, the chairman of the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, and the Nomination
Committee or, in their absence, other members of the respective
committees, will make themselves available at the annual general
meetings to meet with the Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

Based on the above, the Board was of the view that the shareholders’
communication policy maintained by the Company was effective during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has in force a dividend policy. The Dividend Policy sets
out the factors that the Board will take into account in deciding the
declaration of interim dividends, special dividends and final dividends.
The Dividend Policy aims at enhancing transparency of the Company and
facilitating the Shareholders and investors to make informed investment
decisions relating to the Company.

The Company does not have a fixed dividend pay-out ratio. The
declaration of dividends shall be subject to the discretion of the Board
and the approval of the Shareholders. The dividend that the Directors
may recommend or declare in respect of any particular financial year or
period will be subject to the Group's operations and earnings, capital
requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual
restrictions, capital requirements and surplus, general financial
condition, contractual restrictions, capital expenditure and future
development requirements, Shareholders' interests and other factors
which the Directors may deem relevant at such time. Any declaration
and payment as well as the amount of the dividends will be subject to
the Company's constitutional documents and the relevant laws in the
Cayman Islands, including the approval of the Shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board, after taken into
consideration and in alignment with the Dividend Policy of the Company,
had resolved to declare and the payment of a special dividend of
HKS$0.124 per share to its Shareholders.
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Any dividends declared will be in Hong Kong dollars with respect to the
Company's shares on a per share basis, and the Company will pay such
dividends in Hong Kong dollars.

Any distributable profits that are not distributed in any given year will be
retained and available for distribution in subsequent years. To the extent
profits are distributed as dividends, such portion of profits will not be
available to be reinvested in the Group's operations.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, no arrangement
under which a Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividends
was made by the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

A special resolution to adopt and restate the existing Memorandum and
Articles of Association was passed by the Shareholders at the 2024 AGM
to reflect the change of name of the Company to Ruisen Life Service Co,
Limited. A copy of the third amended and restated Memorandum and Articles
of Association is posted on the designated website of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of the Company (www.ruisenlife.hk).

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2024, there
was no change in the Articles.

On behalf of the Board

Zhu Li

Chairman and executive Director
21 November 2025
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The Directors are pleased to present this report and the Group's audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company. The Shares were listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 6 November 2019. The
Company and its subsidiaries now comprising the Group underwent
the Reorganisation (as defined in the Prospectus) as set out in the
Prospectus. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the subsidiaries
now comprising the Group were involved in the provision of property
management services and value-added services.

Details of the principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. A review
and analysis of the Group's performance for the year ended 31 December
2024, a discussion on the Group's future business development and
prospect, and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that the Group faces are set out in the "Management Discussion and
Analysis" sections in this annual report. Save as disclosed in the section
headed "Directors' Report - Subsequent Events” in this annual report,
the Company has no significant event after the end of the financial year
ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

For details of the financial risks and the related risk management policies
and practices used by the Company, please refer to note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Group's results for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of this annual report. A financial summary of the Group for the five
years ended 31 December 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively,
have been set out on pages 216 to 217 in this annual report.

The Board declared a special dividend of HK$0.124 per Share on 22
February 2024.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Group did not perform any material acquisition or
disposal of subsidiaries and associates.

OTHER EVENTS

Investigation

For an overview of the investigation by IFA, please refer to the section
headed "Events during and subsequent to the Year” under Management
Discussion and Analysis in this annual report.
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Resumption Guidance

For an overview of the resumption guidance received by the Company,
please refer to the section headed “Events during and subsequent to the
Year" under Management Discussion and Analysis in this annual report.

Changes in information of Directors

The changes in the information of the Directors as notified to the
Company since the Company's last published 2023 annual report are as
follows:

1.

Mr. Li Chunling was removed as executive Director with effect from
3 June 2024 and his role as the president of the Company and any
other role within the Group was suspended with effect from 7 June
2024. Mr. Li has subsequently been removed as the president and
any other role within the Group with effect from 25 November 2024.

Mr. Xie Chenguang was re-designated from non-executive Director
to executive Director and was appointed as the acting president
with effect from 8 June 2024. He ceased to be a member of Audit
Committee with effect from 29 June 2024 and ceased to be the
acting president with effect from 21 February 2025. Subsequently,
Mr. Xie resigned as an executive Director and chairman of the
Board, and ceased to be the chairman of the Nomination Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee, all effective from 3
November 2025.

Ms. Huang Xuemei retired as an executive Director at the conclusion
of the annual general meeting held on 29 June 2024.

Mr. Li Yougen was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee
with effect from 29 June 2024.

Mr. Pan Xiaohu was re-designated from a non-executive Director to
an executive Director with effect from 24 December 2024.

Ms. Zhang Mingming was appointed as a non-executive Director
with effect from 24 December 2024.

Mr. Zhu Li was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect
from 24 December 2024. He was re-designated from a non-
executive Director to an executive Director and was appointed
as the chairman of the Board, the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee all
effective from 3 November 2025.

Ms. Tang Wai Ha was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman (and a member) of the Audit Committee
and a member of the Nomination Committee with effect from 19
September 2025.
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9. Mr. Chow Siu Hang ceased to be the chairman of the Audit
Committee with effect from 19 September 2025. He resigned as an
independent non-executive Director and the chairman and member
of the investigation committee of the Company with effect from 22
September 2025.

10.  Mr. Wen Hao was appointed as non-executive Director with effect
from 3 November 2025.

11. Ms. Ma Wenhong was appointed as non-executive Director with
effect from 3 November 2025.

12. Mr. Huang resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from 3
November 2025.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, there was no
change in the Directors, information which are required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Change of Company Name

At the 2024 AGM, a special resolution was approved by the Shareholders
in respect of the change of company name. The certificate of
incorporation on change of name was issued by the Registrar of
Companies in the Cayman Islands on 10 June 2024 certifying the change
of the English name of the Company from "Yincheng Life Service CO.,
Ltd." to "Ruisen Life Service Co, Limited"and the dual foreign name from
"RIMEEIRBARAR" to "ImAREERFARAT", both took effect
from 10 July 2024. The certificate of registration of alteration of name
of registered non- Hong Kong company was issued by the Companies
Registry in Hong Kong on 29 July 2024, confirming the registration of the
Company's new English and Chinese names in Hong Kong under Part 16
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Alteration of the Company's Memorandum and Articles of
Association

As approved by the Shareholders, a special resolution was duly passed at
the 2024 AGM to adopt the third amended and restated Memorandum and
Articles of Association.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any material
events undertaken by the Group during the year ended 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the Group's property, plant and equipment
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

PROPERTIES

Particulars of the Group's properties held for investment purpose is set
out on pages 214 to 215 of this annual report.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of the movements during the year ended 31 December 2024 in
the Company’s share capital are set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of the amounts and movements in the Group's reserves are set out
on pages 86 to 87 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company's reserves available for
distribution to the shareholders with an aggregate amount approximately
RMB153.7 million (2023: approximately RMB210.1 million).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue derived from
the Group's largest customer and the five largest customers was less
than 10% of the Group's total revenue for the year, and accounted for
approximately 1.4% and 4.6% (2023: approximately 1.2% and 4.6%) of
the Group's total revenue for the year, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, purchases from the Group's
largest supplier and five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
23.3% and 41.5% (2023: approximately 23.3% and 36.8%) of the Group's
total purchases for the year, respectively.

At no time during the year under review, that any of the Directors, their
close associates or any Shareholder (which to the best knowledge of
the Directors who owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital), has any interest in any of the above five largest customers and
suppliers of the Group for the year.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Company understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, suppliers, customers and other
stakeholders to meet its immediate and long-term goals. The Company
will continue to ensure effective communication and maintain good
relationship with each of its key stakeholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Company and its employees, suppliers,
customers and/or other stakeholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the principal corporate governance practices as adopted by
the Company are set out in the section headed "Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 27 to 45 of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to operate in compliance with the applicable
environmental laws as well as protecting the environment by minimising
the negative impact of the Group's existing business activities on the
environment and complying with the applicable environmental laws and
regulations.

The Company's compliance with the relevant provisions as set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (renamed as
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Code effective on 1
January 2025) in Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in the environmental, social and governance
report which will be available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group continues to keep itself updated over the requirement of the
relevant laws and regulations applicable to it to ensure compliance. To
the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief after having
made all reasonable enquiries, save as disclosed in this annual report, the
Directors are not aware of any non-compliance in any material respect
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group's business and operations for the year ended 31 December
2024,

Details of the Company’s compliance with the code provisions in the CG
Code are set out in the corporate governance report of this annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 December 2024
and up to the date of this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors

ZHU Li (Chairman) (appointed as non-executive Director
on 24 December 2024 and re-designated as executive Director and
appointed as (Chairman) on 3 November 2025)
PAN Xiaohu (re-designated from non-executive Director to
executive Director on 24 December 2024)
XIE Chenguang (Chairman) (re-designated as executive
Director on 8 June 2024 and resigned on 3 November 2025)
LI Chunling (removed on 3 June 2024)
HUANG Xuemei (retired on 29 June 2024)

Non-executive Directors

YAO Ning

ZHANG Mingming (appointed on 24 December 2024)
WEN Hao (appointed on 3 November 2025)

MA Wenhong (appointed on 3 November 2025)
HUANG Qingping (resigned on 3 November 2025)

Independent non-executive Directors

LI Yougen

MAO Ning

TANG Wai Ha (appointed on 19 September 2025)
CHOW Siu Hang (resigned on 22 September 2025)
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In accordance with the Articles, at each annual general meeting, at least
one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. In addition, any new Director appointed by
the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the next first
annual general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting, whereas any Director appointed
by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the next first annual general meeting of the Company after the
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 108(a) of the Articles, two directors, namely Mr. Li
Yougen and Mr. Mao Ning, shall retire from the office of Director and
shall, being eligible and offer themselves, for re-election at the AGM. In
addition, pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles, five directors, namely Ms.
Zhang Mingming, Mr. Zhu Li, Ms Tang Wai Ha, Mr. Wen Hao and Ms. Ma
Wenhong, who were appointed by the Board as additions to the existing
Board, will retire from the office of Directors and shall, being eligible and
offer themselves, for re-election at the AGM.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of all the Directors and the Company's senior
management are set out on pages 21 to 26 in this annual report.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received, from each independent non-executive
Director, a written confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors as independent.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACT

Each of the executive Directors has signed a service contract, and each
of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
has signed or renewed an appointment letter, with the Company for a
term of three years, which may be terminated by (i) not less than three
months' notice in writing served by either the executive Director or the
Company; or (ii) not less than two months' notice in writing served
by either the non-executive Director, the independent non-executive
Director or the Company.
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Pursuant to the individual service contracts or, as the case may be,
appointment letters, each of the executive Directors and the non-
executive Directors is entitled to a fixed amount of emolument and
discretionary bonus to be determined by the Board. For the independent
non-executive Directors, pursuant to the then individual appointment
letters, each of them is entitled to a fixed director's fee.

All of the executive Directors' service contracts and the non-executive
Directors' and independent non-executive Directors’ letters of
appointment entered into between the Company and the respective
Director have been reviewed and ratified by the Nomination Committee.
None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the AGM has
a service contract with the Company (excluding contracts expiring
or determinable by the employer), which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 10,687 employees (2023:
11,270 employees). The emolument policy of the Group's employees
is formulated by the Remuneration Committee based on their merit,
qualifications and competence. It is the Group's policy to compensate
each employee fairly and equitably. The Group has a system for
measuring employees' performance against agreed-upon goals with
specific performance standards. Performance discussion is carried out
on an ongoing basis and a formal evaluation is conducted at least once a
year to review employees' overall performance, achievements, and areas
in need of improvement. Salary review will be based on both the Group's
performance and individual performance and subject to the Group's
discretion.

The Group enter into labour contracts with all of its employees. The
Group offer to its employees competitive remuneration packages that
include fees, salaries, allowances and benefits in kind, bonuses and
pension scheme contribution, equity-settled and share option scheme
and social welfare.

The emoluments of the Directors are generally decided by the
Remuneration Committee and then recommended to the Board, having
regard to the Group's operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics. All the emoluments of Directors have been
reviewed and approved or ratified by the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no amount was paid to the
Directors or the five highest paid individuals, as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group. In addition, no compensation was paid to the
Directors or past Directors for the same year in connection with the loss
of office as a director of any member of the Group or of any other office
in connection with the management of the affairs of any member of the
Group.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
employees of the Group are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 25 January 2021, the Share Option Scheme with terms complying with
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules was conditionally approved and adopted
by the then Shareholders. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme
is to incentivise and reward participants of the Share Option Scheme
who have contributed to the Group, and encourage such participants to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for the
benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. The participants
of the Share Option Scheme are the directors and employees of the Group
(the "Grantees”) who the Board considers, in its sole discretion, have
contributed or will contribute to the Group. The Share Option Scheme was
in force for a period of three years commencing from 25 January 2021.
After the expiration of the Share Option Scheme on 24 January 2024, no
further options were offered or granted but the provision of the Share
Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in all other respects.
Details of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme were set out in
the circular issued by the Company dated 6 January 2021.

The number of share options available for grant under the Share Option
Scheme as of 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 were 30,000 share
options and 0 share options, respectively. The total number of shares of
the Company that could be issued upon exercise of (i) all outstanding
share options and (ii) all share options that could be granted under
the then available scheme mandate limit as at 31 December 2024
was 3,170,000 shares and 0 share respectively, which represented
approximately 1.2% and 0% of the number of issued shares (excluding
treasury shares, if any) of the Company as at 31 December 2024,
respectively. 3,170,000 Shares may be issued in respect of options
already granted under all schemes of the Company during the year,
represents approximately 1.2% of the weighted average number of
ordinary Shares in issue for the year.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no share option was granted
and exercised. Details of the Share Option Scheme also set out in note 31
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares of the
Company available for issue upon exercise of all outstanding share
options under the Share Option Scheme was 2,377,000 Shares,
representing approximately 0.9% of the issued shares of the Company
(excluding treasury shares, if any).
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As at 31 December 2024, there were a total of 3,170,000 outstanding  H2024£12831 0 > {RIEERESE & HET
share options granted under the Share Option Scheme. Details of  H{3,170,00017 & ARfTEEAIFEIRHE - B ZE2024
movements during the year ended 31 December 2024 of share options 12831 HIEEE  RIBERETIEEN
granted under the Share Option Scheme are as follows: BREZ B FWT

Number of share options

fEREHE

Closing price

immediately

Outstanding Cancelled/  Outstanding before the

as of Granted Exercised Lapsed asat date of grant

Name or category of Exercisable 1January during the during the duringthe 31 December Exercise of share
participant Date of grant "= period Vet @), @) 2024 period period period 2024 price options
B it

HE2024F 1R 120245 et

1818 B/ 128318 =LK

SHERLHER R B A= fTfemgree-o-6 HATHE HABRE HBRETE ES HRITHRE @ HEHE

Former Directors
REES
%%&Lﬁﬂing 18-M%y-)2%1 . within 5 years from the 320,000 - - 320,000 - 4.722 4.690
= 202145H18 date of grant
R EIEH@E%EW
14-Apr-22 14 April 2023 to 100,000 - - 100,000 - 3330 3.300
202248148 13 April 2027
2023F4B14BE
202715F4R138
14 April 2024 to 100,000 - - 100,000 - 3330 3.300
13 April 2027
2024FLBVLEE
20275F4R13H
14 April 2025 to 100,000 - - 100,000 - 3330 3.300
13 April 2027
202548148 %
20271F4B138
16-M%y-23 16 May 2024 to 120,000 - - 120,000 - 1.920 1.920
2023558168 15 May 2028
202458168
2028558158
16 May 2025 to 120,000 - - 120,000 - 1.920 1.920
15 May 2028
20255816B%
2028558158
16 May 2026 to 120,000 - - 120,000 - 1.920 1.920
15 May 2028
20265F5816B%
2028558158
HuFaﬁn Xuemei 18-M%y-21 within 5 years from the 160,000 = = 160,000 = 4722 4.690
& 2021455188 date of grant
HiE i A5 ER
14-Apr-22 14 April 2023 to 46,000 - - 46,000 - 3330 3.300
202248148 13 April 2027
2023F4B14BE
20275F4A13H
14 April 2024 to 46,000 - - 46,000 - 3330 3.300
13 April 2027
2024FLBVLEE
20275%4R13H
14 April 2025 to 48,000 - - 48,000 - 3330 3.300
13 April 2027
202548148 E
20275%4A138
16-May-23 16 May 2024 to 61,000 - - 61,000 - 1.920 1.920
202358168 15 May 2028
202458168
2028558150
16 May 2025 to 61,000 - - 61,000 - 1.920 1.920
15 May 2028
20255816H%
2028558158
16 May 2026 to 62,040 - - 62,040 - 1.920 1.920
15 May 2028
2026F5816HE
2028558150

/J\D

Sub-total 1,464,040 - - 1,464,040 -
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Number of share options
AR E
Closing price
immediately
Outstanding Cancelled/  Outstanding before the
as of Granted Exercised Lapsed asat date of grant
Name or category of Exercisable 1 January during the during the duringthe 31 December Exercise of share
participant Date of grant "t period "ete (2. @) () 2024 period period period 2024 price options
HE2024F BR 120244 ki
A 1818 B/ 12A318 =LK
SEERLHE 1R B g fTfemgree o6 HATHE HABRYE HBRETE E HRITRE i@ B TE
Other employees and officers
HitEERSHAR
14 grantees in aggregate 18-May-21 within 5 years from the 1,120,000 - - 224,000 896,000 4.722 4.690
BRULBERA 2021458188 date of grant
R B AT S E R
18 grantees in aggregate 14-Apr-22 14 April 2023 to 364,000 - - 64,000 300,000 3.330 3.300
ARIBLEFEA 2022848148 13 April 2027
202348148 E
202748138
14 April 2024 to 364,000 - - 64,000 300,000 3.330 3.300
13 April 2027
202454B14BE
202748138
14 April 2025 to 402,000 - - 72,000 330,000 3.330 3.300
13 April 2027
202564A14B FE
202748138
34 grantees in aggregate 16-May-23 16 May 2024 to 533,000 - - 85,000 448,000 1.920 1.920
AHUMLEEA 2023F5816H 15 May 2028
202455816HE
202858150
16 May 2025 to 533,000 - - 85,000 448,000 1.920 1.920
15 May 2028
202565816HE
202858150
16 May 2026 to 533,000 - - 85,000 448,000 1.920 1.920
15 May 2028
202655816HE
202858150
Sub-total 3,849,000 - - 679,000 3,170,000
st
Total 5,313,040 - - 2,143,040 3,170,000
st
Notes: et
(1) The share options were accepted by participants in a period after the date of (1) ~ FEREEESREFE W BABIAREM -
grant.
(2)  Thereis no vesting period for share options granted on 18 May 2021. (2)  F2021FE5R18B R EER N IR B ET
(3)  The vesting and validity period of the share options granted on 14 April 2022 are ~ (3) 12022548148 & HBVFE IR A5 & K B 2 H

as follows:

(i) 300,000 share options are vested and exercisable from 14 April 2023 to 13

April 2027.

(i) 300,000 share options are vested and exercisable from 14 April 2024 to 13

April 2027.

(iii) 330,000 share options are vested and exercisable from 14 April 2025 to 13

April 2027.

wr

(i) 300,000 FER&EE20235F4B14HE2027

FLRVAERBERAITITME

(i) 300,00017 BERE1E 52024545 14H E2027

FLRAVEERBMAITFITMe

(iii) 330,000 FERREE202554814HE2027

FLRVAERBERAITITME

IR EERBEAIRAR 2024 FERS
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(4)  The vesting and validity period of the share options granted on 16 May 2023 are
as follows:

(i) 448,000 options are vested and exercisable from 16 May 2024 to 15 May
2028.

(i) 448,000 options are vested and exercisable from 16 May 2025 to 15 May
2028.

(i) 448,000 options are vested and exercisable from 16 May 2026 to 15 May
2028.

If any share option(s) is/are not exercised within the relevant validity period set
out above, such share option(s) will lapse upon the expiry of the relevant validity
period.

All references above to the other sections, reports or notes in this annual
report form part of this annual report.

The exercise price of an option granted under the Share Option Scheme
shall be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion but in any
event shall not be less than the higher of: (a) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange daily quotation sheets on the date
of grant of options; (b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of options; and (c) the nominal
value of a Share.

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each Grantee under the Share Option Scheme
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not (when aggregated with any Shares subject to options
granted during such period under any other share option scheme(s)
of the Company other than those options granted pursuant to specific
approval by the Shareholders in a general meeting) exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue for the time being. The offer of a grant of share options
may be accepted within 28 days from the date of grant, upon payment
of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the Grantee. Pursuant to
the terms of the Scheme, there is generally no vesting period (subject to
Director’s determination on case-by-case basis), and the exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the Directors, and shall
not exceed 5 years from the date of grant of the relevant option.

(4) 122023558168 & KBRS AR HEBYER B KA AR
mr:

(i) 448,000{7 FERREE202455816H %2028
FE5B 1 HERB R FITE
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If a Grantee ceases to be a participant of the Share Option Scheme by
reason of the termination of his/her employment or directorship on the
grounds of serious misconduct, or has been in breach of a material term
of the relevant employment contract or engagement contract, or appear
either to be unable to pay or to have no reasonable prospect of being
able to pay his/her debts, or has committed any act of bankruptcy, or has
been served a petition for bankruptcy, or has made any arrangements
or compromise with his/her creditors generally, or has been convicted
of any criminal offence involving his/her integrity or honesty or on any
other grounds on which an employer would be entitled to terminate his/
her employment or directorship summarily or at common law, the share
options will lapse automatically and not be exercisable (to the extent
not already exercised) on or after the date of termination of his/her
employment or directorship. To the extent that the Grantee has exercised
the share options in whole or in part, but the Shares have not been
allotted to him/her, the Grantee shall be deemed not to have so exercised
such share options and the Company shall return to the Grantee the
amount of the exercise price for the Shares received by the Company in
respect of the purported exercise of such share options.

If a Grantee ceases to be a participant of the Share Option Scheme for any
reason other than his/her death or termination of his/her employment
or directorship on one or more of the grounds specified in the paragraph
above (excluding the transfer of employment from one company to
another company within the Group), the share options shall lapse (to the
extent not already exercised) on the date of cessation or termination of
his/her employment or directorship (which date shall be the Grantee's
last actual working day with the Group whether salary is paid in lieu of
notice or not) and shall on that day cease to be exercisable.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, a total of 2,143,040 share
options lapsed due to the removal and the retirement of two former
Directors and the termination of employment of other grantees.

Save for the above, no share options was granted, exercised, lapsed
or cancelled under the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors and
directors of the Company's subsidiaries, or their respective associates
had interests in businesses, which compete or are likely to compete
either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Company and its
subsidiaries as required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Mr. Huang Qingping, Silver Huang Holding Limited and Silver Wutong
Holding Limited (collectively, the "Controlling Shareholders”), have
confirmed to the Company of their compliance with the non-competition
undertakings provided to the Company under a deed of non-competition
entered into among the Controlling Shareholders and the Company
dated 21 October 2019 during the year ended 31 December 2024. Details
of such deed of non-competition are set out in the section headed
“Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” in the Prospectus.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the status
of compliance and confirmed that all the undertakings under such
deed of non-competition have been complied with by the Controlling
Shareholders during the year ended 31 December 2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and letters of appointment,
no contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the Company’s business were entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2024.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE FOR PROVISION OF
SERVICES

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Connected Transactions”
and “Continuing Connected Transactions"” in this report and in note 36 to
the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report, there
was no contract of significance for the provision of services to the Group
by any Controlling Shareholder or substantial Shareholder or any of the
subsidiaries or companies controlled by any Controlling Shareholder or
substantial Shareholder, which subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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DIRECTORS' MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Connected Transaction”
and "Continuing Connected Transactions” in this report and in note 36
to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report,
there was no transaction, arrangement, or contract of significance in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party
and in which any Director or any entities connected with a Director, the
Controlling Shareholders, the substantial shareholders had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year ended 31 December 2024. The Company has
identified connected transactions on lease arrangements from connected
persons which required compliance with disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The announcement will
be issued shortly.

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the Company's chief executive in the Shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of SFQ) which were (a) required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO; (b) recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO (including interests and short positions in which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO);
or (c) as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard dealings by directors of listed issuer as
referred to in the Model Code were as follows:

Interests in the Shares or Underlying Shares of the Company
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Approximate

Number percentage of
of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the

Name of Directors Nature of interest Shares held Mot " Company
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Mr. Huang Qingping Interest in controlled corporations MNete?) 81,033,152 (L) 30.33%
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Mr. Xie Chenguang Interest in controlled corporation (Note3) 9,493,398 (L) 3.55%
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Notes:

1. The letter "L" denotes a long position in the Shares held.

2. Mr. Huang is the sole director and sole shareholder of Silver Huang Holding

Limited (“Silver Huang") and Silver Wutong Holding Limited (“Silver Wutong"),
respectively. Accordingly, Mr. Huang is deemed to be interested in 77,137,472
Shares held by Silver Huang and 3,895,680 Shares held by Silver Wutong under
the SFO. Mr. Huang subsequently resigned as a Director on 3 November 2025.

3. Mr. Xie Chenguang is the sole director and sole shareholder of Silver Xie Holding
Limited. Accordingly, Mr. Xie Chenguang is deemed to be interested in all the
Shares held by Silver Xie Holding Limited under the SFO. Mr. Xie subsequently
resigned as a Director on 3 November 2025.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors,
as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or the Company's chief
executive nor their associates had an interest or short position in any
shares or underlying shares and/or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFQ)
which would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions in which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or that was required to be recorded in the register
kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which are
required to be natified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, pursuant
to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

Save for the Share Option Scheme and otherwise disclosed in this annual
report, at no time during the year under review was the Company, its
subsidiaries, its fellow Subsidiaries or its holding companies a party to
any arrangement which would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to any Director or the Company's chief executive, as
at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than the Directors or
the Company's chief executive whose interests are disclosed under the
paragraph headed "Directors' and Chief Executive's Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company
and its Associated Corporations” above) had an interest or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:
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percentage of
shareholding

Number of interest in the
Name of Substantial Shareholders Nature of Interest Shares held (Nete" Company
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Silver Huang Holding Limited (Nete2 Beneficial owner 77,137,472 (L) 28.87%
Silver Huang Holding Limited %2 BmBEAA
Jiangsu Ruihua MNete3) Interest in controlled corporation 74,749,130 (L) 27.98%
1 BRIy 2 (3s) REEERER
Hongkong Ruihua Investment Beneficial owner 74,749,130 (L) 27.98%
Management Limited (MNote?)
ERIREREBIEBRAT *=) BEmEEEA
Mr. Zhang Jianbin (Nete3) Interest in controlled corporations 74,749,130 (L) 27.98%
SREENR S e ZEEAE D
First Beijing Investment Limited Beneficial owner 22,808,000 (L) 8.54%
F—IURKEBRAF BEmEEA
Silver Zhu Holding Limited Nete#) Beneficial owner 18,880,000 (L) 7.07%
Silver Zhu Holding Limited ) EmEAA
Mr. Zhu Linnan (Nete4) Interest in controlled corporation 18,880,000 (L) 7.07%
SRR S A tee A EE R
Mr. Zhu Linbin (Nete4) Interest in controlled corporation 18,880,000 (L) 7.07%
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Notes:
1. The letter "L" denotes a long position in the Shares held. 1.
2. Mr. Huang Qingping is the sole director and the sole shareholder of each of Silver 2.
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Huang Holding Limited and Silver Wutong Holding Limited. Accordingly, he is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Silver Huang Holding Limited and
Silver Wutong Holding Limited under the SFO. Mr. Huang subsequently resigned

as a Director on 3 November 2025.
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3. Mr. Zhang Jianbin holds 98.82% equity interest in Jiangsu Ruihua which in
turn holds the entire issued share capital of Hongkong Ruihua Investment
Management Limited. Mr. Zhang Jianbin is therefore deemed to be interested in
all the Shares held by Hongkong Ruihua Investment Management Limited under
the SFO.

4. As far as the Directors are aware, Mr. Zhu Linnan and Mr. Zhu Linbin owns
51% and 49% of the equity interest in Silver Zhu Holding Limited, respectively.
Accordingly, they are therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
Silver Zhu Holding Limited under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors were not
aware of any other person who had or deemed to have an interest or short
position in the Shares and underlying Shares which was disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
and recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the
SFO.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles and subject to the applicable laws, the Directors
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the Company's
assets from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their executors
or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or
supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts, except such (if any)
as they shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty. Such
provision shall be in force from the Listing Date.

COMPETING INTEREST

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Interests of Controlling
Shareholders and their Close Associates in Other Businesses” in the
section headed "Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” in the
Prospectus, during the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors or the Controlling Shareholders or their close associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is interested in any business which competes
or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Company's business
nor any conflict of interests which has or may have with the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings of RMB49.0 million, as compared with RMB64.6 million as at
31 December 2023. The Group's borrowings are mainly denominated in
RMB.

The details are set out in "Management Discussion and Analysis -
Borrowings" in this annual report.
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RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE THE COMPANY'S SECURITIES AND
EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed "Share Option Scheme" in
this Directors’ Report, at no time during the year ended 31 December
2024 was the Company, any of its holding companies or subsidiaries, or
any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors or the Company's chief executive or their respective associates
(as defined under the Listing Rules) which has any right to subscribe for
the Company's securities or any of its associated corporations as defined
in the SFO or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate. No equity-
linked agreement was entered into by the Company during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES BY THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2024.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to
the best knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable date prior
to the issue of this annual report, the Company has maintained sufficient
prescribed public float of not less than 25% of the issued Shares as
required under the Listing Rules from the period from the Listing Date
and up to the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual
report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board Committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing different aspects of the Company's affairs.
All Board Committees have been established with defined written terms
of reference, which have been posted on the Stock Exchange's website
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company's website (www.ruisenlife.hk).

All Board Committees should report to the Board on their decisions
or recommendations made. All Board Committees are provided with
sufficient resources to perform their duties and, upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstance, at the Company's expense.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Yincheng International is owned as to approximately 37.26% by Mr.
Huang Qingping (being one of the Controlling Shareholders and a non-
executive Director during the year) as at 31 December 2024. Yincheng
International is thus an associate of Mr. Huang Qingping and therefore a
connected person of the Company.
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Yincheng Real Estate Group Co., Ltd.*("Yicheng Real Estate") is owned
as to approximately 53.11% by Mr. Huang Qingping ("Mr. Huang", being
one of the Controlling Shareholders and a non-executive Director
during the year) as at 31 December 2024. Yincheng Real Estate is thus
an associate of Mr. Huang and therefore a connected person of the
Company.

Jiangsu Ruihua Investment Holding Group Company Limited* is a
substantial shareholder of the Company, who indirectly owned 27.98%
of the issued share capital of the Company, as at 31 December 2024 and
hence, a connected person of the Company.

Save as disclosed below and in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to which the Company, its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected
with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year. The
Company has identified connected transactions on lease arrangements
from connected persons which required compliance with disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
announcement will be issued shortly.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has conducted the following transactions which constitute
non-exempt continuing connected transactions under the Listing
Rules and had on the dates indicated in the table below entered into
written agreements with the relevant parties to govern such continuing
connected transactions:
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Transaction amount
Date of Description of continuing for the year ended
No. Agreement agreement Parties to agreement connected transactions Term Annual cap 31 December 2024
HE02512831A
B HE [ELEE [ EPAIE ] BERERS 2T HAMR FELR LEEZRHEH
1. 2022 Master Community 11 November 2021 (1) the Company (for The Group agreed to provide repair ~ From 1 January 2022 to Will not exceed RMB11.3 Approximately
Repairand Maintenance 2021118118 itself and on behalf of and maintenance services to 31 December 2024 million, RMB12.2 millionand ~ RMBO.4 million
Services Agreement its subsidiaries); and properties previously developed ~ 2022E181HZE RMB11.5million foreachof #IARBOLEET
WEHBHEER KAE (BEASR by the Yincheng Real Estate 2026128318 the three years ending 31
RERBRGS REREMBEAE) ;& Group which have been subject December 2024, respectively

(2)  Yincheng Real
Estate (foritself years
andonbehalfofits  AEEFEARBIMEERLA
subsidiaries) REMHSRAERNNE
BENE BERASR  RESERRERE
RREMBAF)

to wear and tear throughout the
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Transaction amount
Date of Description of continuing for the year ended
No. Agreement agreement Parties to agreement connected transactions Term Annual cap 31 December 2024
HE2025128318
B BE [EL=E iE PAIEY] BERERS 2T R FELR LEEZRAEH
2. 2022 First Master 11 November2021 (1) the Company (for The Group shall provide the From 1January 2022 to 31 Will not exceed RMB24.8 Approximately RMB9.9
Property Management 2021118118 itself and on behalf of following property servicestothe  December 2024 million, RMB26.8 millionand  million
Agreement its subsidiaries); and Yincheng Real Estate Group: 02F1818E2024%12831H  RMB26.8 million foreachof  AREIIFET

WNEF—HNEEE
ot

FAE BHARR

RREWEAR) ; &
(2) Yincheng Real

Estate (for itself

and on behalf of its

subsidiaries)

RIME AERER

RRENEAF)

FEBREBIHEEERENT
N

(i) property management
services, including but
not limited to cleaning,
gardening, waste disposal,
parking, traffic and security
management services;
NEEERE BFE
TRRER BE EY
BERE TERER
BERE

(i) professional services,
including but not limited
to facility installation,
maintenance and renovation
services; and
BERE OFEFRE
RiE%LE RERBEERS;
R

(i) value-added services,
including but not limited to
community value-added
services, consultation
services for unsold property
units, and other referral and
agency services.
KBRS BEERRR
HEIEERE RENE
E{URIRARRS DR EAM)
ENRAERS.

the three years ending 31
December 2024, respectively
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Transaction amount
Date of Description of continuing for the year ended
No. Agreement agreement Parties to agreement connected transactions Term Annual cap 31 December 2024
#HE20265£128318
B B3 ek EFAEY] BAmER S 2t HAR FELMR LEEZRAEH
3 2022 Second Master 11 November2021 (1) the Company (for The Group shall provide the From 1January 2022 to 31 Will not exceed RMB126.9 Approximately RMB3.4
Property Management 2021118118 itself and on behalf of following property servicestothe  December 2024 million, RMB151.8 million million
Agreement its subsidiaries); and Yincheng International Group: ~ 2022F1818E20245128318  andRMBI&8Smillionfor AR 4EET
WEE_HYEER A8 AEAER  AEERARHEREERENT each of the three years
s REEMBAR) ; &k WERS: ending 31 December 2024,
(2)  YinchengInternational (i)  property management respectively
(for itself and services, including but HE02F12B31BIE=E
on behalf of its not limited to cleaning, EERERDNTEEHD
subsidiaries) gardening, waste disposal, AEBI1269BBT
REER (AEAGR parking, traffic and security ARBIS1EBTR
RREMBAF) management services; ARKIUBSEET

NEERRH AEETR
rEZ BB EYWEE
FEERZR2EERH;
(i) professional services,
including but not limited
to facility installation,
maintenance and renovation
services; and
BERE AEEFRR
RITRE  RERERS
R
(i) value-added services,
including but not limited to
community value-added
services, consultation
services for unsold property
units, and other referral and
agency services.
KBRS BEERRR
HEIEERE RENE
EA0AARE IR H A
ENRAERS-
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Transaction amount
Date of Description of continuing for the year ended
No. Agreement agreement Parties to agreement connected transactions Term Annual cap 31 December 2024
HE2025128318
B BE ELEE iE PAIEY] BERERS 2T HAR FELR LEEZRAEH
b 2025 First Master Property 31 December 2024 (1) the Company (for The Group shall provide the From 1January 2025 to 31 Will not exceed RMBY.1 million, N/A
Management Agreement 2024128318 itself and on behalf of following property services December 2027 RMB7.0millionand RMB4.9  RiER
WHEE—RNEER its subsidiaries); and tothe Yincheng Real Estate W5FIAEE million for each of the three
o FAE BHARR Group: (i) propertymanagement 20274128318 years ending 31 December
REREWEAZ) ;R services, including but not limited 2027, respectively
(2)  Yincheng Real to cleaning, gardening, waste HE0E12B31BLE=MA

Estate (for itself

and on behalf of its
subsidiaries)
RIME AERER
RRENEAF)

disposal, parking, traffic and
security management services;
(ii)professional services,
including but not limited to facility
installation, maintenance and
renovation services, and catering
services; and (iii) value-added
services, including but not limited
to event management.
FEEERRIEEERY
LTSRS (15EE
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Transaction amount
Date of Description of continuing for the year ended
No. Agreement agreement Parties to agreement connected transactions Term Annual cap 31 December 2024
#E20245128318
B B3 Rk [ PAIE] BERMERS 2HT HR FELMR LEEZRAEH
5 2025 Second Master 31December2024 (1) the Company (for The Group shall provide the From 1January 2025 to 31 Will not exceed RMBS5.0million,  N/A
Property Management 2024128318 itself and on behalf of following property services to December 2027 RMBA&.1 millionand RMB3.4  RiER
Agreement its subsidiaries); and the Yincheng International: (i)~ 2025%181HE million for each of the three
WHFE_HY=ER KRR (BEAGR property management services, 20274128318 years ending 31 December
ans KREMBAZ) ;& including but not limited to 2027, respectively

Yincheng International
(for itself and

on behalf of its
subsidiaries)
REER (AEAGR
RREMBAF)

cleaning, gardening, waste
disposal, parking, traffic, vacant
property management and
security management services;
(ii) professional services,
including but not limited to facility
installation, maintenance and
renovation services and catering
services; and (iil) value-added
services, including but not limited
to the rental of venue and parking
spaces, and event management.
= F3RHIE
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B SEETRRER

BE BMEE fE-

B TENFEERRS
BERE () F£RB
BEEFRIREZE
REREFRBLURENR
R 5 Reliil) BB  BIEE
TRRSHREERENR
EHEE.
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Transaction amount
Date of Description of continuing for the year ended
No. Agreement agreement Parties to agreement connected transactions Term Annual cap 31 December 2024
BE20245128318
B BE ELEE iE PAIEY] BERERS 2T R FELR [l&:3-pATE
6. 2025 Ruihua Master 31December2024 (1) the Company (for The Group shall provide the From 1January 2025 to Will not exceed RMBA.0 million,  N/A
Property Management 2024128318 itself and on behalf of following property services to 31 December 2027 RMBA&.4millionand RMB4.8  RiER
Agreement its subsidiaries); and the Jiangsu Ruihua: (i) property ~ 2025%181HE million for each of the three
WHFRENEERGE AR (BEAGR management services, including 20274128318 years ending 31 December

RREWEAR) ; &
Jiangsu Ruihua (for
itself and on behalf of
its subsidiaries)
THRE (AEAGR
RRENEAD)

but not limited to environmental
sanitation and public order
management, parking lot
management, maintenance of
common areas and facilities,
public greenery care, waste
disposal and emergency
services; (ii)professional
services, including but not
limited to facility installation,
maintenance and renovation
services; and (iii) value-added
services, including but not limited
to concierge services.
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R (VX EERE 85
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R4 ARRIRE Y
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Compliance with the Listing Rules:

1.

2022 Master Community Repair and Maintenance Services
Agreement

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratio(s) calculated
with reference to the highest proposed annual cap for the
transactions contemplated under the 2022 Master Community
Repair and Maintenance Services Agreement exceed 0.1% but are
all less than 5%, the transactions contemplated under the 2022
Master Community Repair and Maintenance Services Agreement
is subject to the reporting, announcement and annual review
requirements but exempt from circular (including independent
financial advice) and independent shareholders' approval
requirements pursuant to Rules 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules.

2022 First Master Property Management Agreement

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratio(s) calculated
with reference to the highest proposed annual cap for the
transactions contemplated under the 2022 First Master Property
Management Agreement exceed 0.1% but are all less than 5%, the
transactions contemplated under the 2022 First Master Property
Management Agreement is subject to the reporting, announcement
and annual review requirements but exempt from the circular
(including independent financial advice) and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.76(2) of
the Listing Rules.

2022 Second Master Property Management Agreement

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratio(s)
calculated with reference to the highest proposed annual cap
for the transactions contemplated under the 2022 Second
Master Property Management Agreement exceed 5%, the
transactions contemplated under the 2022 Second Master
Property Management Agreement is subject to the reporting,
announcement, circular, independent financial advice, independent
shareholders’ approval and annual review requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For further details of the continuing connected transactions numbered
1 to 3 above, please refer to the Company's announcement dated 11
November 2021.
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2025 First Master Property Management Agreement

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratio(s) calculated
with reference to the highest proposed annual cap for the
transactions contemplated under the 2025 First Master Property
Management Agreement exceed 0.1% but are all less than 5%, the
transactions contemplated under the 2025 First Master Property
Management Agreement is subject to the reporting, announcement
and annual review requirements but exempt from the circular
(including independent financial advice) and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.76(2) of
the Listing Rules.

2025 Second Master Property Management Agreement

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratio(s) calculated
with reference to the highest proposed annual cap for the
transactions contemplated under the 2025 Second Master Property
Management Agreement exceed 0.1% but are all less than 5%, the
transactions contemplated under the 2025 Second Master Property
Management Agreement is subject to the reporting, announcement
and annual review requirements but exempt from the circular
(including independent financial advice) and independent
Shareholders' approval requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.76(2) of
the Listing Rules.

2025 Ruihua Master Property Management Agreement

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratio(s) calculated
with reference to the highest proposed annual cap for the
transactions contemplated under the 2025 Ruihua Master Property
Management Agreement exceed 0.1% but are all less than 5%, the
transactions contemplated under the 2025 Ruihua Master Property
Management Agreement is subject to the reporting, announcement
and annual review requirements but exempt from the circular
(including independent financial advice) and independent
Shareholders' approval requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.76(2) of
the Listing Rules.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
31 December 2024, the Group has been providing property
management services to Jiangsu Ruihua and its subsidiaries
("Jiangsu Ruihua Group") since May 2017. Due to inadvertent
oversight, the Company failed to comply with the relevant
requirements for continuing connected transactions under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in respect of, among others, the provision
of property management services by the Group to Jiangsu Ruihua
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 (the "2024
Jiangsu Ruihua Transactions") in a timely manner. The aggregated
transaction amounts of the 2024 Jiangsu Ruihua Transactions was
RMBA4.0 million (approximately HKD4.3 million).
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The Company has carried out a detailed review of the terms and
conditions of the 2024 Jiangsu Ruihua Transactions and the then
Directors (excluding Mr. Pan Xiaohu, Mr. Yao Ning and Ms. Zhang
Mingming) had confirmed that the historical continuing connected
transactions with the Jiangsu Ruihua Group have been entered into:
(a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company;
(b) on normal commercial terms or better; and (c) on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole. For details in relation to the 2024 Jiangsu
Ruihua Transactions, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 31 December 2024.

To further strengthen the Group's internal control and prevent the
recurrence of similar non-compliance incidents in the future and
to comply with the requirements under the Listing Rules on an on-
going basis, the Company has implemented/will implement the
following remedial actions: (1) the Company has entered into the
2025 Ruihua Master Property Management Agreement to govern
the property management services transactions with the Jiangsu
Ruihua Group under a common framework in order to facilitate
the monitoring and compliance with the relevant requirements
under the Listing Rules; (2) the Company has reminded and will
consistently remind the senior management and responsible
staff within the Group to remain strictly vigilant regarding
any circumstances that may trigger the Company's disclosure
obligations under the Listing Rules, aiming to identify potential
issues at an early stage and mitigating the risk of a recurrence of
the incident; (3) the Company will provide the members of the
Board, the senior management and/or responsible staff of the
Group with appropriate trainings with the aim to enhance their
existing knowledge with a specific focus on connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and refine their ability to
identity potential issues at an early stage; (4) the management of
the Company undertakes to take steps to strengthen the internal
controls over the procedures for all transactions under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. The Company will also conduct an
annual review of the existing reporting procedures concerning the
monitoring of connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules on an annual basis. External professional parties will
be consulted during this review process, if necessary.

For further details of the continuing connected transactions
numbered 4 to 6 above, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 31 December 2024.
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The continuing connected transactions numbered 1 to 3 and the 2024
Jiangsu Ruihua Transactions mentioned above also constitute related
party transactions of the Company under the IFRS Accounting Standards,
details of which are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report. Save for the transactions numbered 1 to
6 and the 2024 Jiangsu Ruihua Transactions above, (i) the other related
party transactions as set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements do not constitute continuing connected transactions which
require announcement, annual review and independent Shareholders’
approval under the Listing Rules; and (ii) the Company has identified
connected transactions on lease arrangements from connected persons
which required compliance with disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the announcement will be issued
shortly.

Pursuant to Rule T4A.55 of the Listing Rules, all the independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected
transactions and confirmed that they have been entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) onnormal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) in accordance with the respective agreements governing the
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders as a whole.

The Company's auditor was engaged to report on the Group's continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) "Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Company's
auditors confirmed that in respect of the continuing connected
transactions numbered 1 to 3 and the 2024 Jiangsu Ruihua Transactions
disclosed above:

a.  nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions have not been
approved by the Company’s board of directors.

b.  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by
the Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group.

C. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that
the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions.
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d. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions have exceeded
the annual cap as set by the Company except for the 2024 Jiangsu
Ruihua Transactions which they were unable to perform any
procedures because the Company did not set any annual cap for
those transactions.

The auditor has issued a letter containing the findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions numbered 1 to 3
and 2024 Jiangsu Ruihua Transactions disclosed above by the Group in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

A copy of the auditor's letter on the continuing connected transactions of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 has been provided to the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in relation to the
continuing connected transactions conducted during the Year.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's securities.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024 have been audited by Ernst & Young, the auditor of the Company,
who will retire at the conclusion of the AGM.

There has been no change of auditor in the past three years.

All references above to other sections, reports or notes in this annual
report form part of this annual report.

By order of the Board
Zhu Li

Chairman

21 November 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

WAL AR S

Ernst & Young Tk gt EHEFR Tel E3E: +852 2846 9888
& i 27/F, One Taikoo Place ~ HAMIFEIFHEEI799X Fax HH: +852 2868 4432
2 979 King’s Road Kh—EE2718 ey.com

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of RUISEN LIFE SERVICE CO, LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of RUISEN
LIFE SERVICE CO, LIMITED (the “"Company") and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 82 to 213, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
("IASB") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "Code"), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial

statements.

Key audit matter

MR ERER
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RANERNAEERREZER

Recoverability of trade receivables and due from related
companies

PR R FE UK T B 2 B 7k BB A [BTHK 1

At 31 December 2024, the net balances of trade
receivables and due from related companies were
RMBA420,947,000 and RMB22,697,000 respectively, of
which the provision for impairment amounted to RMB
80,329,000 and RMB375,779,000 (including impairment
of parking lots deposits amounted to RMB53,701,000),
respectively.

1120245128318 > B 5 1B W R FE WL B Bt~ B IE B0
BRI A ARIEL20,947,00070 & AR 22,697,000
7T BB ERE DR A ARES0,329,000t R AR
375,779,0007T (B3 =B R EARES53,701,000
7—50

Management assessed the expected credit losses
on receivables based on assumptions about risk of
default and expected credit loss rates. The Group uses
judgements in determining the calculation model, making
assumptions and selecting the inputs for the impairment
calculation, based on the Group's historical experience,
ageing profile of the receivables, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end
of the reporting period.

BEERERMENRRKRAREEHEBRRVRKRIE
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Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3, 23 and 36 to
the consolidated financial statements.

MR R I AR S M IR FE3 ~ 2336 °

We obtained an understanding of how management
assessed the expected credit losses on receivables, and
evaluated the controls over impairment assessment;

HATHEEBNAFERYRIBERRE SRR LT
EXRETERES)

We assessed the credit loss provision methodology
adopted by management, and the estimated credit
loss rates by considering historical cash collection
performance and movements of the ageing of trade
receivables, the market conditions and forward-looking
factors.
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We tested, on a sampling basis, the accuracy of ageing
analysis of trade receivables prepared by management,
and checked the mathematical accuracy of the calculation
of the provision for loss allowance.

R EmREEN R EEE RN E 5 RUCRIRE D47
AR Wi E st H R R EHNBBRER T -

We evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent qualified professional valuer engaged
by management.

RPEHEEEBZENBUCERERGLEMNE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

MEELER
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FEEZEE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRANEZNAEERREEZER

Recoverability of trade receivables and due from related
companies (continued)

FEMR R fE UL T A B K BB A (B 1 (48)

Impairment of goodwill

BERE

The Group recorded goodwill of RMB27,411,000 as at 31
December 2024 arising from the acquisition of business.

EEEN20245F12831B#EmE ARKE27,411,0007T
ThELBWEEE -

In accordance with IAS 36, the Group is required to
perform an impairment test for goodwill at least annually
or whenever there is an indication that the cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
may be impaired. The process of impairment testing for
goodwill is complex and involves significant judgements
and estimates in relation to the cash flow forecast,
growth rate and discount rate applied, which are based
on assumptions such as expected future market and
economic conditions.

REERESHERE36 BEEEARIESFHNER
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We involved internal valuation specialists to assess
the appropriateness of the model and certain inputs
used to calculate the credit loss allowance adopted by
management by considering the nature and characteristics
of the amounts due from related companies.

HFIEABEEERSETE BBEBE KB AS
MIENEE KRR ML EEERANGEEERER
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We assessed the adequacy of the Group's disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements in connection with
the impairment of trade receivables and due from related
companies.

#HFEHE EERERGESMBRETRE ZEBERIER
R R AR IERENRER SR

We obtained an understanding of how management
assessed the goodwill impairment, and evaluated the
controls over impairment assessment.

HAITREERB WA EEERE W ENREN G
Y3l

We evaluated the assumptions used for impairment testing
for goodwill and assessed the reasonableness by taking
into account the relevant historical evidence supporting
underlying assumptions and comparing with orders
on hand, contracts signed, operating data and external
market research.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HEERER

FEEZEE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRANERNAEERREZER

Impairment of goodwill (continued)
BERE (&)

The significant accounting judgements and estimates and
disclosures for goodwill impairment testing are set out in
notes 3 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

BERENRZERGFTHE RS URBEEH NGRS
PR MIEE3 /160

We evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent qualified professional valuer engaged
by management and obtained an understanding of the
valuation processes and significant assumptions from the
management of the Group and the valuer.

RPEHEBEEEBMERBUCERERMLEMNE
B fENREEE - TR EEEEERE RGEME
BEBREREARRR-

We also involved our internal valuation specialists to assist
us in reviewing the methodology and certain inputs (such
as the discount rate and growth rate) adopted on the
evaluation of goodwill impairment.

HFITR IR A BB EE R B R FIB B ST (L EoRlE
PRk Z 73 7E R B TRA B BIUAERR R RE) o

We considered the adequacy of disclosures for goodwill
impairment testing in the consolidated financial
statements.

HPEEEMGEMBREIEFERENSHKREZR
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
reportin this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
forsuch internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBETRE

FIRFrEE Mt E R

BEAREFANHMENKESE HME
MERFRMAFERN BEFERBGREMEBER
TR FAFIFUE S HBIZBEMER S o

BANGREMBERRFHNERILAZEH
thE MEMAAIHZEEMENLEREM
B IR EE 4G ©

MBZESHMHFHREAMS RANEEER
BHMEN KMEEEMENETERS
MHERRNEMAEEZERTETHNER
FREEANT  WUFEFEERHERBRAL -
HERKMAESETHNIF ZfABLSILER
tMENEFEERERMRL HAARSZHE
Bt mE  HALEERERS -

EEMGROMBRRARKENT®R

BHGHERMBRSEN G ERREEA
BFAIINBE R ERRABMPEVGRGE
BRE THEEXRBERSHFHFREN
AT EEHRMFFRERMERNEKE
SRR RN EIERIE S -

ERRGGHMBRRE BATEFEE
S EEBFEEER] WIREERE

BEEARNEE (NMER)  UKRERRF
BEERGHEE IR BRAEFAR
& BEEBBNFELEE SFEHAME
;S E= AW

BEZEZEGWHEY SATEFERTEE B
EEMBRERENEE-

79



80

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BEmRE

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is Lawrence K. W. Lau (practising certificate number:
P04882).

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

21 November 2025

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBETRE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

tFeiRmRHMEEINER

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12831BIEFE

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
B 5E AR®TT ARETT
(Restated)
Ges==Tl))

REVENUE &= 5 1,955,694 1,973,200
Cost of sales B & AL A (1,683,672) (1,661,887)
GROSS PROFIT EF 272,022 311,313
Other income and gains HAWA K W am 5 14,887 19,168
Selling and distribution expenses HE R HRSE (4,940) (5,274)
Administrative expenses TEREXZ (106,312) (98,742)
Loss on disposal of an investment HEREYENEGR

property 6 = (1,844)
Fair value losses on investment properties &R BE¥EI A A BERIE 14 (19,418) (415)
Impairment losses on financial assets, net & RIE EREEEFEE 6 (104,899) (79,852)
Impairment of parking lots deposits FEAETRE 6 (53,701) =
Finance costs A 7 (4,357) (7,402)
Other expenses Hhpsxz (3,570) (2,814)
Share of profits and losses of: FEME AT R E518

Associates NS 18 227 179

Joint ventures BEhE 19 (1,767) 751
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX FRitED (5518) A (11,828) 135,068
Income tax expense FRiSiRMX 10 (8,750) (38,056)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FR (#5H8) EF (20,578) 97,012
(Loss)/profit attributable to: TERIEREAL (B18) &R

Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZZ=PN (26,664) 90,275

Non-controlling interests IR e 6,086 6,737

(20,578) 97,012

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE BAREEESRAEA

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY s Sk (B518) EF

HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 12
Basic (RMB cent per share) BEX (BRARED) (9.98) 33.79
Diluted (RMB cent per share) g (ERARED) (9.98) 33.79

Ruisen Life Service Co, Limited Annual Report 2024



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FEREREMEERER

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
MEE ARETT ARETT
(Restated)
(EET)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE HithZ2m (§548) K
(LOSS)/ INCOME
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that — FRBEEBAIE G S EH 7 HEE
will not be reclassified to profit or loss PBa IR M2 E (518
in subsequent periods: Wan -
Income tax relating to fair value gain on HEENHELEGIREYE
disposal of a revaluated investment A EEWRE R
property during the year Frigin - 288
Exchange differences on translation of MERINER 2 ERERR
foreign operations (104) 10
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income REERBEETEEMDEE
that will not be reclassified to profit or B HEMEwE (B8
loss in subsequent period Wz 58 (104) 298
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE FRHEMZE (BR) k=
(LOSS)/INCOME FOR THE YEAR (104) 298
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE FREHE (B = BER
(LOSS)/INCOME FOR THE YEAR (20,682) 97,310
Total comprehensive (loss)/income TIATREGZE (B8
attributable to: W AR EE
Owners of the parent BREEEA (26,768) 90,573
Non-controlling interests FEERE T 6,086 6,737
(20,682) 97,310

IR EERFARAT 2024 FERS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

SREMBIRR

31 December 2024
20245128310

31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
20245 20234 20234
12831H 12H31H 181H
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
b= ARBETT AR®ET T ARETT
(Restated) (Restated)
(Geg=zel)) Geg==xl)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment M- BB KRR 13 71,532 93,299 89,570
Investment properties KEYE 14 83,548 94,965 50,794
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 2,656 2,935 7,762
Goodwill (EES 16 27,411 27,411 27,411
Intangible assets ﬂﬂiﬁféfg 17 12,365 15,069 18,732
Investments in associates N =Nk 18 11,470 3,460 2,234
Investments in joint ventures TJ"AM EWKE 19 3,446 3,885 3,584
Deferred tax assets FIERIEE & 20 61,963 30,422 14,111
Pledged deposits [SEiigiEeE 25 5,274 5,196 1,876
Total non-current assets JERBE ERE 279,665 276,642 216,074
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Inventories =FE 22 5,443 9,761 10,558
Trade receivables B 5 W TIE 23 420,947 394,732 342,083
Due from related companies FEWLRR G A B RIE 36 22,697 111,313 150,834
Prepayments, deposits and AARIE-RE R
other receivables HhEWRIE 24 116,689 123,458 105,202
Financial assets at fair value BARBE AR
through profit or loss (“"FVTPL") (MR BETA
B NEmEE 21 - 26,004 76,434
Pledged deposits [SEigEEEE 25 7,849 2,716 2,101
Restricted cash ﬁf@%ﬂfﬁfﬁ 25 11,590 639 -
Cash and cash equivalents BERIREFEY 25 394,377 433,444 292,058
Total current assets MBEERE 979,592 1,102,067 979,270
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENEE
Trade payables B EIRIE 26 126,663 108,534 75,404
Other payables, deposits received ~ ELfthfE{IFRIE B UK
and accruals e MESTER 27 306,806 407,745 395,651
Contract liabilities BHER/ 28 412,067 392,218 338,194
Due to related companies FE(TRREG A B FIE 36 51,525 33,068 57,008
Interest-bearing bank and FHERITER K
other borrowings HhEmk 29 49,000 64,569 112,066
Lease liabilities HEa® 15 21,444 17,798 7,822
Tax payable FEIRIE 37,380 40,447 23,747
Total current liabilities BB AR 1,004,885 1,064,379 1,009,892
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ REN (BEREH)
ASSETS BEFE (25,293) 37,688 (30,622)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEMRERTEAE
LIABILITIES 254,372 314,330 185,452

Ruisen Life Service Co, Limited Annual Report 2024



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEamERE
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
20245 20234 20234
128315 12H31H 1818
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
b 5E AREBTT AREBTT ARBTT
(Restated) (Restated)
(REF) (RE7)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JERENAE
Interest-bearing bank and HERITER K
other borrowings HAER 29 - 245 6,480
Lease liabilities HEaE 15 35,956 41,012 8,987
Deferred tax liabilities BERIBEEE 20 4,950 7,103 9,029
Total non-current liabilities JEREN B BARER 40,906 48,360 24,496
NET ASSETS BEEFE 213,466 265,970 160,956
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to ownersof BAFTEA A
the parent PR 2
Share capital i 30 2,387 2,387 2,387
Reserves B 32 153,739 210,081 118,280
156,126 212,468 120,667
Non-controlling interests IR m 57,340 53,502 40,289
TOTAL EQUITY ERE 213,466 265,970 160,956

Mr. Zhu Li
KAFxE

Director

EF

Mr. Pan Xiaohu
BERELE

Director

EF

IR EERBEAIRAR 2024 FERS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
n‘;rn* ﬁﬁ@]ﬁ

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12831HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATEE AR
Investment Statutory Exchange Share Non-
Share Merger Share  revaluation surplus  fluctuation option Retained controlling Total
capital reserve*  premium* reserve reserve* reserve* reserve* profits* Total interests equity
K&  iEEE  ERE
Bx  afiEk  ROEE  EfEE it fife* BRERE* RZE & FRREE  EEEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE¥TRE ABETR ABBTR ARETR ARMTR ARETR ARMTn ARBTR ABKTR ABEBTR ABETR
(note 30) (note32) (note32) (note32) (note31)
(Ha30)  (Mas2)  (Ha2) (H3t32) (Hz£31)
At Januery 2026 Restated) R0UE1B18 (EE5) 2 (136) a0 3169 51,375 (6726) 5515 106 22M8 53S0 2590
(Loss)/Profitfor the year £/ (8 /A - - - - - - - (26,664) (26,664) 6,086 (20,578)
Other comprehensive income forthe year A2 ENE
Foreign currency translation differences  JMEAEZEE = = = = = (104) = = (104) - (104)
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ EAZENEAE - - - - - (104) - (26,664) (26,768) 6,086 (20,662)
Appropriations to statutory surplus reserve  BAEAEREE(E = = = = 4749 = - (4,749) - - -
Acquisition of non-controlling nterests  WESER R ER o - - - - - - - - 526 526
Disposal and dissolution of Subsidiaries & R AHBAT = = = = = = = = = (3,760) (3,760)
Capital contribution from non-contralling ~ —FIMBAZEARAEE
shareholders of a subsidiary 1B - - - - - - - - - 1,006 1,006
2024 special dividend declared (note 1) BETRNUESFHRE
(Hz11) - - (30,020) - - - - - (30,020) o (30,020)
Equity-settled share-based payment ~ LUEREENRNA
ERBT s s s = = = h4f = h4b = 448
st 31 December 2024 HEIB31 2 (136) 17610 3169 56,124 (6,830) 5961 09 156126 5130 213466
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB153,739,000 * ZEHBRENG M B RREEANLE

= E
fEH ARME153,739,0007 (2023&E : AR

(2023: RMB210,081,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.
210,081,0007T) ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

P
Attributable to owners of the parent
BATEE AR
Investment Statutory Exchange Share Non-
Share Merger Share  revaluation surplus fluctuation option Retained controlling Total
capital reserve®  premium* reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve* profits* Total interests equity
REEf
Rx  AfEE  RAEE ff AERRER ERSREE" BREGR RIE B FEREE  ERED
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMBO00 RMBO00 RMBO00 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMBO00
NEBTR  ABETR  ABMTR  ARETR  ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETn ARETR ARETR
(note 30) (note 32) (nate32) (note32) (note31)  (Restated)
(H30)  (Was2)  (Wasn) (H332) (ha31) (&)
At1 January 2023 (Restated) R0BEIA1E (BE5) 2381 (13,280) 47,630 4,034 39,693 (6,736) 4,281 42,65 120,667 40,289 160,958
Proftorthe ear AR - - - - - - - b
Other comprehensive income fortheyear  EREM2ENE
Income taxrelating tofairvalue gainon ~~ EAHELSERENE
disposal of a revaluated investment HAREEREERN
property during the year (note 20) FiigH (Hik20) . = = 28 = = = = 288 = 288
Foreign currency translation differences ~ SMEREZE - - - = 10 = = 10 = 10
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ FAZENEEE = = = 28 = 10 = 90,275 90,573 8,737 97310
Appropriations to statutory surplus reserve  BEE A TERBERE = = = = 11,682 (11,682) - - -
Transferinvestment property revaluation  HEYERERRENE
reserve upon disposal of properties EfGE - - - (1,153) 1153 = = =
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEERB AT 2 . = = = = = = 2,3% 2,3%
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 34) HE-TEHBAR (H534) = = = = = = 1214 10
Capital contribution from non-controlling  JEFERRETE
shareholders = 5 S S S = 3,505 3,505
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests & —TEHB AT 2R
of asubsidiary ) = s = = - - (637) (637)
Equity-settled share-based payment  MEGEEURAHA
BRI - - - - 128 - 1228 - 1228
Asat3 December 2003 Resated) 20234128313 (985 28 (B3 3 SI 6 555 1M 748 B5L 265900

IR EERBEAIRAR 2024 FERS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F 12831 HILEE

2024 2023
20245 20235
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
PEE ARETT ARETT
(Restated)
Ges=2pl))
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REZHRIRERE
ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/Profit before tax PRl (B518) ia A (11,828) 135,068
Adjustments for: M THEIEEY Fﬂﬂ
Depreciation of items of property, ME -BERREEERNE
plant and equipment 6&13 35,798 34,502
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 6&15 2,396 4,827
Amortisation of intangible assets A EEE 6&17 3,804 4,190
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEME -BERRZB
plant and equipment EHE W 6 (71) (177)
Gain on disposal of lease HEMRLOWE 6 (91) -
Impairment losses on financial assets, EMEERESIRTFEHE
net 6 104,899 79,852
Impairment of parking lots deposits FEALERE 6 53,701 =
Finance costs LUEIDEN 7 4,357 7,402
Equity-settled share-based expense LS E LR 25
EHR> 6 446 1,228
Loss on disposal of an investment HEREY=ERE
property 6 = 1,844
Loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBATIEE, U 6 3,181 (2,618)
Gain on disposal of joint ventures and HESERER
associates &N E W 6 (123) -
Expense on acquisition of a subsidiary Wi —RERE AR MRX = 495
Investment income B WA 5 (923) (977)
Share of profits of associates FEALERE QB ET) 18 (227) (179)
Share of profits and losses of joint fElh & b aN R EE
ventures 19 1,767 (751)
Interest income ) B YA 5 (1,184) (1,489)
Fair value gains on financial assets BERANEBES ABRN
at FVTPL THMEENLABERED 5 - (4)
Fair value losses on investment KREVMEN A NEERE
properties 14 19,418 415
215,320 263,628
Decrease in inventories FERD 4,318 815
Increase in pledged deposits [REE eSSy (5,211) (3,935)
Increase in trade receivables B 5 EINGRIEE N (59,524) (66,272)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and TENRIE e R EM
other receivables Fgﬂﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘?] (8,916) (17,273)
(Increase)/Decrease in amounts FEUS BB 75 7R 18 (B8 A0) R
due from related parties (8,949) 2,027
Increase in trade payables B 5 FE(I FRIEIE N 20,754 35,320
(Decrease)/increase in other payables, HMEARIE BEBiEE R
deposits received and accruals FEsTE A (R /18 (5,649) 12,315
Increase in contract liabilities SHEEEM 19,849 53,864
Increase/(decrease) in amounts FE 1 RAH A 21 208
due to related companies 1, Geisb 11,723 (23,940)
Cash generated from operations REMSIRE 183,715 256,549
Interest received 2UF] S 1,184 1,489
Interest paid EF & (2,366) (5,528)
Tax paid BfRE (45,527) (39,593)
Net cash flows from operating activities & EBFISRESREFE 137,006 212,917
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FABERER
2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
MEE ARETT ARETT
(Restated)
Ges=2l))

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZBMFRERE

ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, BEYE -BELRREBEER

plant and equipment 13 (27,937) (38,543)
Purchases of intangible assets BERTEE 17 (1,100) (527)
Purchase of investment properties BEKEYE (810) (4,997)
Disposal of investment properties HEREY = 1,890 5,596
Dividend income from a joint venture REEERENREIA 735 1,127
Placement of restricted cash FHZREIRE (10,951) -
Acquisition of a subsidiary not accounted ~ WgBE—REIRIAEREARD

foras a business NG (6,914) -
Acquisition of a subsidiary accounted for ~ WgBE—RBEILEE G H

as a business combination AR EBAE = (2,584)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FEREAR 34 5,300 111
Disposal of joint ventures and associates HESShERHE AT 828 =
Advances to related companies Bl AN NN (20,878) (59,472)
Recovery of advances to related Y [e]1m) RA Bk A BI RV ERRR

companies 889 34,474
Purchases of financial assets at FVTPL BERAMBEES ABGDN

SREE (649,340) (557,028)
Redemption of financial assets at FVTPL Bl BB ABRR
THBEE 676,267 607,462

Investments in joint ventures and REERERGERNTRE

associates - (1,724)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE -BERRE

plant and equipment FriSsIa 668 342
Net cash flows used in investing K& EEIFTE

activities REREFHE (31,353) (15,763)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEZBAIRERE

ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid BENKE (25,222) (9,192)
Capital contribution by the JEERRRTIE

non-controlling shareholders 1,006 3,505
Acquisition of non-controlling interests oG- Eleiyr £ (526) -
Lease payments GEN=ARNEN 33 (5,427) (2,149)
Advances from an affiliate of RERLNE—ZREDN

a shareholder of the Company e YNSIE= N 20,000 =
Payment of advances from an affiliate of ZIRBARNB—HRER

a shareholder of the Company YNSRI (20,000) =
Advance from Bridging Loans REBBERIER 33 - 163,800
Payment of Bridging Loans ST EBER 33 (98,800) (158,000)
Proceeds from interest-bearing bank s EIRITIER R EMAER

and other borrowings FriSRIE 33 43,494 89,000
Repayment of interest-bearing bank BIRFT BRITER KR EMER

and other borrowings 33 (59,245) (142,732)
Net cash flows used in financing REESFARERE R

activities (144,720) (55,768)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REBRERER

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
B 5E ARETT ARHEFIT
(Restated)
(Ges==pl))
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH RERREZEY (RLD)
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS /Y INREE (39,067) 141,386
Cash and cash equivalents at REVRERIREEHEY
beginning of year 433,444 292,058
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REXRRERREEEY
AT END OF YEAR 394,377 433,444
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH HERREEBMEGON
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances R MIRTTASER 25 419,090 441,995
Less: Restricted cash B ZREIIRE 25 (11,590) (639)
Pledged deposits [SEiEeE N 25 (13,123) (7,912)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REMBIKARRAS ME
AS STATED IN THE CONSOLIDATED FrEiRE RIS EEY
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 25 394,377 433,444

Ruisen Life Service Co, Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands. The registered office address of the Company is at Sertus
Chambers, Governors Square, Suite #5-204, 23 Lime Tree Bay
Avenue, P.0. Box 2547, Grand Cayman KY1-1104, the Cayman
Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, the subsidiaries now comprising the
Group were involved in the provision of property management
services and value-added services.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company does not have a
holding company.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company'’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place and date of incorporation/

AT R MIsE

31 December 2024
20245128318

1. RAEAKREEREHR

rAElRm—BERrHEEeHEEFMAT
NERRAB - R RBINEMMEE
it Z&Sertus Chambers, Governors
Square, Suite #5-204, 23 Lime Tree Bay
Avenue, P.O. Box 2547, Grand Cayman
KY1-1104, the Cayman Islands ©

AR m—EREERAT B E2024
F12ANBLFEE  AEEBETHER
Bt FRMYEEERT RILERT -

EERR ARBLEZERAT
BB ATINER

FABEEMBATNFBEAT :

Nominal  Percentage of
valueof  equity interest
registered  attributable to

Subsidiaries establishment and place of operations share capital the Group  Principal activities
SEMARIL, BB R FETREN
MEAR B EAUR: i 2 4th 2 SR EE REBDLE FEEH
Directly held:
HERE !
Yincheng Property Service British Virgin Islands/11 April 2019 UsD50,000 100%  Investment holding
Holding Limited HBEARES 2019548118 50,000% 7T BEER
Indirectly held:
HEEEZR
ERBRBEERAE Hong Kong/30 April 2019 HKS1 100%  Investment holding
EB/2019E4A308 %7 REzR
EREANEREEERRAR The People's Republic of China ("PRC")/ USD1,000,000 100%  Investment holding
(TERm&R)* Chinese Mainland/14 May 2019 1,000,000% 7T REER
hEARLNE (ThE)
REIPYi, 2019458148
AR EREBER AR PRC/Chinese Mainland/26 December 1997 RMB100,000,000 100%  Property management
E/RE R, 19975128268 AE#100,000,0007T MEERE
BREEEEREREERAR PRC/Chinese Mainland/20 March 2013 RMB11,000,000 100% Housekeeping services
(=523 hE,/ EIRH, 2013635208 ARH11,000,0007¢ BHBIRS
ARIBHEEBRAT PRC/Chinese Mainland/10 January 2012 RMBT,000,000 100%  Fitness services
FEL/ FHE R, 2012618108 AR 1,000,0007 B 5Bk
ARREREARAT PRC/Chinese Mainland/8 November 2000 RMB11,000,000 100%  Elevator maintenance
L/ HREIFYH, 2000511 58H AE11,000,000 BREE

R afRIBAERAE 2024 FERS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PAFSERIRMIE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

1. QAFREEEHN @)
BRMBATER (@

Nominal  Percentage of
valueof  equityinterest
Place and date of incorporation/ registered  attributable to
Subsidiaries establishment and place of operations share capital the Group  Principal activities
SEMRBIL, AL ME REMEMS
Lol =YNG AR E £t R HEMRAEE REESL FEEH
Indirectly held: (continued)
A (8
MROEYXSEBEERAT PRC/Chinese Mainland/25 December 2012 RMB500,000 70%  Property management
HE/ HERH, 20128128258 AR#500,0007 MEER

ERAREMEEIRBRAR
BAREERRIEERAG
ek (B35 MERBERAT
AREECRETRBRAT
ARRAERRBEBRAE*
BRECEZNEERBRAT
("Hui Ren Heng An") (TEE{Z18%)) **
AR EREMRFERAR
TLERSRIAR DB B R AT
BN RIMIRIK ERFB B R A B
BRATRBFEEMESEAREME
REP*

EHREYEEEERAR

RN Z BN EREBR AT

PRC/Chinese Mainland/15 August 2016
I,/ HRER,201658A158

PRC/Chinese Mainland/28 May 2018
e RE A, 201845 A28

PRC/Chinese Mainland/23 May 2007
FEL/ E R4, 200758230

PRC/Chinese Mainland/6 December 2019
R, FRERH, 2019412868

PRC/Chinese Mainland/10 March 2020
HE/REPH, 2020638108

PRC/Chinese Mainland/15 January 2009
e RE A, 200941 A15H

PRC/Chinese Mainland/19 February 2020
FEL/ FERH, 2020628198

PRC/Chinese Mainland/11 January 2021
HEREA, 2021111

PRC/Chinese Mainland/27 January 2021
EL/ HERH, 2021618278

PRC/Chinese Mainland/10 April 1997
e REA, 1997648108

PRC/Chinese Mainland/5 May 2023
FEL/ ERH, 202355858

PRC/Chinese Mainland/3 September 2021
e REIA T, 202169831

92 Ruisen Life Service Co, Limited Annual Report 2024

RMB11,000,000
ARH11,000,0007%

RMBS,000,000
AR #8,000,0007

RMB3,229,600
AB3,229,6007%

RMB10,000,000
AR 110,000,0007%

RMB5,000,000
ABH5,000,0007%

RMB12,000,000
AR 112,000,0007

RMB5,000,000
ABH5,000,0007%

RMB10,000,000
AR 110,000,0007%

RMB500,000
B 500,0007%

RMB500,000
AK5500,0007%

RMB1,800,000
AEH1,800,0007%

RMB5,000,000
AR #5,000,0007

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

51%

51%

51%

51%

100%

60%

100%

Landscaping services

B ER

Engineering services

TIRR%

Property management
NEERE

Engineering services

TIRR%

Catering services

BHIRT

Property management

MEEE

Decoration services

RERS

Property management

MEEE

Property management
NEERE

Property management

MEEE

Property management
NEERE

Property management

MEEE



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place and date of incorporation/

Subsidiaries establishment and place of operations
MM BRI R
MEAR B RS EtEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR ER RIS

1. RAEAKREERER @

BRI B ATINER (@

Nominal  Percentage of
valueof  equity interest
registered  attributable to
share capital the Group  Principal activities
REMEWS
HEMRAEE REERDLE FEEH

Indirectly held: (continued)

HERE: (@

BRERAREREARAT ™ PRC/Chinese Mainland/28 December 2021 RMB10,500,000 100%  Cleaning services
hE,/ RERH, 20214125288 AR #10,500,0007¢ BERH

BEMEREYERBEBRAB ™ PRC/Chinese Mainland/7 July 2020 RMB20,000,000 60%  Property management
FEL/ HE R, 202067878 AR #20,000,0007¢ ES$C

BN EILERARAT PRC/Chinese Mainland/25 August 2023 RMB1,200,000 60%  Elevator maintenance
e REA T, 202368250 AR1,200,0007 BiniE

w FIRIm7% is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC @ ERIHERDIBERBEEEEMAINGEE

law. B

*x These companies which registered under PRC law are wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company.

***  These companies which are registered under the PRC law are subsidiaries
of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company and, accordingly, are
accounted for as subsidiaries by virtue of the Company's control over
them.

o ZERBREEREMNABDREARF
WEENEAR -

L ZERBREEREMORBHEART
WIEZENBABRNMBAR > ALt &
NENZERCERERIEMARY S
MEAE o

IR EERFARAT 2024 FERS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFEER R MG

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards ("IFRSs") (which include all
International Financial Reporting Standards, International
Accounting Standards ("IASs") and Interpretations) as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for investment properties and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Renminbi ("RMB") and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

The Group had a net loss attributable to owners of the parent
of RMB26,664,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
net current liabilities of RMB25,293,000 as at 31 December
2024.

The financial statements were prepared based on the
assumption that the Group can be operated as a going
concern and the directors are of the view that the Group will
have sufficient working capital to finance its operations in the
next twelve months from 31 December 2024, after taking into
consideration the following:

(i) the estimated cash flows of the Group for the next
twelve months from the end of the reporting period;

(ii) the plan for the acceleration of the collection of
property management service fee and expansion of
external business; and

(iii) the available unutilised banking facilities of the Group.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

2.

BETER

2.1

ZEWHBRERDREBR G 5%
AEEg (RS ENESE
g)) AHENBERMBEREENS
stEER (TEIRB B S 2R (B
YEF A B R 75 3k 5 2 R~ B PR
Gt R (TEREEHER)) K2
) REBEBABRRIZIRERTE
MR AL > ZEMHFRRTDIBE
BEME LR HERRIAE
Bt EZREVERBAREE
SPABTmZEMEERIP -&E
MHBBREUARE TAR) 5
T BRSBEBINTEHES
NBETAH-

HZE2024F12B318EFE &
EENSRAEEE AELBEZ
FEA ANRME26,664,0007T > T H
20241283 1B RS a &5
A AR 1525,293,0007T °

FHERENWEEDENBRREE
BEAEMTELE UREETA
KEEUTHRER  AEEEE
BERHNEEE S AHB2024F
12B31HEFNRE+ @A E
fEiIREE S .

(i) AEEBRSHRERK
TEBWEFREME ;

(i) PNERUCERY) % B IR BR TS B K
HRIMEREFZRIEE 5 K

(i) AEBEFAKRBART
BIE -

R

GGV BERRBEART RE
MEBAR (LR TAE®E)) BF
202412831 HIEFEREE
RER-MBABIEEEALATEEL
BEEFNER (BEEETESE
fE) EAEEBEESEFKRES
BB B8 VE B T A 3 ] &4 (o] 2R /Y
RN EHZE & E oK 1
BEENERBHWHEERNEN
BPREAEBBRBENEE
WRE S NERETHNIRE#ER)
FEZEZO R BIEVS =6 #E o



2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has, directly or
indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group's share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

2.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR ER RIS

GETBUR @
2.1 RREE @

REEE (B

R—RIBERTHFEESBREE
EREGRZHEE EXREE
BREREALVIBRREDAS
Y RORWAELER] > EFEH
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(b) EMhEHZHELNER
hid
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFEER R MG

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Restatement of previously issued audited

consolidated financial statements

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
received a report of allegations against Mr. Li Chunling ("Mr.
Li", the then executive director of the Company) from a
whistleblower and a letter making certain allegations against
Mr. Huang Qingping ("Mr. Huang", the then non-executive
director and the controlling shareholder of the Company).
The Group engaged an independent forensic accountant
("IFA") to review all the allegations and other issues that the
IFA deemed necessary. Based on the findings of the IFA,
management of the Company identified misstatements in the
previously issued consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2023 as follows:

Certain employees received salaries and bonuses paid
through suppliers

From 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2023, certain senior
management personnel and employees of the Group
(the "Employees”) received salaries and bonuses totaling
approximately RMB67 million, which were paid through
designated suppliers (the "Suppliers”) of the Group.
However, it was not properly accounted for in the prior years'
consolidated financial statements. Consequently, after
assessing the underlying economic substance, the Group
concluded that RMB3.3 million which was originally recorded
in cost of sales for the year ended 31 December 2023 should
have been classified as administrative expenses. The Group
made a prior year adjustment to increase administrative
expenses by RMB3.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2023, reflecting the proper classification of compensation
payments that were initially recorded as cost of sales.

As these payments were employees’ compensation-related
rather than genuine purchases, the Group should have to
withhold individual income tax on behalf of the Employees
in the relevant periods. Accordingly, a prior year adjustment
was made to recognise the corresponding individual income
tax payables on such compensation of RMB9.1 million as at 1
January 2023 and RMB11.2 million as at 31 December 2023,
along with a corresponding receivable from the Employees.
Given that some of the Employees have since left the Group,
the collectability of certain receivables became uncertain.
As a result, the Group recorded a prior year adjustment to
recognise accumulated loss of RMB291,000, reflected as
a decrease in retained profits as at 1 January 2023, and an
additional loss of RMB97,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023.

2.

FETER @
22 FERIEEMEERZESHE

HRZET
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Restatement of previously issued audited

consolidated financial statements (continued)

Certain employees received salaries and bonuses paid
through suppliers (continued)

Moreover, the input value-added tax ("VAT") claimed on VAT
invoices received from the Suppliers in connection with these
transactions - now determined to be unrelated to actual
goods or services purchased - was not eligible for deduction
under VAT regulations. As a result, the Group recorded a prior
year adjustment to reduce retained profits by RMB4.9 million
as at 1 January 2023 and to increase other expenses by
RMB283,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023, reflecting
the reversal of previously claimed but non-deductible input
VAT and the recognition of penalties for overdue tax payment.

Impairment loss on advances to ;LB R ZREZRIFER L
& (“Jing'an Security") and share of result of this associate

Jing'an Security is an associate of the Group and provides
security services to the Group. In 2020, the Group advanced
a loan of RMB27 million to Jing'an Security, which, based on
the cash flow, was used by Jing'an Security to acquire certain
properties from a company controlled by Mr. Huang. As at
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023, this advance was
recorded as a service prepayment to Jing'an Security on the
consolidated statement of financial position. However, given
the nature of the transaction which was considered as a loan
advance receivable from Jian'an Security, the amount should
have been classified as a non-trade receivable from Jing'an
Security. As a result, the Group made a prior year adjustment
to reclassify RMB27 million from prepayments to non-trade
receivables due from Jing'an Security as at 1 January 2023
and 31 December 2023. After assessing the recoverability
of this non-trade receivable, the Group determined a full
provision was required prior to 2023, and made a prior year
adjustment to retained profits as at 1 January 2023 and 31
December 2023, leading to a decrease in retained profits by
RMB27 million on both dates.
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PR ER RIS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
P ERR M

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Restatement of previously issued audited

consolidated financial statements (continued)

Impairment loss on advances to I B R Z R ZIRIEE R A
& (“Jing'an Security”) and share of result of this associate
(continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, Jing'an
Security settled certain financial products issued by a
company controlled by Mr. Huang, which were financed by
the Group through prepayments of service fees. Considering
the underlying nature of these prepayments as funding
arrangements and the weak financial capacity of Jing'an
Security, the Group determined that these prepayments
should be (i) reclassified as non-trade receivables due from
Jing'an Security and (ii) fully provided for, except for an
amount of RMB5.4 million which was settled by a company
controlled by Mr. Huang. As a result, the Group made a prior
year adjustment to reclassify RMB18.2 million and RMB44.9
million from prepayments to non-trade receivables due
from Jing'an Security as at 1 January 2023 and 31 December
2023, respectively, and to recognise a provision on both
dates, resulting in a decrease of retained profits by RMB18.2
million as at 1 January 2023 and an increase of impairment
loss on the non-trade receivables by RMB21.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023, for a cumulative decrease of
retained profits by RMB39.5 million as at 31 December 2023.

As a result of the above adjustments, the resulting balance
with Jing'an Security is a trade payable in the amount of
RMB43.9 million and RMB30.5 million as at 1 January 2023
and 31 December 2023, respectively.

After the above prior year adjustments, the Group also
reassessed the financial statements of Jing'an Security for
the year ended 31 December 2023. It concluded that Jing'an
Security was in a net deficit position as at both 1 January
2023 and 31 December 2023. As a result, the Group's share
of Jing'an Security's net profit and comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2023, and the carrying
amount of the Group's investment in Jing'an Security as at
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023, should have been
zero. Accordingly, a prior year adjustment of RMB3.4 million
to write down the investment in the associate was made as at
both 1 January 2023 and 31 January 2023.

2.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Restatement of previously issued audited
consolidated financial statements (continued)

Impairment loss on advances to ;L EF R ZREZRFE R L
&) ("Jing'an Security”) and share of result of this associate
(continued)

In addition, cash flows related to advances to Jing'an Security,
which was originally recorded in operating activities, have
been reclassified to investing activities to reflect the loan
to an associate for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
Group also discovered that an operating cash inflows of
RMB38.4 million related to Jing'an Security was incorrectly
included in investing activities for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Advances and receivables from certain companies
controlled by Mr. Huang (the “"HQP-Controlled Companies”)

a.  Adjustments on advances and receivables from the

HQP-Controlled Companies

Starting from 2019, the Group made advances to
the HQP-Controlled Companies. These advances
were recorded as due from related parties in the
Group's consolidated financial statements, and were
repaid shortly before 31 December each year (the
"Repayments). The IFA identified that the Repayments
were, in substance, funded by bridging loans
("Bridging Loans") - arrangements where the Group
was committed to re-lend the funds back to the HQP-
Controlled Companies within days of the Repayments
so that the Bridging Loans can be settled. Despite the
appearance of cash inflows from the Repayments,
the underlying economic substance indicated that the
advances were not actually settled as at 31 December
each year. To correct the error, the Group made a prior
year adjustment to recognise the advances to the HQP-
Controlled Companies and the Bridging Loans liabilities
of RMB93 million and RMB79 million, respectively, as at
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023.

In addition to the advances to the HQP-Controlled
Companies, in December 2023, the Group also utilised
the same bridging loan arrangement to settle the
Group's trade receivables from property management
services and interest receivables arising from the
aforementioned advances. As this is not considered
as a genuine settlement of the respective receivables,
to correct the error, the Group made a prior year
adjustment to reinstate the trade receivables of
RMB13.3 million and interest receivables due from the
HQP-Controlled Companies of RMB6.6 million and
the corresponding Bridging Loans liabilities as at 31
December 2023.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
P ERR M

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Restatement of previously issued audited
consolidated financial statements (continued)

Advances and receivables from certain companies
controlled by Mr. Huang (the "HQP-Controlled Companies")
(continued)

a. Adjustments on advances and receivables from the

HaP-Controlled Companies (continued)

The Group also identified a classification error between
the advances to the HQP-Controlled Companies (1
January 2023: RMB30 million; 31 December 2023:
RMB4.7 million), amounts due from Jing'an Security
(1 January 2023: RMB25.9 million; 31 December 2023:
RMBA4.7 million) and other receivables (1 January 2023:
RMB4.1 million; 31 December 2023: nil). A prior year
adjustment was made accordingly to correct the error.

Furthermore, in December 2023, the Group entered
into a settlement agreement with the HQP-Controlled
Companies to settle certain outstanding advances of
approximately RMB35 million through the transfer of
certain properties and car parks owned by the HQP-
Controlled Companies. The Group recorded these
assets as investment properties and recognised
a gain of approximately RMB1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023. However, due to the legal
deficiency to transfer the underlying properties and
car parks, the Group entered into a memorandum of
understanding with the HQP-Controlled Companies,
effectively revoking the original settlement agreement.
Accordingly, the derecognition of advances to the HQP-
Controlled Companies, the recognition of the related
investment properties, and the associated gain should
not have been recorded in 2023 and was reversed as a
prior year adjustment.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Restatement of previously issued audited
consolidated financial statements (continued)

Advances and receivables from certain companies
controlled by Mr. Huang (the "HQP-Controlled Companies”)
(continued)

b.

Expected credit loss on amounts due from the HQP-
Controlled Companies

Following the prior year adjustments in section (a),
there was an increase in the balances of advances,
trade receivables, and interest receivables due from
the HQP-Controlled Companies as at both 1 January
and 31 December 2023. The Group reassessed the
expected credit loss of advances, trade receivables,
and interest receivables due from the HQP-Controlled
Companies, and made a prior year adjustment to
correctly reflect the expected credit loss, leading to a
decrease of retained profits by RMB142.1T million as at
1 January 2023, an increase of expected credit loss by
RMB221,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
a cumulative decrease of retained profits by RMB142.3
million as at 31 December 2023. The related deferred
tax impact was also adjusted with RMB609,000 and
RMB554,000 as at 1 January 2023 and 31 December
2023.

Interest expenses associated with Bridging Loans
liabilities

The Group did not record interest expenses associated
with the Bridging Loans liabilities, amounting to
RMB3.7 million and RMB1.7 million for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2023, respectively. The Group
made a prior year adjustment to correctly reflect the
interest expenses associated with the Bridging Loans
liabilities, leading to a decrease of retained profits by
RMB3.7 million as at 1 January 2023, an increase of
finance costs by RMB1.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 and a cumulative decrease of retained
profits by RMB5.4 million as at 31 December 2023.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFSER RIS

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Restatement of previously issued audited
consolidated financial statements (continued)

Advances and receivables from certain companies
controlled by Mr. Huang (the "HQP-Controlled Companies")
(continued)

d. Taxexposure relating to the advances to the HQP-

Controlled Companies

Although the Group has not recognised the interest
income from the advances to the HQP-Controlled
Companies since the year ended 31 December 2022,
it should nevertheless have accrued for VAT and
corporate income tax ("CIT") exposure related to
these uncollectible interest income according to the
applicable tax laws and regulations. Tax liabilities
of RMB3.7 million (VAT: RMB636,000, CIT: RMB3.1
million) and RMB5.6 million (VAT: RMB981,000, CIT:
RMB4.6 million) should have been recognised as at 1
January 2023 and 31 December 2023, respectively. The
Group made a prior year adjustment to correctly reflect
the tax exposure, leading to a decrease of retained
profits by RMB3.7 million as at 1 January 2023, an
increase of other expenses by RMB345,000 and income
tax expense by RMB1.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 and a cumulative decrease of retained
profits by RMB5.6 million as at 31 December 2023.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Restatement of previously issued audited
consolidated financial statements (continued)

Advances and receivables from certain companies
controlled by Mr. Huang (the "HQP-Controlled Companies")
(continued)

e. Cash flows related to the Bridging Loans and the HQP-
Controlled Companies
In addition, cash flows related to the Bridging Loans
arrangement have been reclassified from investing
activities to financing activities for the year ended 31
December 2023. Also, RMB2.5 million in cash flows
related to the HQP-Controlled Companies for the year
ended 31 December 2023 have been reclassified from
operating activities to investing activities, pursuant to
findings in the IFA's investigation report.

Management has corrected these misstatements to the
consolidated financial statements of the Group as at 1
January 2023 and 31 December 2023 and for the year then
ended. The following tables present the restatement made
by the Group to reflect the corrections in the relevant line
items of the consolidated financial statements as previously
reported for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PAFSER RIS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Restatement of previously issued audited

2. BEHEEX®@®
22 GHIBEBEEZZ

L=

consolidated financial statements (continued) HRERZET (@)
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2023
BENBFNANBLFEREABEREMEANGR
Adjustments by category
R
(i) Certain (i) Impairment
employees Losson
received advances to
salariesand  Jing/An Security (iii) Advances and
As bonuses paid andshare of  receivables from
previously through resultofthis ~ HQP Controlled Total As
reported suppliers associate Companies adjustments restated
WET  (IRRZRZ
EEEN B
BRBHRER HESE  (i)EREET
M E RFE(EZ ERRTRH
BEER EE HERATES REWHE BEAR =gl
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEEFR AEBTR AEBTR AEBTR AEBTR AEBTT
REVENUE W 1,973,200 = - = = 1,973,200
Cost of sales HERA (1,665,151) 3,264 - - 3,264 (1,661,887)
GROSS PROFIT Z7| 308,049 3264 - - 3264 311,313
Other income and gains Htg AR g 20,258 = = (1,090) (1,090) 19,168
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHES (5,274) - - - - (5,274)
Administrative expenses IEHES (95,478) (3,264) = = (3,264) (98,742)
Loss on disposal of an investment property HERENENESE (1,844) - - - - (1,844)
Fair value losses on investment properties RENEARBEFRE (415) - - - - (415)
Impairment losses on financial assets, net SREEABSEFA (58,326) - (21,305) (221) (21,526) (79,852)
Finance costs EIE I (5,692) - - (1,710) (1,710) (7.402)
Other expenses Hhps (2,089) (380) - (345) (725) (2,814)
Share of profits of: FEfEEA) -
Associates AU\ 175 = 4 = 4 179
Joint ventures GErE 751 = = = = 751
PROFIT BEFORE TAX etaEnER 160,115 (380) (21,301) (3,366) (25,047) 135,068
Income tax expense PSS (36,559) = = (1,497) (1,497) (38,056)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ERER 123556 (380) (21,301) (4,863) (26,544) 97,012
Profit attributable to: THIE B
Owners of the parent SATHEEA 116,819 (380) (21,301) (4,863) (26,564) 90,275
Non-controlling interests FEaKER 6,137 = - - - 6,737
123,556 (380) (21301) (4,863) (26,544) 97,012
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BAREBERREA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS LS RERN
OF THE PARENT
Basic (RMB cent per share) X BRARES) 1373 (0.14) (7.98) (1.82) (9.94) 3379
Diluted (RMB cent per share) % BRARED) 373 0.14) (7.98) (182) (9.94) 3379

Ruisen Life Service Co, Limited Annual Report 2024



2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Restatement of previously issued audited

consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GEHBUER (@

2.2 ScHIENEM

PAREER R

REZZ

WRZEY (@)

RE M

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2023

HENBFIANHLFERSEERAMPERER

Adjustments by category

AR
(i) Certain (ii) Impairment
employees Losson
received Advances to
salariesand  Jing'/An Security  (iv) Advances and
As bonuses paid andshareof  receivables from
previously through result of this HQP Controlled Total As
reported suppliers associate Companies adjustments restated
WEF  (IRRZERR
EEEE BZH
BRBHES HESER  (i)EREET
ZfimEE R e NI
BEER kg WEAFEE REWE BREE HET]
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTR AEBTFT AEBFT AREFT AREFT AEBTT
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Ht2EkE
Other comprehensive income that willnotbe MR BEHAGEHDE
reclassified to profit or loss in EEENEM2 AN
subsequent periods:
Income tax relating to fair value gain on disposal EERHELBHIRENEMN
of a revaluated investment property ARBEREEBNARER
during the year 288 - - - - 288
Exchange differences on translation of HEBIEBZERER
foreign operations 10 - - - - 10
Net other comprehensive income that will notbe FRBERHIER R EEHMHE
reclassified to profit or loss in ERENEM2ENETE
subsequent period 298 - - - - 298
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FREMEENRE
FOR THE YEAR 298 - - - - 298
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FR2ERGEEE
THE YEAR 123,854 (380) (21,301) (4,863) (26,544) 97,310
Total comprehensive income attributable to: ~ FHA T2 ERGEAE :
Owners of the parent SUNGIEZZ=PN 17,117 (380) (21,301) (4,863) (26,544) 90,573
Non-controlling interests AR RS 6,737 = = = = 6,737
123,854 (380) (21,301) (6,863) (26,544) 97,310
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PAFSER RIS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2. BEHEEX®@®

2.2 Restatement of previously issued audited 22 GRIBEGRKRERZESHT
consolidated financial statements (continued) HRERZET (@)
Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023
R2023%F 12831 BRESR & BHORE
Adjustments by category
R
(i) Certain (il) Impairment
employees loss on
received advances to (iii) Advances
salariesand ~ Jing'an Security  andreceivables
As bonuses paid and share of from
previously through resultofthis ~ HQP-Controlled Total As
reported suppliers associate Companies adjustments restated
WVEF  (IRRZRZ
BB B
BRBHES HESE  (i)EKEET
SRS REMLTZ FaINGTE S
BEER b YN REWE BREE &5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AEBTR AEBTR AEBTR AEBTR NS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FrRBEE
Property, plant and equipment - BERZE 93,299 = = = - 93,299
Investment properties K& 131,039 = = (36,074) (36,074) 94,965
Right-of-use assets FEEEE 2,935 = = = = 2,935
Goodwill B 27411 = - - = 27411
Intangible assets EVEE 15,069 - - - - 15,069
Investments in associates REEAFANKE 6,871 = (3,411) = (3,411) 3,460
Investmentsin joint ventures REBELENKE 3,885 - - - - 3,885
Deferred tax assets ELREESE 30,976 = = (554) (554) 30,422
Pledged deposits BHAER 5,196 = = = = 5,196
Total non-current assets FREEELE 316,681 - (3,411) (36,628) (40,039) 276,642
CURRENTASSETS BEE
Inventories =& 9,761 = = = - 9,761
Trade receivables BRENFE 394,732 = = = - 394,732
Due from related companies BB AT E 166,739 = (41,524) (13,902) (55,426) 111313
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  TEfIFUE & R E MRS 112,651 10,807 = = 10,807 123,458
Financial assets at fair value through RANEEGABEN
profit or loss EHBE 26,004 = = = = 26,004
Pledged deposits BHEER 2,716 = = = - 2,716
Restricted cash ZRERE 639 = = = = 639
Cashand cash equivalents RERRLEEY 433,444 - - - - 433,444
Total current assets TEEELE 1,146,686 10,807 (41,524) (13,902) (44,619) 1,102,067
CURRENT LIABILITIES FrE=tE
Trade payables BREMHIE 108,534 = = = - 108,534
Other payables, deposits received and accruals  EfFEFIFIE  EWUR &R
SHEA 291,574 16,390 - 99,781 16,171 407,745
Contract liabilities BHER 392,218 = = = - 392,218
Due to related companies IR ARTE 7,950 - 25,118 - 25,118 33,068
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings st EIRTREMER 64,569 = = = = 64,569
Lease liabilities HEaE 17,79 = - - = 17,79
Tax payable ERRE 35,830 - - 4,617 4,617 40,447
Total current iabilities FBaEEE 918,473 16,390 25,118 104,398 145,906 1,064,379
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Restatement of previously issued audited

consolidated financial statements (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PAREER R

2. BEEEX®

22 KSHIBEGEERZZ
wRZET @)

Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023

12023512831 BRI AR BRI R

RE M

Adjustments by category

HERIEE
(i) Certain (ii) Impairment
employees loss on
received advances to (iii) Advances
salariesand  Jing'an Security  and receivables
As bonuses paid and share of from
previously through resultofthis ~ HQP-Controlled Total As
reported suppliers associate Companies adjustments restated
WET  (IRRZRZ
[k B
BERBHES HESE  (i)EREET
%% E R VNG
BRER e HERRRE RERTE HEBH ET]
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT AREFT AREFRT ANREFT AREFT
NET CURRENT ASSETS TEEESE 228,213 (5,583) (66,642) (118,300) (190,525) 37,488
TOTALASSETSLESSCURRENT LIABILITIES  BEMRERREEE 544,894 (5,583) (70,053) (154,928) (230,564) 314,330
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBaE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 3t BRI R EMAET 25 = = = = 25
Lease liabilities HE&E 41,012 S S = = 41,012
Deferred tax liabilities EHESE 7,103 = = = - 7,103
Total non-current liabilities FRBaBEER 48,360 = = = = 48,360
NET ASSETS BETE 496,534 (5,583) (70,053) (154,928) (230,564) 265,970
EQuITY 1t
Equity attributable to owners of the parent SABEE AELER
Share capital e 2,387 = = = - 2,387
Reserves i 440,645 (5,583) (70,053) (154,928) (230,564) 210,081
443,032 (5,583) (70,053) (154,928) (230,564) 212,468
Non-controlling interests R 53,502 = = = = 53,502
TOTALEQUITY EmiEnE 496,534 (5,583) (70,053) (154,928) (230,564) 265,970
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PAFSER RIS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2. BEHEEX®@®

2.2 Restatement of previously issued audited 22 GRIBEGRKRERZESHT
consolidated financial statements (continued) HRERZET (@)
Consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 January 2023
#2023F1 B1ERREM BRI R
Adjustments by category
R
(i) Certain (il) Impairment
employees loss on
received advances to (iii) Advances
salariesand ~ Jing'an Security  andreceivables
As bonuses paid and share of from
previously through resultofthis ~ HQP-Controlled Total
reported suppliers associate Companies adjustments As restated
WVEF  (IRRZRZ
BB B
BRBHES HESE  (i)ERKEET
SRS RELTZ ERIATIRR
BEER b YN REWE BREE &5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AEBTR AEBTR AEBTR NS S NS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment EN G 89,570 = = = - 89,570
Investment properties RENE 50,794 = = > = 50,794
Right-of-use assets FREEE 7,62 = = = - 7,762
Goodwill CE 27411 - - - = 27411
Intangible assets BYEE 18,732 - - - - 18,732
Investments in associates REEAFNEE 5,649 = (3,415) = (3,415) 2,234
Investmentsin joint ventures REELENRE 3,584 - - - - 3,584
Deferred tax assets EERBEE 14,720 = = (609) (609) 14,111
Pledged deposits BIEAER 1,876 = = = = 1,876
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 220,098 - (3,415) (609) (4,024) 216,074
CURRENTASSETS nHEE
Inventories E& 10,558 = = = - 10,558
Trade receivables ZRREE 342,083 = = = - 342,083
Due from related companies ERERARRE 200,964 = (1,475) (48,655) (50,130) 150,834
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables  BATEUE &R
EfnfelEE 100,473 8,829 = (4,100) 4,729 105,202
Financial assets at fair value through BARBEHARENEHEE
profitor loss 76,434 = = = = 76,434
Pledged deposits [SigcteE 2,101 = = = = 2,101
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRESEN 292,058 - - - - 292,058
Total current assets TEEELE 1,024,671 8,829 (1,475) (52,755) (45,401) 979,270
CURRENT LIABILITIES iU
Trade payables BARATE 75,404 = = = = 75,404
Other payables, deposits received and accruals  EfEIFE ElkER
et ER 287,983 14,032 o 93,636 107,668 395,651
Contract liabilities BHBE 338,194 = = = - 338,194
Due to related companies R RRARNE 13,146 - 43,862 - 43,862 57,008
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings  stEETREMER 112,066 = = = = 112,066
Lease liabilities HEEE 7,822 = = = = 7,822
Tax payable B 20,682 - - 3,065 3,065 23,747
Total current liabilities NEITr ] 855,297 14,032 13,862 96,701 164,595 1,009,892
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IAFSERRIMIE
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. FEEBER@®
2.2 Restatement of previously issued audited 22 SRIEEHREZZESHTE
consolidated financial statements (continued) HRETRZETY (@)
Consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 January 2023
R2023F1 B1R MR EHBMRRE
Adjustments by category
RBRIEE
(i) Certain (ii) Impairment
employees loss on
received advances to (iii) Advances
salariesand  Jing'an Security  and receivables
As bonuses paid and share of from
previously through resultofthis ~ HQP-Controlled Total
reported suppliers associate Companies adjustments As restated
WET  (IRRZRZ
EEFE B
BRBHES HESE  (i)EREET
%% E R VNG
BRER REE  HELRRE RERTE HEBH ET]
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFRT ANREFT AREFT
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) TEHEESE/ GETH 169,374 (5,203) (45,337) (149,456) (199,996) (30,622)
TOTALASSETSLESSCURRENT LIABILITIES ~ BEMEERREEE 389,472 (5,203) (48,752) (150,065) (204,020) 185,452
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBHeE
Interest-bearing bank and otherborrowings st BETREMER 6,480 = = = = 6,480
Lease liabilities HEBE 8,987 = - - - 8,987
Deferred tax liabilities EIERESE 9,029 = = = - 9,029
Total non-current liabilities FrRBaBeE 24,496 = = = = 24,496
NETASSETS BERE 364,976 (5,203) (48,752) (150,065) (204,020) 160,956
EQUITY an
Equity attributable to owners of the parent (SYNGEEZ PN 5o
Share capital e 2,387 = = = - 2,387
Reserves i 322,300 (5,203) (48,752) (150,065) (204,020) 118,280
324,687 (5,203) (48,752) (150,065) (204,020) 120,667
Non-controlling interests FERER 40,289 = = = - 40,289
TOTALEQUITY ] 364,976 (5,203) (48,752) (150,065) (204,020) 160,956

IR EERBEAIRAR 2024 FERS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PAFSER RIS

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Restatement of previously issued audited

consolidated financial statements (continued)

2. BEHEEX®@®
22 GHIBEBEEZZ

WRZEY (@)

Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2023

HEIBERN B EEENGAREESR

L=

Adjustments by category

R
(i) Certain
employees (i) Impairment
received loss on (iii) Advances
salaries and advancesto  and receivables
As bonuses paid Jing'anand from
previously through resultofthis ~ HQP-Controlled Total
reported suppliers associate Companies adjustments As restated
BT  (IHRZRZ
BEEN B
BRBHES HEER  (i)EREET
TfNEE REEZ EHATIRR
BEER RiEE A UNSIES RFEWE BREE e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NS AEBTR AEBTR AEBTR AEBTR AEBTR
AT January 2023 RI023E1A1E 364,976 (5,203) (48,752) (150,065) (204,020) 160,956
Profit for the year ERiEF] 123,556 (380) (21,301) (4,863) (26,544) 97,012
Other comprehensive income for the year FEREMEEANE = = = = = =
Income tax relating to fair value gain on BERLELSHRENEN
disposal of a revaluated investment property AL EEWEEBFER
during the year 288 - - - - 288
Foreign currency translation differences SEREER 10 = = = = 10
Total comprehensive income for the year EREEREEE 123,854 (380) (21,301) (4,863) (26,544) 97,310
Appropriations to statutory surplus reserve BT R EE = = < 2 S =
Transfer investment property revaluation HENEREBRENEER
reserve upon disposal of properties i = = < 2 S =
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERBAR 239 = = = = 2394
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—BHBAR 1,214 - - - - 1,214
Capital contribution from non-controlling FERBRRAEE
shareholders 3,505 o o o - 3,505
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B —ENEARIEERRR
of a subsidiary BE (637) = = = = (637)
Equity-settled share-based payment Mg BRI ABRNTR 1,228 = = = = 1,228
Asat 31 December 2023 20235129318 196,534 (5,683) (70083) (154,928) (230,564) 265,970

Ruisen Life Service Co, Limited Annual Report 2024



2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Restatement of previously issued audited
consolidated financial statements (continued)

2. BEEEX®
22 EHIBEKEERZZ

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PAREER R

WRZEY (@)

Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2023

BENBFIANHLEFENGIRELZDR

RE M

Adjustments by category

R AR
(i) Certain
employees (ii) Impairment
received loss on (iii) Advances
salaries and advances to and receivables
As bonuses paid Jinganand from
previously through resultofthis ~ HQP-Controlled Total
reported suppliers associate Companies adjustments As restated
WET  (IRRZR%
[E=E B
BRBHRES HESE  (i)EKEET
Rt E RFEMEZ b NSTE- A
BEER REe [ NEE= REWHE HREE ]
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NS ANEBTFR AEBTFT AEETT NS NS
Net cash flows generated from operating REEBMERERETH
activities 199,461 = 65,872 (52,416) 13,456 212,917
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) REEBAE/ (F1F)
investing activities RENSFH 3,493 = (65,872) 46,616 (19,256) (15,763)
Net cash flows used in financing activities RERBMAREREFH (61,568) = = 5,800 5,800 (55,768)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERRESEMENFE
EQUIVALENTS 141,386 = = = = 141,386
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning RENRERREEEY
of the year 292,058 o o o = 292,058
CASHAND CASHEQUIVALENTSATENDOF  REARERELSEY
THE YEAR 433,444 = = = = 433 464
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

112

Accounting Standards for the first time for the current year's

financial statements.

Amendments to
IFRS 16

Amendments to
IAS 1

Amendments to
IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 7

and IFRS 7

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the "2020 Amendments”)

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the 2022
Amendments”)

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The nature and the impact of the amended IFRS Accounting
Standards are described below

(a) Amendments to IFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability
arising in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the
seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain
or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. Since
the Group has no sale and leaseback transactions with
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate occurring from the date of initial application of
IFRS 16, the amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group.

BTSRRI
2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. FHEEX®
2.3 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 23 ESHREERIKE
The Group has adopted the following amended IFRS KEBCMEAFEZMBRERE

R T H ST R SRS
) & 5 %8 o

BRI BRS E# LIRS

B E165% &
(1551 )
Bl BB ARSI
158 (1BF] ) FE7E (120206
WJ]J)
PR st 28| W #ZEr 78
”*ﬁ%ﬂm QQHMﬂE
1571)
I&TN+EWJ HEEHELH
758 (1BF] )
T B R B 75
LR HT5E

BRAREERNSETERY S
REEH G ENNEERTE
BN

(a) BB FEHRSERFE63E
(B3T4) AR EE H A
AR EERHERXZESE
Wil EaERMmAMNEX:
LERE AR AT TSR
HFREFEREERBNTM
BRtcBE BHRNAEEEE
REABERY SRS ENE
1658 2 B #E Il 1E {a] 7] £ 7H
BT RNEURR IS EEF)
EWNERRALOR S WEZE
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(continued)

(b)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer settlement
and that a right to defer must exist at the end of
the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise
its right to defer settlement. The amendments also
clarify that a liability can be settled in its own equity
instruments, and that only if a conversion option in a
convertible liability is itself accounted for as an equity
instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current
liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with
future covenants within 12 months after the reporting
period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions
of its liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and
concluded that the classification of its liabilities as
current or non-current remained unchanged upon
initial application of the amendments. Accordingly, the
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements.
The disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’'s liabilities, cash flows
and exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group does not
have supplier finance arrangements, the amendments
did not have any impact on the Group's financial
statements.

2.
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2.3

(b)

2020 1E5] B REI D ERE
RMEBHIFERBNRE > B
BEBBEENNSERR
HHRGBFTLEEER
BENDEFASERITHEH
TE%'JL%E/ﬁﬁE’J—J’*t'Ii{Eﬁ
‘?/E E& 1 DT?T/E_/)%%TEE
AINHE#ER TEEE EE
NP Eh e G SRR
SEARGTAARRK &
BENFERTEXTEHNE-
ZOZZEﬂgD]—;& ﬁ/ﬂ/ﬁ =

MEZHFEENEBEZETR
@EﬂaﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁZ%Z\%\
BETNEETETEEED
BRREE R -BEE
HREHBI12EE NESTARK
RERIFRB B ERETE
MR ER ©

KEBBEEMTEERN2023
FR2026F1B1HEENK
TR EE URBAEBEN
MBI IERBDERENX
FERZEBIIRERTE-
At ZEEITHEAEEN
MR R RIR L AR
%L o

BIFR & st ERFT75% (BT
) F BFR B B R S 2 A9
sl BEHERRME R
EE TERKZELH
TEHEEIMREE - ZFEE] &
BIREE R E S E BN 1 B 3R
REPAETREEIRER
FHERER - REREBR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
P ERR M

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Issued but not yet effective international financial
reporting standards

The Group has not applied the following new and amended
IFRS Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are not
yet effective, in these financial statements. The Group intends
to apply these new and amended IFRS Accounting Standards,
if applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements’®
Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures?®

[FRS 19 and its
amendments

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Amendments to
IFRS 9 and IFRS 7

Amendments to
IFRS 9 and IFRS 7

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to
IFRS 10 and IAS 28

Amendmentsto IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Annual Improvements ~ Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7,
to IFRS Accounting IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS 72
Standards -

Volume 17

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

8 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

Further information about those IFRS Accounting Standards
that are expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Issued but not yet effective international financial
reporting standards (continued)

IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
While a number of sections have been brought forward
from IAS 1 with limited changes, IFRS 18 introduces new
requirements for presentation within the statement of
profit or loss, including specified totals and subtotals.
Entities are required to classify all income and expenses
within the statement of profit or loss into one of the
five categories: operating, investing, financing, income
taxes and discontinued operations and to present two
new defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures about
management-defined performance measures in a single
note and introduces enhanced requirements on the grouping
(aggregation and disaggregation) and the location of
information in both the primary financial statements and the
notes. Some requirements previously included in IAS 1 are
moved to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as IAS 8 Basis of
Preparation of Financial Statements. As a consequence
of the issuance of IFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable,
amendments are made to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows,
IAS 33 Earnings per Share and IAS 34 Interim Financial
Reporting. In addition, there are minor consequential
amendments to other IFRS Accounting Standards. IFRS 18
and the consequential amendments to other IFRS Accounting
Standards are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2027 with earlier application permitted.
Retrospective application is required. The Group is currently
analysing the new requirements and assessing the impact
of IFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the Group's
financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
P ERR M

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Issued but not yet effective international financial
reporting standards (continued)

IFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other
IFRS Accounting Standards. To be eligible, at the end of
the reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary as
defined in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements,
cannot have public accountability and must have a parent
(ultimate or intermediate) that prepares consolidated
financial statements available for public use which comply
with IFRS Accounting Standards. IFRS 19 was amended in
2025 to reduce the previous full disclosure requirements
for new and amended IFRS Accounting Standards issued
between February 2021 and May 2024. Earlier application
is permitted. As the Company is a listed company, it is not
eligible to elect to apply IFRS 19 and its amendments.. Some
of the Company's subsidiaries are considering the application
of IFRS 19 and its amendments in their specified financial
statements.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Issued but not yet effective international financial
reporting standards (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 clarify the date on
which a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised
and introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise
a financial liability that is settled through an electronic
payment system before the settlement date if specified
criteria are met. The amendments clarify how to assess the
contractual cash flow characteristics of financial assets with
environmental, social and governance and other similar
contingent features. Moreover, the amendments clarify
the requirements for classifying financial assets with non-
recourse features and contractually linked instruments.
The amendments also include additional disclosures
for investments in equity instruments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income and financial
instruments with contingent features. The amendments shall
be applied retrospectively with an adjustment to opening
retained profits (or other component of equity) at the initial
application date. Prior periods are not required to be restated
and can only be restated without the use of hindsight. Earlier
application of either all the amendments at the same time or
only the amendments related to the classification of financial
assets is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent Electricity clarify the application of
the "own-use"” requirements for in-scope contracts and
amend the designation requirements for a hedged item in a
cash flow hedging relationship for in-scope contracts. The
amendments also include additional disclosures that enable
users of financial statements to understand the effects these
contracts have on an entity's financial performance and
future cash flows. The amendments relating to the own-
use exception shall be applied retrospectively. Prior periods
are not required to be restated and can only be restated
without the use of hindsight. The amendments relating to
the hedge accounting shall be applied prospectively to new
hedging relationships designated on or after the date of initial
application. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 shall be applied at the same time. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group's financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFEER R MG

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Issued but not yet effective international financial
reporting standards (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a
full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that
do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from
the transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investor's interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to IAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency
and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a
measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The
amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact of
a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application is
permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot
restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of
initially applying the amendments shall be recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or to the
cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated
in a separate component of equity, where appropriate, at the
date of initial application. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Issued but not yet effective international financial
reporting standards (continued)

Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards -
Volume 117 set out amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7 (and the
accompanying Guidance on implementing IFRS 7), IFRS
9, IFRS 10 and IAS 7. Details of the amendments that are
expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

o IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in
paragraph B38 of IFRS 7 and paragraphs IG1, IG14
and IG20B of the Guidance on implementing IFRS 7 for
the purpose of simplification or achieving consistency
with other paragraphs in the standard and/or with the
concepts and terminology used in other standards. In
addition, the amendments clarify that the Guidance on
implementing IFRS 7 does not necessarily illustrate all
the requirements in the referenced paragraphs of IFRS
7 nor does it create additional requirements. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.

o IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify
that when a lessee has determined that a lease liability
has been extinguished in accordance with IFRS 9, the
lessee is required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of IFRS 9
and recognise any resulting gain or loss in profit or
loss. In addition, the amendments have updated certain
wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of IFRS 9 and Appendix
A of IFRS 9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

2.5

Issued but not yet effective international financial
reporting standards (continued)

o IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described in
paragraph B74 of IFRS 10 is just one example of various
relationships that might exist between the investor and
other parties acting as de facto agents of the investor,
which removes the inconsistency with the requirement
in paragraph B73 of IFRS 10. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.

. IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments
replace the term "cost method” with "at cost” in
paragraph 37 of IAS 7 following the prior deletion of
the definition of “cost method". Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any impact on the Group's financial statements.

Material accounting policies
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to
measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and
a substantive process that together significantly contribute to
the ability to create outputs.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it has significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group's share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that
may exist. The Group's share of the post-acquisition results
and other comprehensive income of associates and joint
ventures is included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity
of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its
share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Group and its
associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group's investments in the associates or joint ventures,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included
as part of the Group's investments in associates or joint
ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFEER R MG

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Materialaccounting policies (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and financial
assets at fair value at the end of each reporting period.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant's ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
assetin its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
awhole) at the end of the reporting period.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial
assets, investment properties and non-current assets/
a disposal group classified as held for sale), the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset's or cash-generating unit's
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion
of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a
headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises (only if there are revalued assets
in the financial statements), unless the asset is carried
at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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PAFSERRMITE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)
Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that person'’s
family and that person:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

isa member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group oran
entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is @ member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant
and equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is
part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not
depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with IFRS
5. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location forits intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 4.75%

Office equipment, electronic 9.5%-32.33%
and other devices

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease

terms and 10%-20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year/period the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFEER R MG

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation. Such properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair
value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the year
in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the
year of the retirement or disposal.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-
occupied property becomes an investment property, the
Group accounts for such property in accordance with the
policy stated under "Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation” for owned property, and any difference at that
date between the carrying amount and the fair value of the
property is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with
IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Software

Software is stated at cost less any impairment loss and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful
life of 5 years.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Customer relationships

Purchased customer relationships are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 8 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset fora period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings 2 to 9 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated
using the estimated useful life of the asset.

When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of
investment property, it is included in investment
properties. The corresponding right-of-use asset is
initially measured at cost, and subsequently measured
at fair value, in accordance with the Group's policy for
"investment properties”.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFEER R MG

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual
value guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties
for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on anindex or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of venues and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets
to leases of office equipment and printers that are
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessaor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each component on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income
is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is included in revenue in profit or loss due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee
are accounted for as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, at fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFEER R MG

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest ("SPPI") on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual
cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held
within the aforementioned business models are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest rate (EIR) method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

The Group's financial assets at amortised cost includes
cash and bank balances, trade receivables, financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, and
amounts due from related companies.

2.

TR @)
25 J|AREETHEEK @)

REREMERHEE (@)

LR R 51 2 ()
RHETMEERBENAIER
AEESAEMEZERDETS
BRstE REEMBERSMUE
ERAEERTHFNE (MRS
INAEERFEL) WRERE
R MBI IFAERF A A E KA
BHERMEE TwEEBEN
i R ARBESABERS
BREtEe

FEREESTMEENEHEREN
EHMPERHEEMEENESE
REREBNAN - EHERAETE
ReRERSKBEWRESHRE
ME HESHMEE IAME R
BE-REBEHEAADERSAEZS
MEEDRUFASRMEELU
RENRERERBNZEHE
ARFAE MEAABESTAH
thEER@ T BERABZEME
EURBRENRERERBEER
BRNZEBRAAFTAE - LRRN
AMEBREANTAEZEREE
BARBESFAED D E KR

o

]

N ETHMEEAREEN
EBHRENHBARZNE
N5 H (BIAREEAER
SNHEBEENBH) ER -

™

o W T

02t 3

\

whEHE
SHEENEETBIARES
|0

ffy“#j%’/i?zt FTEHEMEE (187
IA
REBHNASGENEMEERR
ERAERME (BERMX) At
B TWrRERBETE -BHER
IEFESB N ME ST BURE R » W K &S
BRIBm PR

FERZBHENAFTENERE
EGERERIRTHEG BAE
WRIES StARAN B - RERHE
B WCRIERY & B & E U B
)i UNSIE/ O



2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on the equity investments are also recognised as
other income in profit or loss when the right of payment has
been established.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a "pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When
it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset
to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement. In that
case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on
a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group
has retained.
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PAFEER R MG

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers there has been a significant increase in
credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject
to impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs.

Stage1 -

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Stage?2 -

Stage3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal

to lifetime ECLs.

Simplified approach

For trade receivables the Group applies a simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at the end of the reporting period.
For trade receivables with third parties, the Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables from related parties, the calculation
of ECL was based on the credit risk characteristics of
counterparty, referring an assessment of the probability of
default and forward-looking information, including general
economic conditions was considered. Management has
engaged a qualified independent valuer to assist them in ECLs
modelling and calculation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFEER R MG

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and in the case of financial liabilities not at fair value through
profit or loss, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables,
financial liabilities included in other payables, deposits
received and accruals, amounts due to related companies and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit
or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories, comprise goods and consumables which are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on the first-in, first-out basis, and in the case
of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion
and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group's cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate
asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.
The expense relating to a provision is presented in profit or
loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFEER R MG

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of the reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFEER R MG

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it
isintended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until
it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal
in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in IFRS
15.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a) Provision of property management services
Revenue from the provision of property management
services is recognised over the scheduled period
on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.

(b) Provision of value-added services

The value-added services include decoration and
construction service, fitness service, sales assistance
services, catering service and other value-added
services. Revenue from decoration and construction
service, fitness service, engineering service quality
monitoring services and landscaping services are
recognised over the scheduled period of time because
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group. Revenue from the
catering service and other value-added services is
recognised when the relevant services are rendered.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders' right
to receive payment has been established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFEER R MG

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as
an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to
satisfy) performance obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to
profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the
asset relates. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Share-based payments

The Group operates share option schemes. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration in exchange for equity instruments
("equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which
they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are
givenin note 31 to the financial statements.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end
of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group's
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead
to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also
service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments,
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at
the date of modification. Where an equity-settled award
is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of
cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the
award is recognised immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFEER R MG

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Other employee benefits

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate
in Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the central pension scheme. The non-PRC employees
are covered by other defined contribution pension plans
sponsored by the respective local governments.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e. assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs
consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period,
but prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about
conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period, it
will assess whether the information affects the amounts that
it recognises in its financial statements. The Group will adjust
the amounts recognised in its financial statements to reflect
any adjusting events after the reporting period and update
the disclosures that relate to those conditions in light of the
new information. For non-adjusting events after the reporting
period, the Group will not change the amounts recognised
in its financial statements, but will disclose the nature of
the non-adjusting events and an estimate of their financial
effects, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made,
if applicable.
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2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Material accounting policies (continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements. Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed
and declared, because the Company’'s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in RMB. The
functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong Dollars
("HKD") because the Group's principal operations are carried
out in Chinese Mainland. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences
are attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of
a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFEER R MG

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Property lease classification - Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined, based
on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements,
such as the lease term not constituting a major part of the economic
life of the commercial property and the present value of the
minimum lease payments not amounting to substantially all the fair
value of the commercial property, that it retains substantially all
the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of these
properties which are leased out and accounts for the contracts as
operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making that
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers
whether a property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a
portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and
another portion that is held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these
portions could be sold separately or leased out separately under
a finance lease, the Group accounts for the portions separately.
If the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis
to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are disclosed below:

Provision for expected credit losses on financial assets

The Group uses a provision matrix and probability of default to
calculate ECLs for trade receivables and receivables from related
parties, respectively. For trade receivables from third parties, the
calculation of ECLs was based on the Group's historical ageing
profile of the receivables and an adjustment of forward-looking
information including general economic conditions. The provision
rates are based on the Group's historical ageing of receivables for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns.

For receivables from related companies, the calculation of ECLs
was based on the credit risk characteristics of the counterparty,
referring to continued downward movement of market conditions
in the real estate industry, and assessment of forward-looking
information, including general economic conditions and operation
risk of counterparty.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of a customer's actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's
trade receivables and due from related companies are disclosed in
note 23 and note 36 to the financial statements.

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate ("IBR")
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a
similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group "would have to
pay", which requires estimation when no observable rates are
available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms
and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary's functional currency). The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates
(such as the subsidiary's stand-alone credit rating).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFEER R MG

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate
of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units
and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
at 31 December 2024 was RMB27,411,000 (2023: RMB27,411,000).
Further details are given in note 16 to the financial statements.

Estimate of fair value of investment properties

Investment properties carried at fair value were revalued at each
reporting date based on the appraised market value provided by
independent professional valuers. Such valuations were based on
certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and might
materially differ from the actual results. In making the estimation,
the Group considers information from current prices in an active
market for similar properties and uses assumptions that are mainly
based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting
period.

The principal assumptions for the Group's estimation of the
fair value include those related to estimated rental values with
reference to the current market rents for similar properties in
the same location and condition, appropriate capitalisation rates
and expected profit margin. The carrying amount of investment
properties at 31 December 2024 was RMB83,548,000 (2023:
RMB94,965,000). Further details, including the key assumptions
used for fair value measurement and a sensitivity analysis, are
given in note 14 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and carryforward of unused tax credits and unused
tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses
can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable
profits together with future tax planning strategies. Further details
are included in note 20 to the financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of property
management services and value-added services.

IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments to be
identified on the basis of internal reporting about components
of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating
decision-maker in order to allocate resources to segments and to
assess their performance. The information reported to the directors
of the Company, who are the chief operating decision-makers, for
the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of performance,
does not contain discrete operating segment financial information
and the directors reviewed the financial results of the Group as
a whole. Therefore, no further information about the operating
segment is presented.

Geographical information

No further geographical information is presented as the Group's
revenue from the external customers is derived solely from its
operation in Chinese Mainland and no non-current assets of the
Group are located outside Chinese Mainland.

Information about major customers

No sales to a single customer or a group of customers under
common control accounted for 10% or more of the Group's revenue
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. W&~ Ht A Rz
An analysis of revenue is as follows: W™
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETT
Revenue from contracts with customers FKEEE SAHI 7 1,946,985 1,965,085
Revenue from other sources L Y=R=4iut Y0l €
Gross rentalincome from investment REREMELESHEN
property operating leases: IR -
Lease payments, including fixed HEN > BIEEE N
payments 8,709 8,115
1,955,694 1,973,200
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFR NN E
(a) Disaggregated revenue information: (a) WEmaEHEN
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETT
Types of goods or services I ARFS IR
Property management services MEEERE 1,585,669 1,536,723
Value-added services BERTS 361,316 428,362
Total revenue from contracts with REREFR G GmIEEE
customers 1,946,985 1,965,085
Timing of revenue recognition St 2 T 520 Y R ]
Recognised over time R —ER B R 1,749,399 1,758,937
Recognised at a point in time RE— R FERD 197,586 206,148
Total revenue from contracts with KEEF XN RILEE
customers 1,946,985 1,965,085
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a)

(b)

Disaggregated revenue information: (continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were included
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting
period:

5.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Weas ~ E AU A R W a (48)
REEREHNNE (&

(a)

WD EE (@)

TRBETNAREHBEARERE
RIMEBIUEINASGHEBEZIW
M EE

2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFTT
Revenue recognised that was PRSI A SN EER
included in contract liabilities at B
the beginning of the reporting
period:
Property management services MEEERT 366,323 312,669
Value-added services BER 22,855 25,525
Performance obligations (b) EBHOEE

Information about the Group's performance obligations is
summarised below:

Property management services

The Group recognises revenue over the scheduled period on
a straight-line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.
The Group either bills in advance a fixed amount which is
due upon issuance of demand notes or bills on a monthly
or quarterly basis for services provided which is due upon
issuance of invoices.
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5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(b)

Performance obligations (continued)

Value-added services

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time,
when (or as) the Group satisfies performance obligations
by transferring the promised goods or services to its
customers. Service income for the provision of repair and
maintenance and other equipment upgrade services is
received in accordance with the terms of the relevant contract
agreements, normally within 60 days from the issuance of
payment requests. Other value-added service income is due
for payment upon the issuance of demand notes.

Since the Group has no significant unsatisfied performance
obligations arising from revenue contracts that have
an original expected duration of more than one year,
management of the Company has applied the practical
expedient under IFRS 15 and does not disclose the aggregate
amount of the transaction price allocated to the performance
obligations that are unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied at 31
December 2024 and 2023.
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2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARHEFTT
(Restated)
Gs=2pl))
Other income and gains H AU A R Yz
Government grants (a) e (a) 11,925 13,457
Gain on disposal of HE—FWBARE
a subsidiary = 2,618
Interest income ) B WA 1,184 1,489
Investment income KEWA 923 977
Fair value gains on financial BAnBEFABEmL
assets at fair value through EMEEZ ANEBEKR
profit or loss = 4
Others HAh 855 629
14,887 19,168

(a) Various government received by the Group the
reporting period primarily comprised the excellence
awards granted by local authorities for outstanding
property management services and the industry
development funds provided by local authorities to
support sectoral growth. There are no unfulfilled
conditions or other contingencies attached to these
grants.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR ER RIS

PRIRAT (B518) a7
AEBENFRA (518) /HFAI DD

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6.

The Group's (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting):

bR/ GIA) U TFEEBER !

2024 2023
20245 2023
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
Mzt AR®TT ARETFT
(Restated)
(&)
Cost of services provided BRI A 1,050,666 1,070,397
Cost of inventories consumed BHETFERA 38,772 44,928
Depreciation of items of property, ME- -BEMEEEETE
plant and equipment 13 35,798 34,502
Amortisation of intangible assets BB ESH 17 3,804 4,190
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 15 2,396 4,827
Auditors' remuneration 1% BB B 6,230 2,000
Employee benefit expense (Including  BEBMEY (BEESEK
directors’ and chief executive's REITEAEHHM)
remuneration):
Wages and salaries ITEMN#HS 496,050 554,705
Social welfare benefits HEEHE 31,680 33,914
Equity-settled share-based MG E LD
expense AEREY 31 446 1,228
Pension scheme contributions BESETAER
(defined contribution scheme)** (REMRRETE) ** 57,731 61,801
585,907 651,648
Lease payments not included in the Rt AHEAGHE
measurement of lease liabilities HEE™R 15 13,057 8,786
Impairment of financial assets, net: TRBEERERE !
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 W IERE 23 32,327 13,799
Impairment of due from related FEUS B A B RIRRE
companies 23 57,986 65,780
Impairment of financial assets STATEMRIENRE R
included in prepayments, HAEWERIER
deposits and other receivables EREERE 24 14,586 273
Impairment of parking lots deposits FEAREHE 36 53,701 =
Changes in fair value of investment KEMEARNBEES
properties 14 19,418 415
Loss on disposal of an investment HE—IBREYEER
property - 1,844
Gain on disposal of items of property, ~ HEYE -BERREBEN
plant and equipment Wz (71) (177)
Gain on disposal of leases HERLOW R 15 (91) -
Gain on disposal of joint venturesand ~ HE&SE P ERBE AT E
associates (123) =
Loss/(Gain) on disposal of HEWBATEIE, Ukm)
subsidiaries 3,181 (2,618)

*

The amortisation of intangible assets for the year is included in

"Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

*x There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the
employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

*k
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M ERRMIE
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BAFERA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MBI -
2024 2023
20245 20234
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
B 5 AREETT ARETT
(Restated)
(#RE5)
Interest on bank and other RIT R H AT S
borrowings 2,366 5,528
Interests on lease liabilities HESBHE 15(h) 1,991 1,874
4,357 7,402
8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EFEKRESITHAEHM
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed R EmRA S FEQTEGIZE383(1)
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of (a)~ (b))~ () m(MERAR REEE
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies FMENER) ROEB2HMBEBEBNEFEE
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, EERESTHASFHFMNAOT :
is as follows:
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREETT AR®T T
(Restated)
(#RE5)
Fees ok 703 737
Other emoluments: HApE -
Salaries, allowances and e R REYEN
benefits in kind 1,324 1,693
Performance related bonuses* FRIRHMGTEAL™ - 1,678
Equity-settled share-based expense Migama B UGN 2
EifR (84) 324
Pension scheme contributions and BEEEEIHAK
social welfare HEEF 456 798
2,399 5,230
@ Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus * KABETHITESERESIEANR
payments which are determined as a percentage of the profit after tax of TEANREREERRBRINE—5
the Group. DEEEE-
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DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

REMUNERATION (continued)

During the year, no new share options were granted. The fair value
amount of share options granted in prior years, which has been

recognised in profit or loss during the current yearis included in the
above directors’ and chief executive's remuneration disclosures.

Year ended 31 December 2024

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR ER RIS

8. EFRERSITHASHM @

FA WERHEAMBRE - BESF
ERHEERAFERmPREIBHE
RENARBESLES A LXFIIKE

NEERREITBRABFHRMA -

HE2024F12A31HLEEE

Pension
Salaries, scheme
allowances  Performance Equity-settled contributions
and benefits related  share-based and social Total
in kind bonuses expense welfare remuneration
A MigmgE  BEEiE
b= 3054 R URHAER (5053
g BEMER fE4I :0fE3E2 HERER A st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBETT AREBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Executive directors: HITES:
- Mr. Xie Chenguang (i) —HEHLE) 80 - - = = 80
- Mr. Pan Xiaohu (ii) — BRI () 80 - - - - 80
= Mr. Li Chunling (iii) —FHR L) = 1,158 = (57) 356 1,457
- Ms. Huang Xuemei (iv) —-BEELL(v) - 166 - (27) 100 239
Non-executive directors: FHITES
- Mr. Huang Qingping —BETRE 80 - - - - 80
- Mr. Yao Ning —hERE 80 - - - = 80
= Mr. Zhang Mingming (v) —REBAAZ L (v) 2 - - - = 2
- Mr. ZhuLi (v) —RNEEW) 2 - - - - 2
Independent non-executive  BIUIFRITESE
directors:
- Mr. Mao Ning —FERE 80 - - - - 80
- Mr. Li Yougen —FRIREE 80 = = = - 80
- Mr. Chow Siuhang —BkERE 219 = = = = 219
703 1,324 = (84) 456 2,399

IR EERBEAIRAR 2024 FERS
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AR ERER IS

8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (continued)

8. EFRERSITHASHM @

Year ended 31 December 2023 HZE2023FE12831HIEEE
Pension
Salaries, scheme
allowances  Performance  Equity-settled  contributions
and benefits related  share-based and social Total
Fees inkind bonuses expense welfare  remuneration
e DRGRE  BEEHE
Ly KE#H URNAER AR
itk BYER TE4 i HEREF AR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBTR AREFR ARETR ARETRT ARETR
Executive Directors: HITES .
- Mr. Li Chunling —FEREL
(Restated) (iii) (=5 (iii) - 1,196 633 218 494 2,541
- Ms. Huang Xuemei 5B/ et
(Restated) (iv) (& E5)) (iv) - 497 1,045 106 304 1,952
Non-executive Directors: FHTES:
- Mr. Huang Qingping —BETRE 80 = = = = 80
- Mr. Xie Chenguang (i) —#EAIE () 80 = - - _ 80
- Mr. Ma Baohua (vi) —ERERE M) 73 = = = - 73
= Mr. Zhu Li (v) —KNEEWN) 73 - - - - 73
- Mr. Yao Ning —fhERE 27 = = = = 27
- Mr. Pan Xiaohu (ii) —BER L) 27 - = - - 27
Independent non-executive BUFHTES:
Directors:
- Mr. Mao Ning —ZERE 80 = = = = 80
- Mr. Li Yougen —ZRIR%EE 80 = = = = 80
- Mr. Chow Siuhang —BkiBkE 217 = - - _ 217
131 1,693 1,678 324 798 5,230

(i) Mr. Xie Chenguang redesignated as an executive Directorin June 2024.

(i) Mr. Pan Xiaohu redesignated as an executive Director in December 2024.
(i)~ Mr. Li Chunling was removed from the Board in June 2024,

(iv)  Ms. Huang Xuemei retired as an executive Director in June 2024.

(v) Ms. Zhang Mingming was appointed as a non-executive Director in

December 2024. Mr. Zhu Li resigned in November 2023 and then was
reappointed as a non-executive director in December 2024.

(vi)  Mr. Ma Baohua resigned as a non-executive Director in November 2023.

There was no arrangement under which a Director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year (2023: Nil).
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(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

RER BEEENRST

BRIAAER202LFFBERRNITES

EERAER2020F12BBERRITE
=o

EEBEEN20LFEAWEREESE
}%0

BEBLLR2024FEREERITES-
REBBAL L2024 F 1 2B LR EAIER
TEE-RIEENR2023F1MB BT
HBR202LENARENRSEAIENT
BHo

EREHLENR2023FE11B B EIENTT
BHEo

WA BWE

7
HE B REEAFENE ZHE (20234 :

—
4HE) o
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
one director (2023: two directors). Details of those directors'’
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2023: three)
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR ER RIS

LamEHMES

FROoLRsFHESRE—RES
(20235 : MBER) - EEHMFE
B L8 WIFAATEERE
ETBRABNRSHMESNHGTR
(2023 : =%) WERFMFFENOT

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AR®ET T
(Restated)
(BeE5)
Salaries, allowances and benefits inkind i EEL KR BEYEF] 1,588 1,222
Performance-related bonuses FRIRHIHTEAL 1,547 2,296
Equity-settled share-based expense Mg A H ARG 15 75 B HERY
sz 156 182
Pension scheme contributions and BEETEHAREERH
social welfare 887 840
4,178 4,540

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

HNF T BENFESTNRSH
MESHENT :

Number of employees
BEA#

2023
2023%F
(Restated)
(&)
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z£%1,000,00058 7T 3 -
HKS$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001787c%2,000,0007& 7T 1 3
4 3

During the year, no new share options were granted. The fair value
amount of share options granted in prior years, which has been
recognised in profit or loss during the current year is included
in the above non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees' remuneration disclosures.

FR UERHFTERE - BEFEE
HEERAFERT PRBAOBRE
NWAnBESES A LXFIRENIT
FEETHRSITHRABNRS N
BEFHMA -

IR EERBEAIRAR 2024 FERS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR ERER IS

10.

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in which members
of the Group are domiciled and operate. Pursuant to the rules and
regulations of the Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands, the
Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and British Virgin Islands are not subject to any income tax. The
Group's subsidiary incorporated in Hong Kong was not liable for
income tax as it did not have any assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).

PRC corporate income tax has been provided at the rate of 25%
(2023: 25%) on the taxable profits of the Group's PRC subsidiaries
for the year. Some subsidiaries are qualified as small low-profit
enterprises and subject to a tax rate of 5% (2023: 5%) for the year.

10.

FRig#i

AEBBRASERREATEETME
KREFMIERBIRBEEIREZ
LR EHENRFIREREEMMAT
BR -BEREHENAEBRELHEEDN
RAKRER AXRBDRERHEREEK
HBERZEEFMRINKEBASSE
BN RIS c AEBNEBEM
LM B A B B EBMFTER  AA
ZANTEHE2024F12831HIEEET
EREBEETMEZRHREF (2023
FE) e

MECEFRERIDBEAEREN TR
B B AR E R FERR IR B A LR F25%
(20234 : 25%) sTiREsE - BT B
NEWRELR/NEEF BEE FRE
$85% (20234 : 5%) BT KR o

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR¥F T
(Restated)
Gee=zl)
Current tax: BPEATRIA :
PRC corporate income tax FRE > 2PTER 42,460 56,005

Deferred tax (note 20) IEIERRTE (MY5E20) (33,710) (17,949)
Total tax charge for the year FARIES H4E%E 8,750 38,056
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10.

11.

INCOME TAX (continued)

10.

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit before
tax at the statutory rate for the jurisdictions in which the Company
and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the income tax
expense at the effective income tax rate is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR ER RIS

FRiGIR (@

AN B R AR B MY 8 A B) 55 P A2
B AR EAER R EHRKRANES
MERHMSRAEARERMAER
KBRS MASHIRWT ¢

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®ETT AREFTT
(Restated)
Gs=2pl))
(Loss)/profit before tax FRiRET (B518) &R (11,828) 135,068
At the statutory income tax rate (25%) WA ERBINER(25%) 5t & (2,957) 33,767
Lower tax rate for specific companies 75 1% BA LS E A B 18 MR RY
enacted by local authorities BRIERE (863) (3,464)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of BT EAERBIEAIRIE
previous periods {ELHEAEE = 276
Profits and losses attributable to joint BELERBME NS EHER]
ventures and associates g (385) (218)
Expenses not deductible for tax Bk 12,684 8,615
Tax losses utilised from previous periods BT HIRIENAMIIRFSES1E (1,135) (515)
Deductible temporary differences not E O
recognised BFELE 34 36
Withholding taxes on distributable profits BB A 5 7] 433K A Y
of the subsidiaries in the PRC AR - (942)
Tax losses not recognised REEDIRIERE 602 501
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate BRAEEERREAER
MIEER 8,750 38,056
DIVIDENDS 11. RE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFIT
(Restated)
(Ges=2l))

Special dividend - HK$0.124 (2023: Nil)
Per ordinary shares

FRIRE -8R EER 1248 7T

(2023% : #®)

30,020 -

IR EERBEAIRAR 2024 FERS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M ERRMIE

11. DIVIDENDS (continued) 11. BRE @
On 22 February 2024, the Board of Directors has approved to R2024F28 228  EXGHERER
declare a special dividend to the shareholders of the Company 0.124B MR RN E KRS IKEFR K
at the rate of HKS$0.124 per share, which amounted to a total B #%EA33,127,0008 T (AR
of HK$33,127,000 (approximately RMB30,020,000). As at 31 30,020,00070) ©fR2024512831H0 »
December 2024, the aggregate amount of HK$23,988,000 ERHDIKE 123,988,000 7t (A
(RMB21,557,000) had been fully distributed, while the unpaid E#21,557,0007T) @ MRk 32
portion of HK$9,139,000 (RMB8,463,000) was classified as 9,139,00078 7t (AR 18,463,0007T)
dividends payable included in "Other payables, deposits received HARMRE ST AGREMBRIE
and accruals” in the consolidated statement of financial position. THMENRE BWiEe REFTE

R
12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12. BAREE#EFEARGESR

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
267,152,000 (2023:267,152,000).

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share
amounts presented for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
Nil) in respect of a dilution as the impact of the share option
outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings per
share amount presented.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based
on:

B#

SREABAZSEDNENRZILADTE
BEAFRBEABGERN G REER
NN ¥980267,152,0008% (20234 :
267,152,0008%) 5T & -

BARERTHEERESFFZHNER
BEARNSEARBENE FILW
KR EEE E2024F1283181EF
EFR27NESREREN SEEHAE
(20234 : ) o

BEREFTRBERMOSAETLER

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT ARETTT
(Restated)
Gs==pl))
Earnings gl
Profit attributable to ordinary equity ARsTEESREARMNE A
holders of the parent used in the basic B EEEmITAE AEERT
earnings per share calculation (26,664) 90,275
Number of shares
RDEE
2023
20234
Shares 1%
Weighted average number of ordinary ARt EEREARFNERN
shares in issue during the year used in BT ERMET I
the basic earnings per share calculation 267,152,000 267,152,000
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR ER RIS

13. ¥IE - -BEKRRE

Office
equipment,
electronic
and other Leasehold
Buildings devices  improvements
WAZRE
EFRER
BF Hithnfs2s g i@t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETT AR¥ETT
31 December 2024 20245F12831H
At1 January 2024: 120241818 ¢
Cost Hik 2,639 100,620 64,448 189,907
Accumulated depreciation and RetinERAE
impairment (2,457) (57,860) (36,291) (96,608)
Net carrying amount IREFE 22,182 42,960 28,157 93,299
At1January 2024, net of accumulated 202451 B18 » bRt
depreciation and impairment MERAE 22,182 42,960 28,157 93,299
Additions HE 931 10931 16,075 21,937
Disposals HE = (597) - (597)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—BHRBAR 34 - (4,852) (8,457) (13,309)
Depreciation provided FRITERE
during the year 6 (1,174) (20,028) (14,596) (35,798)
At 31 December 2024, net of R202412831H B RS
accumulated depreciation and TERAE
impairment 21,939 28,414 21,179 71,532
At31 December 2024: 20245128318 :
Cost A 25,570 113,133 72,067 210,770
Accumulated depreciation and RetinERAE
impairment (3,631) (84,719) (50,888) (139,238)
Net carrying amount SREFE 21,939 28,414 21,179 71,532

IR EERBEAIRAR 2024 FERS
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AR ERER IS

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

13. ¥IE -BERRE @

Office
equipment,
electronic
and other Leasehold
Buildings devices  improvements Total
WMAERE
EFHRER
BF EiER HERE &gt
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HiyzE AREFT ARBFTT AREFT ARETFT
31 December 2023 2023%12831H
At1 January 2023: R20BFIRIR
Cost Mk 23,638 82,376 45,077 151,291
Accumulated depreciation and REHTERAE
impairment (1,315) (37,257) (23,149) (61,721)
Net carrying amount REFE 22,523 45119 21,928 89,570
At1January 2023, net of accumulated R2023F1818 %R
depreciation and impairment WERAE 22,523 45119 21,928 89,570
Additions FE 801 17,083 20,659 38,543
Disposals HE - (342) - (342)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWBRE 34 - (1) - (1)
Acquisition of subsidiaries e B AR = 41 = 41
Depreciation provided ERITEERE
during the year 6 (1,142) (18,930) (14,430) (34,502)
At 31 December 2023, net of R20235128318 MR EsHAT
accumulated depreciation and ERRE
impairment 22,182 42,960 28,157 93,299
At31 December 2023: #2023 128318
Cost Bk 24,639 100,820 64,448 189,907
Accumulated depreciation and REHTERAE
impairment (2,457) (57,860) (36,291) (96,608)
Net carrying amount REFE 22,182 42,960 28,157 93,299

At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group's buildings with a
net carrying amount of approximately RMB18,551,000 (2023:
21,542,000) were pledged to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group. At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group's
office equipment, electronic and other devices with a net carrying
amount of Nil (2023: RMB8,540,000) were pledged to secure other
borrowings granted to the Group (note 29).
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14.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR RMIEE
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. EYE
2024 2023
20245 20234
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
g AR®BTT AREBFT
(Restated)
(EET))

Carrying amount at 1 January R1B1BZREE 94,965 50,794
Additions wE 9,891 52,066
Disposals HE (1,890) (7,480)
Net loss from a fair value adjustment ‘A A EE AR FEE 6 (19,418) (415)
Carrying amount at 31 December R12A31HZEREE 83,548 94,965

The Group's investment properties consist of commercial
properties, residential properties and car park spaces located
in Chinese Mainland, and were revalued on 31 December 2024
based on valuations performed by Asia-Pacific Consulting and
Appraisal Limited, independent professionally qualified valuers.
The Group's chief financial officer and property manager decide,
after approval from the directors of the Company, to appoint which
external valuer to be responsible for the external valuations of the
Group's properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge,
reputation, independence and whether professional standards
are maintained. The Group's chief financial officer and property
manager have discussions with the valuer on the valuation
assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is performed
forannual financial reporting.

The investment properties were leased to third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which are included in
note 15 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group owned car park space with an
aggregate carrying amount of RMB4,749,000 (2023: 3,934,000)
without ownership certificates.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's investment properties
with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB10,133,000 (2023:
RMB25,367,000) were pledged to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 29).

AEBOREYERTEAMBIEE
MEEEYEREEMAUAEMR > 522024
F12ANAH REDAFEHEBERLD
B (B FXSRGEENM) EEEST
B -BAADEFHER ~EEHT
FUBERNEERMAEEHFES
AEBEYEIBEERINEDEER
ERECQEDSNE BB - BIMER
ERMFREEKE TETEEMHR
SHEER AEBEEMBERDE
EEMAGEMN REERRKREE
AER

REVERBECEHEETE="H
EASEESTN SR e AR

R2024F12B3 1 H "EBHENE
BEAREEGEAAREL749,0005T
(20234 : AR#83,934,0007z) » miE
EBER

2024128310 AEBBREE
A ANR110,133,00070 (20234 : AR
#25,367,00070) BB EDIRMT
AREBEREN—RIBTRERMEE
(MEE29) o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR ERER IS

14.
Fair value hierarchy

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14.

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group's investment properties:

REWME @
[REERER

TRAVEAEBREYEQAEES
BE®:

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2024 using

Quoted prices
in active
markets
(Level 1)

RMB'000
AR%TT

Recurring fair value measurement for

REMRAEEE

Significant
observable
inputs
((E9))
BEX
AEg
WASE
(E=#H)
RMB'000
AREFT

120245E12R31 B R AR BENE

Significant
unobservable
inputs

(T K))
EDN
FrIEE
WA BUE
(BE=%H)
RMB'000
AR¥ETT

a5t
RMB'000
AR%TT

Commercial properties HEME - - 70,682 70,682

Residential properties and car park FEMEREEN
spaces = = 12,866 12,866
; - 83,548 83,548

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2023 using

R2023F 12331 BRAREEHE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level3) Total
N BX EZpA
JER ™IS Gl Gk
BE BAHE WA IS
E—H) (€t ) E=HR) Hest
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR AREF T AREFT AR
(Restated)
(&5
Recurring fair value measurement for REMANEENS
Commercial properties HEME = = 86,305 86,305
Residential properties and car park FEYEREEN
spaces - - 8,660 8,660
- - 94,965 94,965

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3

(2023: Nil).
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14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14.

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, reconciliation of fair value measurements
categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M ERRMIE

KREYME @®

[REERSR @

12024128318 DR A AEBES
BMAB =R A EEFENHRN
e

Residential
properties
Commercial and car park
properties spaces
FEMER
HEME {SE{
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARETFT
((RESEIED)
(RE5)
Carrying amount at 1 January 2023 7202351 B1BAREE 38,289 12,505
Additions B 48,132 3,934
Disposals HE - (7,480)
Fair value changes recognised in RBmERN AN EEEE
profit or loss (116) (299)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2023 R2023F12H31H &
and 1 January 2024 20241 B1HEREE 86,305 8,660
Additions RE - 9,891
Disposals HE = (1,890)
Fair value changes recognised in PIBm RN AR EEEE)
profit or loss (15,623) (3,795)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2024 12024512831 HVEREE 70,682 12,866

IR EERBEAIRAR 2024 FERS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR ERER IS

14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key

inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

Commercial properties

[EESVES

Valuation techniques

fHETIR

Income capitalisation method

WABR(ER %

14. IREYE @
NREBERK @)

TXBRENEEEEBOEERN

REEZHAEME:

Significant unobservable inputs

EXRIBRHAE

Estimated rental value
(persg.m. and per month)

fhstREE BYAKRER)

Range or weighted average

EEHMETFI9H
2024 2023
2023
(Restated)
(A5 E551)

pliyl%:3

RMB31~207 RMB31~219

AREIE20IT AREIE297T

Capitalisation rate 5.8% 5.5%
BEA(EX
Commercial properties Comparison method Estimated unit price RMB14,000 RMB16,604
(persg.m.)
[EEZYES HEBE L BAER BEAR AEB14,0000  ARE16,6047T
Residential properties Income capitalisation method Estimated rental value RMB48 RMB48~61
(persg.m. and per month)
FENE WABRIER % et EE BTAKREA) AR#L8T ARWELBEST
Capitalisation rate 5.8% 5.5%
BAfEX
Car park spaces Comparison method Market unit price (per lot) RMBA43,250 RMB119,213
~153,000 ~202,000
E3:kin EEBOE et BAER (B1E) ARB43250E  ARH119,213F
153,0007T 202,0007%
Income capitalisation method Estimated rental value RMB140
(per lot and per month)
WABRER % st EE (BEKREA) AR#1407T N/ATER
Capitalisation rate 5.8% N/ATER
EEN (RS

The fair value of certain commercial properties and residential
properties are determined by the income capitalisation method by
considering the net rental income of the properties derived from
the existing leases and/or achievable in the existing market with
due allowance for the reversionary income potential of the leases,
which have been then capitalised to determine the fair value at an
appropriate capitalisation rate. Where appropriate, reference has
also been made to the comparable sales transactions as available in
the relevant market.

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated rental value
would result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value of
the investment properties. A significant increase (decrease) in the
capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a significant decrease
(increase) in the fair value of the investment properties.
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14.

15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The fair value of certain residential properties, commercial
properties and car park spaces are determined by using the
comparison method, and with reference to sales transactions as
available in the relevant market, comparable properties in close
proximity have been selected and adjustments have been made to
account for the difference in factors such as location and property
size.

The higher the estimated unit price, the higher the fair value of the
investment properties is.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has leased certain fitness buildings for its operations.
The lease terms are normally two years to nine years.

The Group leases certain commercial properties located in Chinese
Mainland from third party on fixed periods covering ten years, of
which held for rental yields and not occupied by the Group are
recognised as investment properties (note 14).

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and
the movements during the year are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR ER RIS

14. REME @)

NREERER @)

ETEENE - BEDEREFEUNA
ABEDERALEBEEE LESER
BAHISRSNEER S  BEEMEN
AELEBEYE TRAUERYFEERE
EEBEZEFHBE-

L BEUERAS  REVENLAE
BRS-

15. A&

FEREREBA

AEBCHERETRESET -HEH
—RBMEENF e

AEERRAE=FHEEUNRPRERUMAH
AETEEYE BEARS+F Hf
AEERFELUERE S W B KRG
I ERERDREYE (5E14) ©

() fEREEE
RER FEBEREZREE
BEREHINT

2024 2023

2024%F 20234

Note RMB'000 RMB'000

s ARETT ARETTT

Carryingamountat 1 January  FR1A1HZREE 2,935 7,762

Additions E 2,742 =

Depreciation charge TEER 6 (2,396) (4,827)

Disposal HE (625) -
Carrying amount at R12B31HZREE

31 December 2,656 2,935

IR EERFARAT 2024 FERS
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AR ERER IS

15. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements

during the year are as follows:

15. #HE @&

KFEBEREABA @
(b) HE&E

RER HEARKRAERES
mr

2024 2023
20245 20234
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
B 5+ ARETT ARETT
Carryingamountat 1 January  F1A1HZEREIE 58,810 16,809
New leases MEE 2,742 42,276
Accretion of interest FRHERETFE 7
recognised during the year 1,991 1,874
Payments INES (5,427) (2,149)
Disposal HE (716) =
Carrying amount at R12831HZ REE
31 December 57,400 58,810
Analysed into: b=
Within one year or on —FRHIZRER
demand 21,444 17,798
In the second year ERESEN 6,189 5,816
In the third to fifth years, —EREF
inclusive (B2BEEMF) 16,132 16,631
Beyond five years AFEME 13,635 18,565
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 40 HESBEMNEHA DTN R
to the financial statements. KU ETL0IEE o
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) FATHENIERMRMFEIEE SN
leases are as follows: T
2024 2023
20245 20234
Note RMB'000 RMB'000
B 5 ARETT ARETT
Interests on lease liabilities HESEHE 1,991 1,874
Depreciation charge of EREEETERS
right-of-use assets 2,396 4,827
Gain on disposal of lease HEMROW R 6 (91) -
Expense relating to short-term  EAfEHAfAE REBEEE
leases and low-value assets BRNMEXZ GTAHE
(included in cost of sales) AR A) 6 13,057 8,786
Total amount recognised in PiEs R IE4EER
profit or loss 17,353 15,487

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 34(c) to

the financial statements.
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15.

16.

LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) consisting of
commercial properties, residential properties and car park spaces
in Chinese Mainland under operating lease arrangements. The
terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay guarantee
deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the
then prevailing market conditions. Rental income recognised by the
Group during the year was RMB8,709,000 (2023: RMB8,115,000),
details of which are included in note 5 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments receivable
by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating
leases with its tenants are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR ER RIS

15. #HE @&

FEBEAHFAA
RELEHERH REBRPEAM
THEREEYE - TEYEREEMHE
R EYE (aE14) - FHEKRE
HEERBELZMEFRERS TREER
HNHEHERTCHARHAS  REBMNRE
NSRS IR A A A R 18,709,0007T
(20234 : AR #8,115,0007T) » HFIE
RPN R E e

1220245128318 RIFLATB S A BB
HEEHE > AEB KRR R
TIREEMRNT

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BTT AREBFT
Within one year R—FR 11,332 11,322
After one year but within two years R—FBERMEA 11,796 10,860
After two years but within three years RRFEBR=FRN 11,456 9,905
After three years but within four years R=FBROFERN 10,582 8,666
After four years but within five years RUFEBRAEFEA 8,074 7,420
After five years RRER 20,839 13,144
74,079 61,317
GOODWILL 16. HE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BTT ARETT
Carrying amount at T January P1A1BENEREE 27,411 27,411
Cost B 27,411 27,411
Accumulated impairment RetBE = -
Net carrying amount at 31 December P12B31HERERE 27,411 27,411

Impairment testing of goodwill 72 YR (E R L

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated
to the following two cash-generating units ("CGUs") for the
impairment testing.

The recoverable amounts of these CGUs have been determined
based on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering a five-year period prepared by
management.

EREFEHESHNBERBER
AMENEEATMEREEEEM
(TREELEEN) -

ZEHTELTBUNI UL EER

BEEEBRNNSEFHMBRE A
RBERERANTEREESEEE-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR ERER IS

16. HE @

16. GOODWILL (continued)

170

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

BERNREN @

Annual
revenue Terminal Discount
Principal business Goodwill growthrate growthrate rate
e
WE  EMEE  KEMEER REIRE
RMB'000
ARBFT
2024
20245
Hui Ren Heng An Property management 26,179 4~10% 2.0% 18.1%
Y ES§
EClEZ Property management 1,232 2~15% 2.0% 13.0%
MEEIE
2023
20234
Hui Ren Heng An Property management 26,179 3~10% 2.4% 18.5%
MEEE
PECIEZR Property management 1,232 2~15% 2.4% 13.0%
MEEE

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculations of the
above- mentioned CGUs. The following describes each key
assumption on which management had based its cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Discount rate - The discount rate used is before tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

Annual revenue growth rate - Average annual growth rate over
the five-year forecast period was based on past performance and
management's expectations of market development.

Terminal growth rate - The terminal growth rate was estimated
taken into consideration the prevailing industry practice.

The management of the Group believes that any reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions of the value-in-use
calculation would not cause the carrying amount to exceed the
recoverable amount of the CGUs.

As at 31 December 2024, the management of the Group determined

that no impairment of goodwill should be recognised to the above
CGUs.
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17.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR ER RIS

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. BLEE
Customer
Software  relationships Total
s ER% “at
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
i AR®BTT ARBFT ARBFT
31 December 2024 2024%12H31H
Costat 1January 2024, netof  7R2024F1 A1 H BB »
accumulated amortisation PR R SHEH 13 15,056 15,069
Additions B 1,100 = 1,100
Amortisation provided during ~ EREEH B
the year 6 (191) (3,613) (3,804)
At 31 December 2024 112024812831 922 11,443 12,365
At 31 December 2024: 20245128318 -
Cost B A 2,680 28,908 31,588
Accumulated amortisation Rt (1,758) (17,465) (19,223)
Net carrying amount REFE 922 11,443 12,365
31 December 2023 2023%12H31H
Costat 1January 2023, netof  §32023F181 A M A
accumulated amortisation MR R SHEH 62 18,670 18,732
Additions hE 527 - 527
Amortisation provided FR#HERE
during the year 6 (576) (3,614) (4,190)
At 31 December 2023 7220235128318 13 15,056 15,069
At 31 December 2023; 20235128318 ¢
Cost BES 896 28,908 29,804
Accumulated amortisation RETHE (883) (13,852) (14,735)
Net carrying amount REEE 13 15,056 15,069
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR ERER IS

18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

18. MEHEATNIKRE

Share of net assets EIEEEZFE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AR¥TFT
(Restated)

(&)

11,470 3,460

The Group's receivable and payable balances with associates are
disclosed in note 36 to the financial statements.

(a) Particulars of the Group's associates are as follows:

Place and year of
registration

sE St RS R S 1D

7~ 5 B B2 B R B) B9 1R UK TR R P A
TIRAS BRI B B IR R MY 53 64K BB o

(a) HEBEBEATMFBENT -

IBERZRERBERAT Nanjing, PRC 2019
HEIER
20194

MRIRWIL A MERBERAR Nanjing, PRC 2021

FINEBEERBERAT Taizhou, PRC 2021
EIZM
20214

BRERIRI CIE) £ERFERAE Wuxi, PRC 2022
s
20224

BRRBE T ERBERAR Nanjing, PRC 2010

EREERIMEEEERAR Nanjing, PRC 2022
Bl
20226

BHSWEERBEAERAR Wuxi, PRC 2023
Pl &
20234

BRI AN ESREERAT Nanjing, PRC 2023
e =
20234

BRAREBREREERAT Nanjing, PRC 2024

PEIF R
20244
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Percentage of
ownership
Registered interest
capital attributable
RMB'000 to the Group  Principal activities
HMEE AEEEE
ARBTT BEEEZASLE FEXEH
10,000 34%  Security services
RZRR
2,000 35%  Property services
MERTS
10,200 49%  Property services
MERTS
10,000 49%  Property services
MERTS
500 45%  Property services
MERTS
5,000 40%  Property services
MERTS
5,000 49%  Property services
MERTS
1,000 40%  Life services
LIERRTS
50,000 40%  Life services
LIERRTS



18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

(a) Particulars of the Group's associates are as follows:
(continued)

The Group's shareholdings in the associates comprise equity
shares held through wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company.

(b) The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group's associates that are not
individually material:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M ERRMIE

18. MEHZEATINIZE @

(a) AEEBEATMFBWT :
(&)
AEBRBERTANKRECES
BHAADZEMNBRARAFAZ
AR ©

(b) TRMRPAAKEE I IFEREE
Z;E’JH%%%’&E B B R EE

=z

\|
.

2024 2023
2024% 2023%F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREETT AREFIT
(Restated)
(& 75)
Share of the associates' profits FRREHE QT RT]
for the year 227 179
Share of the associates' total S AR 2 mERiREE
comprehensive income 227 179
Aggregate carrying amount of FEBRBEATN
the Group's investments KREREERLE
in associates 11,470 3,460
19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 9. REEEENKRE
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®ETT ARHEFTT
Share of net assets PMEBEEFE 3,446 3,885
The Group's receivable and payable balances with joint ventures AEBHRGEPLENBWRIEREN
are disclosed in note 36 to the financial statements. IR B IRRMT 36T -
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173



174

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

(a) Particulars of the Group's joint ventures are as
follows:

19. REETLENKEE @
(a) SEBEMNSELEFBWNT

Percentage of

ownership

interest
attributable Principal

to the Group activities

HEEEMGN
BEREEDENL IEEH

Place and year Registered

of capital
Name of company registration RMB'000

H 3L A B
YNGR & R {7 ARBTR
BMNRRIRHNERBERAE Suzhou, PRC 12,880

2020

FEIER M

20204
AR ERBERAS Nanjing, PRC 5,000

2020

FEIRER

20204
AREEBHERARAG Nanjing, PRC 5,000

2022

FEIRER

20224

The Group's shareholdings in all the joint ventures comprise
equity shares held through wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company.

Above companies are accounted for as joint ventures of the
Group because neither the Group nor the counterparty has
the right to variable returns from its involvement with these
companies. Both the shareholders do not have the ability to
affect the returns through their power over these companies.
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49%  Property services

YESe]

51%  Property services

YESe]

40%  Life services

EERE

FEERFAGERENRESR
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19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

(b) The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group's joint ventures that are not
individually material:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M ERRMIE

19. REELENKE @

(b) TREMAERSETEER
Ms Ik AREARNERMBTE

Share of the joint ventures' (loss)/
profits for the year

Share of the joint ventures' total
comprehensive (loss)/income

Aggregate carrying amount of the
Group's investments in joint
ventures

kL]

IRE(EAREE

FRELEGERE (BB H57H)
BEaERE2E (BB m
FERRGELENRE

S
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ABEF T
(1,767) 751
(1,767) 751
3,446 3,885

20. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year

are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

20. EFEFIIE
FRELEREEEREEESHUT !

EERERE

Impairment Fair value
of financial Accrued change of
Lease assets and employee investment
liabilities deposits benefits properties Total
EHEE REME
HE&R - RkESHE [EHESEN JLEEED st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AERBTT  ARBTT ARETm ARBTn ARBTET
(Restated)
(& =31)
At 1 January 2023 R2023%1 818 338 10,41 3,616 - 14,365
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to FRRER (08 /FAR
profit or loss during the year RERIE 3,659 14,449 (175) 688 18,621
At31 December 2023 and R2023F128318 %
1January 2024 202451818 3,997 24,860 3,441 688 32,986
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to FARER (R /AR
profit or loss during the year BT (673) 30,216 489 2,595 32,627
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—ERBAT - (16) - - (16)
At 31 December 2024 20248128318 3,324 55,060 3,930 3,283 65,597
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PAFSER RIS

20. DEFERRED TAX (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities

20. RIEFRIE ()
EIERIBERE

Fair value Right-of-
change of Fair value use assets
investment adjustments including
Revaluation properties and arising from  recognised as
of investment Withholding financialassets  acquisition of investment
properties taxes at FVTPL a subsidiary properties
RENER
BAREE
SARTE  WEREAE st AR A
ERMEEN FREEM REMZN
EftRENS RIR  AREEEH  AAEEDRR fEREEE At
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARBTR NG S AEETT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTTR
At1January 2023 R2023F1818 1,345 2,743 178 4,740 27 9,283
Deferred tax charged/ (credited)  FARERIIR/ GtA) §
to profit or loss BILRIE
during the year - (942) (177) (903) 2,694 672
Deferred tax credited to other SARMREKEN
comprehensive income BRI (288) = - - = (288)
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F128318 K
1 January 2024 202651818 1,057 1,801 1 3,837 291 9,667
Deferred tax credited to FREABRN
profit or loss during the year BIERE - - (1) (903) (179) (1,083)
At31 December 2024 120245125318 1,057 1,801 - 2,934 2,192 8,584
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20. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax
balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR ER RIS

IEAEFRIE ()
EIERIARE (@)

MEFNENMES  ETEEREBEEER
BRENGEMHBNNRETIRIE - 1B
RUBREENEAEBIRILERES
BRSO ¢

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RS IR R E S

consolidated statement of financial
position

EIERIRE P ER

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in REZE MBI REDHN

the consolidated statement of financial R IE &S558

position

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR#FT
(Restated)

(#&E7)

61,963 30,422
4,950 7,103

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008. The applicable rate is 10% for the
Group.

As at 31 December 2024, deferred tax amounting to RMB1,801,000
(2023: RMB1,801,000) has been recognised for withholding
taxes. These subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. Except that, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted of RMB142,655,000 (2023: RMB172,981,000) as at 31
December 2024 are subject to withholding taxes of the Group's
subsidiaries established in the PRC. This is because the Company
controls the dividend policy of the PRC subsidiaries and the
directors determined that the Group's fund will be retained in
Chinese Mainland for the expansion of the Group's operation, so
such unremitted earnings are not likely to be distributed in the
foreseeable future.

The Group had unutilised tax losses arising in Chinese Mainland
of approximately RMB19,300,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB26,460,000), that will expire in one to five years for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the entities in which the losses
arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-
making for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

REEAMB2008F1BTHEEERN
B> whS R B 5% 17 BY MY /B A B PR 3%
R EENRNR AEFBERRES
10%°

2024128310 EREINRIBMRER
IREFRTE AR KE1,801,0007T (20234 -
AER%1,801,0007T) 2L M BA T
RABRRRDIRZERF 1L R
2024F128310 > I EMAER R HEH
BRI B A B B MTEIN R RE
Bl AR #142,655,0007% (20234F : AR
#172,981,0007T) FEGSAITEINAR 16/
IR TE - HREA A A QB IEFZE F
HNBABTNKRERSR MEEETAR
EEESRKEENTEAMMUIERAK
EFER RIEZEAREDBINAITE
BARBAKAIBEEITTDIK

R2024F12831H "EBEEH
FEAMBNRBAREEERENR A
E119,300,00070 (20234 1 AR
26,460,0007T) > BFEIESFREEE > 7]
HARBINESGEENSERKRNE
B EF]

HREBEEREEERE—BHRSEHE
BB AT > BB AN EUERR
A B BT B B B TR RS 1R AR IR > B R
M FHEEDIEERIESE

EHREERIEARAT 2024 FERE
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21.

22.

23.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

21.

BRAAREESABGNEMEE

Other unlisted investments, at fair value

HthIE EHRE  BAAEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥FT ABEFT
- 26,004

The above unlisted investments were wealth management
products issued by banks in Chinese Mainland. They were
mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss as their contractual cash flows are not solely payments of
principal and interest.

LI EHRE D PEAMIBITET
NWEMER FHGNREABLIFE
IR RAE W EMIFETHRE
WS D BABANRBESABERZN
TREE-

INVENTORIES 22. 78
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREETT ARETT
Goods and consumables SR EOHEE R 3,619 7,828
Contract costs BHIA 1,824 1,933
5,443 9,761
The contract cost is amortised at the time of fulfillment of the SHMANHRABENZHEEZENRT
related performance obligation or in accordance with the progress RIEMMHERABARBREE#E Ui
of fulfilling the related performance obligation, and is recorded in REEBERAYER B E20245F12831
profit or loss for the year. During the year ended 31 December 2024, HIEEE G4AMAARRET,933,0007T
contract costs amounted to RMB1,933,000 (2023: RMB4,836,000) (20234 1 AE#54,836,0007T) NiE@m
was recognised in profit or loss. A HEER o
TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. BS5EKRFIE

2023
20234
RMB'000
ABRET T

Trade receivables B WIS
Impairment BiE

501,276
(80,329)

442,734
(48,002)

420,947 394,732

Trade receivables arise from the provision of property management
services and value-added services. Property management service
income from properties managed under a lump sum basis is
received in accordance with the terms of the relevant property
management service agreements and due for payment by the
residents upon the issuance of demand notes by the Group. Service
income for the provision of repair and maintenance and other
equipment upgrade services is received in accordance with the
terms of the relevant contract agreements, normally within 60 days
from the issuance of payment requests. Other value-added service
income is due for payment upon the issuance of demand notes.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR ER RIS

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 23. EZEKFIE @
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding S5 B 7S K8 R AT B ERTE 4 1 R AR
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior EE-RAGEHa R EEEERE
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the B o SR L EPRI R A S B A & 5 FE UK
Group's trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified MIBEAERRAERER BT RS
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. Trade EERNEERR -85 BWRIEL &
receivables are non-interest-bearing. R
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the PR & AR - IRE U & P 0 B HA & f0 B
reporting period, based on the date of revenue recognition and net BEEENE S RIRIENKRE 2
of loss allowance, is as follows: wr
2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBT 7T
Within 1 year 1R 342,098 366,089
Over 1 year and within 2 years TEU EE2FER 70,159 19,716
Over 2 years and within 3 years 2L EB3FR 8,690 8,927
420,947 394,732

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade

BB BEBERERNEZSN

receivables are as follows: :F
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARBT T
At beginning of the year REH) 48,002 34,203
Impairment losses HERE 32,327 13,799
At end of the year REXR 80,329 48,002

An impairment analysis was performed at each reporting date,
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The
provision rates were based on the ageing of trade receivables for
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns.
The calculation reflected the probability-weighted outcome, the
time value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that was available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally,
trade receivables were written off if they are not considered
recoverable by the Group and are not subject to enforcement
activity.

REBREAREREBERETRE
D UStERBPEERR -BHEXE
REBEUSERANZEEF 28
HENEZBUGRIERNREEE - A RE
STERREISEMEMBER S REEE
RBESAREABEEMH REEHR TR
RRGLERRBANFFEEERA X
&k —RME 85 BURIRR
7 55 B R 4 1 B Uk [B] B K fE 9 6 3
70 Bl g fEHES -

R afRIBAERAE 2024 FERS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

M ERRMIE
23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 23. B5EWKRFRIE (@
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on UTEHEIAEBEERBEEERBSHEN
the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix: BB RENEERRER !
As at 31 December 2024 $120245%F12831H
(T Over
1year and 2yearsand
within2years  within 3 years
BiaE il
Ri2ER RN3ER
Expected credit loss rate BHEEREX 4£.36% 28.89% 49.06% 100.00%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) REeE \RETT 357,629 98,663 17,053 27,931 501,276
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEERE ARET) 15,531 28,504 8,363 27,931 80,329
As at 31 December 2023 R2023F12831H
QOver QOver
Within 1yearand 2 yearsand QOver
Tyear  within2years  within 3 years 3years Total
ety c)Ee2 BimE
RIER RR2ER R3ER 3EME 85
Expected credit loss rate RHEEREX 4.01% 29.80% 50.31% 100.00%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) REEE ARETT 381,378 28,084 17,965 15,307 442,734
Expected credit losses (RMBO0D) BHEEEE ARETT) 15,289 8,368 9,038 15,307 48,002

180 Ruisen Life Service Co, Limited Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AT ERRMIEE
24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 24, TARRIEE R HEHMEYKRIE
RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BFT AREBFT
(Restated)
Ges=zpl))
Deposits s 42,793 41,221
Payments on behalf of property owners REEAR 21,822 20,833
Funds in transit THRE® 21,037 20,062
Prepayments and deferred expenses TR RIE R AR A 2 13,654 9,241
Advance for expenses Bz 3,511 7,324
Advance to third parties Mm% = HINER 10,491 1,960
Advance to employees E{EENER 2,367 5,498
Other tax recoverable Hah AUk EIF R 1,285 3,569
Individual tax recoverable from employees 2R B8 28I BT UK E1E A TR R 8,452 11,195
Other receivables HAuhEWRIE 7,280 3,972
132,692 124,875
Impairment allowance B (16,003) (1,417)
116,689 123,458
Other receivables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and HEWARIERARIER  FstEREZE
repayable on demand. RIEIE o
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of FENRIE 2 R EM BRI R E
prepayments, deposits and other receivables are as follows: BIERESET
2024 2023
2024% 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®BTT AREBFT
(Restated)
Ges=zpl))
At beginning of the year RER] 1,417 1,144
Impairment losses BB 14,586 273
At end of the year R 16,003 1,417
Certain receivables are assessed individually for impairment & T EW R IEZE R %WE‘?JEWE?‘%% °
allowance. Expected credit losses for remaining refundable iR TAREEBABENARREESR
receivables are estimated by applying a loss rate approach with ERBERE LS EAEEBERS
reference to the historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate Bt ErE T A5 o BIEEF RIS IFL B
is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future B DUR BRE B AR 58 R oK SR AR T AR 89
economic conditions, as appropriate §ichEl
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PAFSER RIS

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, RESTRICTED CASH

AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

25. RERREEFEY -

K BiERER

ZRHERE

{172 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR¥F T
Cash and bank balances R& MIRTTAER 419,090 441,995
Less: P
Restricted cash ZIRHIRE (11,590) (639)
Pledged deposits-current BIREER—RH) (7,849) (2,716)
Pledged deposits-non-current BRI ER—IERH) (5,274) (5,196)
Cash and cash equivalents RENRIBEEEY 394,377 433,444
Cash and cash equivalents REKRIREEHEY
Denominated in RMB UAREEEHE 393,505 433,341
Denominated in HKS LATTEHE 872 103
394,377 433,444

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in Renminbi amounted to RMB393,505,000
(2023: RMB433,341,000).The RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies, however, under Chinese Mainland's Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

The restricted cash balance of approximately RMB11,590,000
(2023: RMB639,000) was primarily due to frozen bank accounts.
It mainly comprised of a frozen bank balance of RMB10,982,000
resulting from a private lending dispute between a family member
of Ms. Huang Xuemei and Yincheng Real Estate Group Co., Ltd.,
a company controlled by Mr. Huang Qingping. The Group was
the guarantor for this dispute. The court of first instance has
ruled in favor of the Group, releasing it from all guarantee and
compensation liabilities. While the case is currently under second
instance, the Group's legal counsel has assessed that the risk of an
unfavourable appeal ruling is minimal.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR RMIEE
26. TRADE PAYABLES 26. EZEMARRIE
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the RHREMAFR AEBRENREZEHNE
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: SREMARBERE DTN !
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBFT ARET T

Within 1 year 1R 120,386 105,951
Over 1 year TF M E 6,277 2,583
126,663 108,534
The trade payables are interest-free and are normally settled on BEENHREATHE  —REEHA
terms of 60 to 90 days. 60ZF90H -
27. OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND 27. HME(IRRIE EWiRE R Est
ACCRUALS EH
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFTT
(Restated)
Ges=2dl))
Payroll and welfare payable TERENET 91,671 96,754
Receipts on behalf of community residents  FEAREEARTE (EL U
for utilities 98,800 91,353
Bridging Loans BBEM - 98,800
Deposits received BiizsE 32,714 38,775
Receipts on behalf of community residents  Ft+EF 22 B U R E (£ 5 WL
for common areas 37,846 31,585
Other tax payables HhEiniE 20,835 32,717
Dividends payable to shareholders FETAR AR B 8,463 3,665
Payables to a non-controlling shareholder ~ FE{f—B I B A Bl JEHERR
of a subsidiary e - 1,470
Others Hith 16,477 12,626
306,806 407,745
Other payables are unsecured and repayable on demand. HMEMRIEARIERTIRERER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SRR
28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 28. 54817/
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
20245 20234 20234
12H31H 12831H 181
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETIT ARETIT
Contract liabilities aHEaE 412,067 392,218 338,194
The Group receives payments from customers based on billing AEBRYEHESNANRING
schedules as established in the property management contracts. BRI R B T o (A8 B IR IE
Payments are usually received in advance of the performance B (EERMEEERY) RIREL
under the contracts which are mainly for property management YT EY o
services.
The expected timing of recognition of revenue at the end of the UTHNEREARER WG TE
reporting period is as follows: B
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETFTT
Within one year R1FER 409,358 389,178
More than one year Ba1F 2,709 3,040
412,067 392218
29. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 29. stERITREMBER
BORROWINGS
2024 2023
20245 20235
Effective Effective
Interest Interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB'000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
L lES BIRFE
(%) 38E AR%ETR (%) A8E ARETR
Current BNA
Bank loans - secured RITER—FERF 4 2025 29,000 3.85-4.35 2024 49,000
Bank loans - unsecured RITER—BER 3.30 2025 20,000 3.60 2024 10,000
Other borrowings - secured &R —HAER - 6.08-7.67 2024 5,569
Non-current JEBDER
Other borrowings - secured ~ EHAER—HER = 6.08 2025 245
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29.

INTEREST-BEARING BANKAND OTHER

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PR ER RIS

29. stRIRITREMBER @

BORROWINGS (continued)
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARETT
Analysed into: PRI
Bank loans and other borrowings FEIRTTEM R EMERR
repayable:
Within one year 1R 49,000 64,569
In the second year F2EN - 245
49,000 64,814

As at 31 December 2024,

Bank loans amounted to RMB29,000,000 (2023:
RMB29,000,000), were guaranteed by Mr. Shen Chunlei,
a shareholder of a subsidiary, and secured by the Group's
properties including property, plant and equipment with
net book value of approximately RMB18,551,000 (2023:
RMB19,573,000) and investment properties with book value
of approximately RMB10,133,000 (2023: RMB11,631,000).

As at 31 December 2024, bank loans amounted to Nil (2023:
RMB20,000,000), were guaranteed by Yincheng Real Estate
Group Co., Ltd. and secured by the Group's properties
including property, plant and equipment with net book value
of Nil (2023: RMB1,969,000) and investment properties with
book value of Nil (2023: RMB13,736,000).

As at 31 December 2024, other borrowings amounted to Nil
(2023: RMB5,814,000) were secured by the Group's right to
receive future property management and new energy vehicle
station charging fees, as well as by mortgages over 100% of
the equity interests in =3 1F (a subsidiary of the Group)
and office equipment, electronic and other devices with a net
carrying value of Nil (2023: RMB8,540,000) at the end of the
reporting period.

12024128318
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R WUSERYE (BIEERT
FELARBE18,551,0007% (2023
F£:ARM19,573,0007T) K99
¥ HMEKREE RMEEENOAR
#510,133,0007T (20235 : AR
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o
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2024128310 EMERA
Z (20235 : AK®5,814,000
70)  UAREBEWER R =S
BRMERBETEEEAER
BR TUEEERE (KEBRK
B AT 100% RN ImREER
REFEAS (20235 : AR
8,540,0007T) M AEREE
K EMEE B (F1R18 o

R afRIBAERAE 2024 FERS

185



186

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR ERER IS

30. SHARE CAPITAL

31.

30. fg4s

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HKS'000